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nampak limited profile

Nampak Is Africa’s largest and most diversified packaging manufacturer
and also has operations in several countries in Europe.

South Africa

In South Africa, Nampak offers the widest product renge of any pockaging
cempany in the world, providing customers with a iotal solution to their
packeging needs, supported by our world-class research and developrment
tacility in Cape Town.

In addition to pockaging, Nampak is alsc the largest manufacturer of tissue
paper products.

The group is extensively involved in collecting and recycling all types of used
packaging.

Rest of Africa

Nampak is growing its presence on the African continent and currently has
operations in 11 countries. manufacturing o range of metal, paper and plastic
packaging products. In 2009 this will be expanded fo 12 countries with the
commissioning of a new beverage can manufacturing facility in Angola.

Europe

In Europe Nampok operates in eight countries. I is the major supplier of plastic
botties 1o the dairy industry in the United Kingdom. It is one of the leading
manufacturers of folding cartons for the food industry in Europe and alse
manufactures cortons, leaflets and lobels {or the healthcare market.

Corporate

The comporate office based in Sandton, South Africa, provides strategic
direction and administers overall control of the group.



financial highlights and performance frends
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2007 2006

R million R milion % change
Income statement
Revenue 17 014 15262 12
Trading income 1781 1 509 18
Trading margin 10.5% 9.9%
Net profit 1056 866 22
Headline earmings per share 184.6c 151.2¢ 22
Cash distribution per share 115.3¢c Q6.1c 20
EBITDA 2323 2196
Balance sheet
Total shareholders’ funds 6050 5604
Total assets 13 033 12 424
Net asset value per share 1037¢ 964c
Net borrowings 1925 1 586
Net gearing 33% 28%
Cash flow
Cash generated from operations 2045 1735

12%

increqse in
revenue

18%

increqgse in
trading
income
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22%

increqase in
headline
earnings per
share




performance

2007 2006
Revenue 4728 4206
Trading income 805 634
Trading margin (%) 170 15.1

more information is avallable on pages 22 - 27

2007 2006
Revenue 7869 7028
Trading Income 449 395
Trading margin (%) 5.7 5.6

more information is availoble on pages 28 - 33

2007 2006
Revenue 4466 4072
Trading income 404 395
Trading margin (%) 9.0 9.7

more information is avallable on poges 34 - 39




the group at a glance

revenue contribution overview

28% Metals and Glass; Africa

‘ * Sub-Saharan Africa’s sole manufacturer of tinplate beverage cans
: ® Africa’s largest manufacturer of two and three-piece tinplate food cans
& Cans for industrial and household products
: * South Africa’s leading supplier of tinplate and aluminium aercsol cans
¢ Tinplate closures for Jars and aluminium closuras for spirit bottles
: * A wide range of glass bottles in joint venture with Wiegand-Glass
¢ Tinplate crowns for beverage botiles
: * Decorctive tinware

Paper: Africa and Europe

46%
s Corugated boxes

¢ Folding cartons and wraparounds
. : ¢ Leaflets, labels and cartons for pharmaceuticals
e Composite containers
: ¢ Labels for cans and bottles
¢ Multiwall sacks and bags
: ¢ Cores, cones and tubes
: * Partitions, angleboard, singleface wrap and layer pads
s Toilet and facial tissue
: ¢ Disposable diapers and feminine hygiene products

® Books and diaries

Plastics: Africa and Europe

Rigid Plastics

26% s PET and HDPE botfies for beverages and other liquid products
: ¢ Closures for beverage bottles

o Crates and drums

e Paint pails and buckets

¢ Tubes and tubs

Flexible Plastics

o A wide range of plastic, paper and alumimium lamincted preducts for snack
foods and confectionery

® Pouches and bags for food, beverages and pharmaceuticals
® Aluminium foil products

8 Various types of extruded and co-extruded fims

® Aluminium roofing insulation and coated textiles

® Shrink-sleeve labels

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPCRT 2007




chairman’s review

Business environment

The South African economy contfinued to enjoy buoyant cenditions in 2007 with
GDP growth in the region of §%. Consumer sgending on non-durables which
benefit packaging also grew by almost 5% and translated into volume growth in
our South African businesses of over 4%. Beverage can sales to domestic customers
increased by on encouraging 8% and there was geod growth in glass, fast-food
packaging, plastic bottles for mik and juice, aerosol cans, toilet tissue and

disposable diapers.

The rand remained relatively weak for most of the year and whilst imports
continued, they had less of a negative impact en local packaging demand than

in previous years.

Following two years of increasing volumes, overcapacity in the South African
packaging industty has decreased and some supply chain constraints have
hecome evident. The group invested almost R1.3 bilion in 2007 in a number of
growth projects and further investment is planned in the future to satisfy increasing

demand and maintain service levels.

There was good economic growth in all the countries in the rest of Africa in which

we operate, other than in Zimbabwe.

The aconomies in Western Eurcpe centinued fo enjoy steady economic growth,
As a result of improved demand and capacity utilisation in the folding cartons
industry, frading conditions are scmewhat improved. We increased our market
share in heglthcare packaging and maintained our position os the leading

supplier of plastic milk bottles to the United Kingdom dairy industry.

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPORT 2007




For the first time in five years the group has experienced a
year of good volume growth, which has assisted in growing
revenue by 12% to R17 billion

Trevor Evans

Chalrman

Key investment activities

The Flexpak business af Bellvile in the Western Cape which manufactured
plastic shopping bogs was sold to Transpace for R52.3 milion effective
4 December 2006.

Effective 26 March 2007, the group exercised its call option to acquire for
R24.8 milion the remaining 50% of the shores in Burcap Plasiics. This business

rmanufactures plastic pails and buckets mainly for paint customers.

The group sold 25.1% of ifs shares in Interpak Books to a black empowerment

company.
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chairman’s review

(continued)

Overview of resulfs

For the first time in five years the group has experienced a year of good velume
growth, which has assisted in growing revenue by 12% to R17 billion. Trading
income increased by 18% to R1.6 billion, An abnormal loss of R160 milion primarity
arising frorn financial instrumenis’ fair value adjustment (R83 million). the Eurcpean
strategic review cost (RS0 milion) and retrenchment and restructuring costs
(R32 milkon). resulted in operatfing profit being up 5%. Finonce costs were 56%
higher than last year due o the capital expenditure, the increase in investrment in

working copital and higher interest rates.

Taxction reduced from RS54 million to R386 million with an effective rate decrease
from 39% to 26.8%. This reduction in tax is primarily due to a reduction in the
statutory tax rate in the UK from 30% to 28% resulting in a relecse of deferred tax,
the release of provisions in Europe following the final assessment of the 2006 UK tax
returns and lower secondory tax on companies as the finat distribution for 2006
and the interim distribution for 2007 were deckared out of share premium. The

receipt of government incentives also confributed to the lower effective rate.

Net profit for the year was up 22% to R1 054 milion. Headline earnings per
share increqsed 22% from 151.2 cenis to 184.6 cents. A decision was faken to
cegse consolidating the results of the operations In Zimbabwe with effect from
1 June 2007.

Last year a contingent liability of R746 million was noted resulting from the South
African Revenue Service having raised assessments against a number of
companies in the group. Discussions around these amounts are at an advonced

stoge and details will be communicated once these have been concluded.

Shareholding

Allan Gray, Remgro and Sankam remain the group’s largest shareholders holding
45% of total shares in issue. In addition, 5% of our shares are held by a broad-based

BEE consortium and ¢ 5% by our South Afiican employees.

" NAMPAK ANNUAL REPORT 2007
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Transtormation

Further progress was made during the year in the arena of fransformation. A 25.1%

stake in Interpak Bocks was sold to a BEE company.

Excellent progress is being made in the appointment of black managers in the
South African operations and we are well on track to achieve the targets set out

in our BEE Charter.

The board haos approved the mandate for the formation of @ transfermation
committee, which will be operational for the forthcoming year. A far more

comprehensive report on these issues will be made in next year's cnnual report.

Future growth

During the year a comprehensive study was undertaken to establish whether the
group could unlock value from the sale of the European businesses. Affer
considering all the options. the board decided 1o keep the businesses and pursue
the growth options in Europe. A managing director for Europe has been appointed

o improve the focus in this area.

In South Africa, it is pleasing that two of the majer projects mentioned last year, the
R84 milion Glass upgrade and the R140 milion 202 capex in Bevcan have
contributed to the improved performance this year. The new Nigerian folding
carton factory will come on-siream in Novemiber 2007. The R500 milicn project to
become selfsufficient in the manufacture of waste-based paper for our
Corrugated division will be commissioned towards the end of the 2008 financial

year and will have a posifive impact on results in the 2009 year,

in October this yeor, we annocunced the R600 million project to produce 700 million
steel beverage cans in Anggcla. This plant will come on-stream in 2009 and will also
nave the benefit of releasing capacity in South Africa to cater for the expected
increase in domestic growth. Further invesments in glass-making have been

approved.

5+ NAMPAK ANNUAL REPCRT 2007




chairman’s review

(continued)

In 2003, the group announced the R&00 milion anticipated spend to upgrade
[T systerns across the group. This project has effectively been completed within the
original budget and on time with miﬁimcl disruptions to business. Importantly, this
new technology will enable us o diive down costs in a number of areas including

working capital,

The major challenge facing the business over the next few years will be to
successfully implement the major projects, optimise the growth oppartunities and
continue to drive down costs, There will also be an increased focus on improving
the various financial ratios in the group. The group has a strong balance sheet and

various options fo optimise it will be investigated.

Prospects

With the volume growth being experienced, particularly in our African businesses
and the benefits from the various projects embarked upon, the group is well

placed to deliver good eamings growth over the next few years.

However, earnings growth in 2008 will be mederated by the deconsclidation of the
Zimbabwe operations. packaging substitution in folding cartons and a stronger

than expected rand exchange rate.

Directorate

Peter Campbell retired as a non-executive director of the group with effect from

31 May 2007 after having served as a director for 23 years.

Mosiphe Molope was appointed fo the board and the audit committee with

effect from 1 June 2007.

A comprehensive review of the board has been undericken by external

consultants.
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Appreciation

Peter Campbell joined the Nampak group in 1967 and was appointed to the
board in 1984. During his 40-year tenure with the group, he demonsiraied energy
and passion not only for the business but for the packaging industry as well. We are
truly grateful for such distinguished service over so many years and for the legacy

he has left,

The 2007 year hos seen the group make further progress not only in profitability but
alsc in establishing the strategy for the next few years. The group has come
through some very challenging times and | would like to thank John Bortolan,
Neil Cumming, Tim Jacobs and their teams for the tremendous effort and

dedication over the past year.

| thank our non-executive directors for their wise counsel and for the contribution

they make to the various sub-committees of the board.

A special word of thanks goes to our sharehclders, customers and suppliers for

their continued support.

[ e
Trevor Evans

Chairman

Sandton

21 November 2007

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPORT 2007




group directorate

Non-executive directors

1. Travor Evans (62
BSc {Rhodss}. SEF (Stanford)

Non-executive chairman. Chairman of the board of
governors of Rhodes University, Non-executive director of
Standard Bank from 2004 fo 2006, Retied os executive
chairrnan of Nompak on 30 September 2003, He was
appointed ¢hairmon and chiet execulive olficer of
Nampak in 2000 and executive choiman of the group in
2001. He joined the group in 1967 and became group
managing director in 1992. Presicdent of the Plastics
Federation of South Afiica from 1989 {o 1991. He was
recognised by the Plastics Federction of South Africa for
service to the South African plastics industry with a Gold
Award In 1991, In 1992 voted “mest progressive CEQ in
South Atica” by the Black Management Forum and in 1997
1eceived the Packaging Achiever Award fow meritorious
service to the packaging industry. Appointed to the board
n 1990,

2. Buddy Hawton (7o

Fellow Member of the Chartered Institute of Secretaries
Chairman ¢f Sun International Limited and Wootworths
Heldings Limited., Also serves on the bogcrds of Liberty
Holgings, Liberty Group, Sfondard Bank Group and
Standard Bank Limited. Appointed fo the board in 1991.

3. Michae! Katz &3
BCom, LLB, LLM, LiD(hc)

Execulive chairman Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs Inc.
Cumentty serving on the boaids of NUMEIoUS Companies
including Nedbank Limited and National Housing Finance
Corporation Limited. He is an honoary protessor of company
law at Witwatersrand University and course director of
advanced company kaw at the same university. He is
chairman of ihe tax advisory commitiee to the Minister of
Finance and he serves as @ member of the Securities
Reguiation Panel. Appointed to the board in 1985.

4. Reuel Jethro Khoza ¢57)

BA Honors (Psychology), University of the North: MA
(Marketing), University of Lancaster. UK Eng O (Business}.
University of Warwick, UK

Chairman of Aka Capital (Pty) Limited. Nedbank and
Nedbank Group Limited, Corobrk (Pty) Umited, Mumay and
Roberts Cementation (Py) Uimited and CIC (Pty) Limited,
Director of Protea Hospitality Limited, Old Mutual plc and
Gold Reef Resorts Limited. President of the Institute of
Directors end Chairman of NEPAD Businass Foundation in
South Africa. Appointed to the board in 2005.

5. Keith Mokoape &0
88c, MM (Hurnan Resources)

Keith Mokoape is the general manager of the South African
Army Foundation, and Majcr Genseral responsible for the
South African Army Reserve. He holds several directorships.
including in defence-related companles Sigma Logistic
Salutions, Intertechnic, and the Aercspace, Maritime and
Defence Industries Association, He s also a director of
property loan stock company iFour ond the private gome
reserve Singita lebombeo, and o instes of the Capespan
Foundation. Appointed to the board in 1998,
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6. Nosipho Molope 43
BSc (Med) (Wits}, BCompt {Hons) (Unisq). CA{SA)

Nasiphe is currently the chisf financial officer and o
member of the execulive committee at the Financial
Services Board (FSB).

Nosipho quoalified as a chartered accountant in 1999 atter
serving articles at Fsher Hofimon Sithole now known as PFK
Jhbx. After completing har orticles, she joined Akulohwo
Capital (Pty) Umited, o BEE company involved in corporate
advisory and private eguity.as a finance executive. She
was then appointed as senior monager: specialised funds
management at Wipcopital (Pty) Limited. After that. she
want on to be the group financial executive at Viamax
(Pty) Limited., o subsidiary of Transnet operating in the
logistics and fleet menagement industries, Sefore joining
the FSB a3 an executive, she was a financial direcior at
Zico (Pty) Linited, which is a BEE investrnent company.

Sha is o member of the board of The Petroleum and Gas
Company of South Africa (PetroSA}, joint board of MiN 5A
{Pty} Limited and MIN Service Provider (Pty) Limited and o
mermber of tha Councll for insurance Sector Education and
Training Authority (Insetc). She also serves as a member of
the audit committess of the abovementioned companies
and an independent member of the audit commiftees of
the City of Johannesburg and the Armarments Corporation
of South Africa Umitad (Armscor). Appointed to the board
in 2007,

.
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7. Lot Ndlovu (56

Lot Ndlovu is vice-chairman of the Nedbank Group and
Nedbonk Limited. Previously he was CEQ of Pecples Bank.

He is chairman of Nestlife Assurance Corporation Limited,
The South Afican National Reads Agency Limited,
Nakatori Corporation, Community Growth Monagement
Company, Lefiko Holdings, Barak Mining Services, Crystal
View Consulting, St Anthony’s Education Cenfre, Jombe
Irwestments, True Class Consoriium end Navember Ten
Charities, He s a director at Mutual and Federal, Nampak,
Cross Continents Investments, Impala Tool & Plant Hire,
Saxon Road Nominees, Sani Pass Mancgernent Company,
Sanl Pass Development Company and Wulu Holdings. He Is
also @ member of the: Independent Commission for the
Remuneration of Public Office Bearers, the Business Trust on
Job Creation and Hope in Victory (a care-giving
crganisation for HIV patients).

Ndlovu is o doyen of the black empowerment movement
in South Africa. He was president of both the Black
Management Forum (BMF} and the Black Business Council.
The Black Economic Empowerment Commission was
infiated by the BMF under his presidency.

Ndlovu studied business management at Unisa, Wits, North
‘Western University (US) and Harvard Business School. He
holds an honorary doctorate from Pretoria Technikon {now
Tshwane Institute of Technology). Appeinted to the board
in 1993.

8. Roy Yaughan Smither (42)
BCorn CA(SA)

An executive director of Tiger Brands Limited until
retirement in 2006. Currently serving on the boards of Nu
Clicks Holdings Limited and Hans Merensky Holdings (Pty)
Limited, Appointed to the board in 2006.

9. Thys Visser (53
CA(SA)

Chief executive officer of Remgro Limitec. Curiently serving
o the boards of British American Tobacco ple, Distel!
Group Limited, Rainbow Chicken Limited, Medi-Clinic
Corporation Limited, Kagisc Trust Investmeants (Phy) Limited
and Unitever Bestfoods Robertsons (Phy) Limited. He ls a
chaortared accountant who gualified with Arthur Young &
Company in Cape Town bstore joining Rembrandt Group
timited where he held a number of positions. including
financial directar in 1991 and managing director in 1992,
Appointad 10 the board in 2002,

10. Robert Albert Willioms ¢56)
8a.LL8

Robhbie Wiliams is curently chairman of llovo Sugar Limited.

He also serves on the boards of FirstRand Limited. Cceana
Group Limited and Pescanova SA. Appointed to the board
in 1990

Executive directors

A. John Borfolan %
SEP (Stanford}

Chief executive officer. He began his career at Nampak in
1980 a5 the commercial director of Paters Papers,
becaming its managing director in 1983, In 1984 he was
appointed managing director of Narnpak Tissue. In 1990 he
bacame a dirgctor of Nampak Limited responsible for
Foadcan, Paper Distribution, Tissue and Paper
Manufacturing. In 1996 BlowMocan in the UK and Blow
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Molders were added to his portfolio. In more recent years
he has also had responsibility for Comugated, Printpak
Limited and Liquid Pockaging. He was appointed
managing directar of Nampak's South Aftican and Africon
businesses in 2000 and became group managing director
in July 2001.0n 1 August 2003 he was made chief
executive officer of the group. Appointed 1o the board

in 19¢0.

B. Nelt Cumming 43

MSocSci, EDP (MD Switzerond), HDPM, Reg Industrict
Psychologist

Managing directar Africa region. He was appointed
managing director of the Africa region cn 1 October 2003
ang is responsible for the Nampek operations in South
Africa and the rest of Africa. He was previously responsible
for the paper-based divisions in the group including
Conugated, Printpak, Paper Merchants and Redibox and
also for the Narmpak operations in the rest of Africa. He has
held positions in the sugar, chemical and packaging
industries and jeined the group in 1986. Appeinted
aiternate directer in 1991 and a director in 1994,

C.Tim Jacobs 38

CA(SA)

After qualifying with Emst & Young he joined Air Liquide
(Pty) Lirnited as financial director in 1996.

He joined Nempak in January 2001 o5 group accountant
cnd was appointed group financial manager in 2003,
Appointed octing chief financial officer in June 2005, and
appointed permanently on 1 October 2005,

Appointed to the board in 2008,



chief executive’s report

Trading conditions in 2007

There was strong demand for non-durable goods in South Africa which benefited
sales of packaging. Although imports continuad to enter the country, they
had less of an impact on local packaging sales. Volumes improved in almost
all sectors with overall growth in South Africa reaching 4%. The increased volumes
resulted in higher capacity utilisation; nevertheless, sorne sectors of the packaging

industry remained highly compstitive,

With the exception of Zimbabwe, all the countries in the rest of Africa in which we
operate continued to experience growing economies. Nigeria, which is the
biggest contributor fo our profifs from the rest of Africa, benefited from strong

economic growth.

The European countrles in which we operate continued to enjoy stecdy economic
growth, However, selling prices in some sectors of the folding cartons market

remained under pressure due to gvercapacity,

Raw materials

Tinplate and aluminium prices increased substantially but the additional costs
were generally recovered. Higher oil prices resulted in substantial and fregquent
increases in the price of polymer causing ¢ lag in recovering the additional cost
from customers. Certdin grades of paper and beard also increased and in some

cases the additional cost had to be abscrbed due to competitive pressures.

There were also significant increases in the prices of sand and socda ash used in

the manufacture of glass bottles.

The cost of raw materiak and consumables amounted to 49.9% of sales in 2007
compared to 4.2% in 20G6.
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We are pleased fo report another year of real eamings
growth

John Bortolan

Chief executive
officer
Group performance
Revenue Trading income* Margin %
Rrn 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
South Africa 11 466 10501 1329 1129 1.6 10.8
Rest of Afica 991 892 140 108 14.1 12.1
Europe 4 887 4157 312 272 6.4 6.5
Intersegment
eliminations {330) (288)
Total 17014 15262 1781 1809 10.5 9.9

*‘Before abnormal items.

South Africa
Volumes grew by 4% and were higher in virlually ofl packaging sectors,

Sales of beverage cans for local consumption grew by an encouraging 8%
following good demand for carbonated soft drinks and most other beverages.
Glass bottle volumes were substantially ahead of last year and the business

achieved a much improved performance.
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chief executive’s report

(continued)

Whilst there was volume growth in paper packaging, selling prices in some sectors

did not match the increase in raw material and overhead costs. There was strong

growth in the fast-food sector which contributed jo good demand for folding

cartons, Whilst the tissue business enjoyed good demand, it was affected by

production problems at its mills in the early part of the year and by o prolonged

labour strike in August.

Good demand for plastic beverage closures, bottles, tubes and tubs was partially

offset by lower crate sales where there wos loss of market share. Sales of flexible

plastic packaging improved and a number of investments were made in growing

niche sectors.

Revenue increased by 9% to R11.5 billion of which 4% was volume growth and 5%

price increases related mainly to the higher cost of raw materials.

Overhead costs were agoin well controlled with the overallincrease in 2007 below

the average rate of inflation and, in real terms, costs in 2007 were lower than

in 2005.

Trading income for the region increased by 18% to R1 329 million and the trading

margin improved to 11.6% fiom 10.8% in 2006,

Capital expenditure of R1 007 milllon was invesied in a number of growth projecs

during the year, including:

* R160 milion conversion of beverage cans fo smooth-neck with namower
diameter ends of which R147 million was spent in 2007;

o 550 million new recycled-paper mill of which R197 million was spent in 2007,
This project will be completed in 2008;

e completion of the RB4 milion glass cold-end equipment upgrade of which
R41 milion was spent in 2007; and

& a number of growth projects in the plastics segment totalling R176 million.

Rest of Africa

The businesses in Mozambique, Nigeria and Tanzania all perfoermed well whilst
the Kenyan business lost sorme market share to imports due to currency strength
ond to product substitution. The cost of imported raw material supplies adversely

affected profitabilify in Malawi.

W
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A further R&0 million was invested in the Nigerian folding cartons operation and the

new permanent facility will be commissioned in November 2007,

Trading inceme increased fo R140 million from R108 million and the trading margin
improved to 14.1% from 12.1% in 2006. Due fo the deteriorating business
environment, the results from the Zimbabwean operations were deconsolidated

effective 1 June 2007,

Europe

An in-depth strategic review of our European businesses was conducted and
after considering various options and having carried out a thorough sale process,

it was decided fo retain the businesses.

The plastic milk bottle business continued to perform well in pounds sterling albeit
at a lower level than last year due to some once-off benefits in 2006 which were

mentioned in fast year's report.

Results in the folding cartons business were mixed with an improvement in Leeds
being offset by lower margins ot Hoogerhelde and difficult conditions in the

short-run business.
Healthcare packaging increased its market share and improved performance.,

Capital expenditure of £14 milion was spent mainly on replacing okd equipment.
Trading performance In Furope was at a similar level to 2006 with sales of
£345 milion and trading income of £22 milion. The trading margin remained

virtually constant af 6.4% compared to 6.8% in 2006

Group

Revenue increased by 12% to R17 bilion and trading income by 18% to
R1 781 milion. The trading margin increased to 10.5% from 2.9% in 2006,

Working capital increased by R414 million as a result of higher value of stock due
mainly fo strategic buying and increases in the prices of raw materials and

reduced payment terms from suppliers.

Capital expenditure was R1 268 millicn and together with the increased level of
working capital and higher interest rates resulfed in net interest paid increcsing by
56% to R121 million.
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chief executive’s report

(continued}

Cash generated from operations was R2.0 billion. After taking working capital and
capital expenditure into account there was a net cash outflow of R506 million. Net
debt increased to R1.9 bilion and the net debt to equity ratio increased from

28% to 33%. Headline earnings per share increased by 22% to 184.6 cents.

Three-year plan

Qur improved cperating effectiveness together with volume growth contributed
to the geod perfermance over the past two years, This has laid a firm platform for
further earnings growth and a detailed plan has been developed which is
expected to deliver a continued improvement in profitabllity over the next
three years.

Cemand for non-durable goods in South Africa has in recent years grown by
between 4% and 5% per annum. Notwithstanding higher interest rates economists
are forecasting that demand will remain relatively sfrong for the next three vears.
In the rest of Africa, ecenomies in countries such as Angola are expected to grow
by os much as 20% per annum with good growth from other countries where we
have operctions. Steady growth 3 expected to continue in the United Kingdom
and Europe.

The earnings growth strategy for the next three years builds on the advancements

made over the past two years and includes major capex projects, acquisitions,

disposals, profit improverment measures and more effective use of the group’s
strong balance sheet and cash-generation capability.

The main features of this plan are:

* Volume growth of 3% - 4% per annum;

e Full recovery of raw material price increases;

* Improving the operating costs: sales ratio;

& Improving the resutts of underperforming businesses:

& A reduction in the working capital: sales ratio;

¢ Major investment In growth projects; and

¢ Ongoing business portfolio review including acquisitions and disposols.

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPCRT 2007
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Packaging Excellence

The plan wil be implemented under the business philosophy of “Packaging
Excellence” the overarching objective of which is *To develop and enhance a

positive Nampak experience which drives customer loyalty and business growth”.

Packaging excellence in everything that we do underpins an organisational
climate that means foster, smarter, more effective interactions intemally and
externally. A strong strategic position combined with good operating effectiveness

results in a successful business.

The implementation of packaging excellence in Nampak has three main areas of

focus and is supported by two behavioural requirements as illustrated below:

CUSTOMER " PROCESS PEOPLE
FOCUS EXCELLENCE. GROWTH
Customer Woaorki-ciass Work ethic
champions manutactunng 3
. - Cevelopmant
Industry l@ader Supply chaln .
. manogament Bullding
On-time, . divarsity
in-ful service Cos
. offactivenass
Innovation

“Can do” atftitude
Ethical conduct throughout
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chief executive’s report

(continued)

Group

The following are strategies which will impact the group as a whole:

Portfolio review

We will continue to review our portfolio In terms of acquisitions and disposals.

Financial initiatives and working capital

Greater emphasis will be placed on impraving financial returns and reducing the
working capital to scles rafio. Other initictives involve leveraging ihe group

balance sheet fo optimise eamings.

Black economic empowerment

The black economic empowerment charter provides a seven factor framework
with target levels of achievement for each area by 2014, The seven factors with
their appropriate weightings cre:

1. Ownership 20%
2. Management control 10%
3. Affirmative procurement 20%
4. Employment equity 10%
5. Skills development 20%
6. Corporate social invesiment 10%
7. Environmental driven job creqtion 10%

Progress against targets continues as planned. Specific interim targets in respect
of management control, employment equity and skills development have been
consistently achieved and exceeded, The move fowards centralised procurement
in the South African region will provide further opportunity to improve affirmative

procurement scores.

Ongoing review and future progress will be undertaken by a shortly-to-be

established transformation commitiee.

Ly
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Environment

The group continues to be a significant invester and confricuter to environmental
and recyeling initiatives. This, together with active participation in industry forums.
has positionec Nampak favourably with regard to environmental matters and
recycling targets.

These and cther planned activities are expected to mitigate risk for the group in

the future.

South Africa
s There are several initiatives designed to improve the overall performance of the

South African region. These include:

o Improving the capability of businesses to compeie more effectively through
restructuring, capital investment and appropriate  resourcing and
leadership;

o Evaluating businesses in terms of the markets in which they operate and their
ability o achieve appropriate retumns;

o Implementing o targeted working capital reduction plan

o Utilising capital expenditure where appropriate jo drive down costs and
increase efficiency; and

© Reducing costs through the further development of the group procurement
inifiative and the establishment of a South African shared services centre.

* We plon to invest in @ number of projects that will lead 1o increased trading
income, including:

o The new paper mill at Rosslyr which is on schedule fo be commissioned in the
last quarter of 2008;

o A rebulld of one of the glass furnoces;

o A third glass furnace to meet the growing demand for glass bottles; and

o Many other projects across almaost all segments of the packaging market to
meet demand, improve efficiency and provide customers with innovative

packaging products.

AN
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chief executive’s report

{continued)

Rest of Africa

The growth strategy in the rest of Africa is based on three pillars:

1. Bxporting from South Africa to those countries in which we have no of limited
manufacturing presence;

2. Broadening the product range in those countries in which we have
manufacturing operations; and

3. Investing in high growth countries parficularly in conjunction with existing
customers. The recently announced beverage can ling in Angola where the
economy is growing at some 20% per annum and the folding cartons investment

in Nigeria are exampfes of this sirategy.

Europe

Having decided to refain the European businesses the following will be

implemented:

* Grow the plastics business mainly through transfer of the successful in-plant
model. Whilst this will include milk boffle opportunities in cther Europeon
countrigs it could also Include plastic bottles for other beverages, oil ond

chemicals;

& Improve the operaling performance of the folding carton business and further

growth oppartunities to be cansidered; and

* Grow the healthcare packaging business through market share gains and
acquisitions resulting in a larger feotprint and further consolidation of the

Eurcpean market,

Other regions
® Follow custorers inte new temitories, and

* Consider other high-growth regions giving acceptable returns.
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Prospects

The achievement of the three-year plon is expected to result in frading
performance well above the Soush African rate of inflation for the period.

We expect the rate of increase in 2008 to be moderated by the loss of folding
carton business in South Africa as a result of packaging substitution, the exclusion
of Zimbabwe profits and the possible negative impact of a stronger than

expected rand.

Appreciation

It is pleasing that the group is now firmly on a growth path. This has been achieved
by the contiibution made by all cur management and employees and | thank
them for their efforts in achigving the good results.

My thanks also go to our customers for thelr ongoing support and we reaffirm our

commitment to "Packaging Excellence” in everything we do.

John Bortolan

Chief executive officer

Sondton
21 November 2007
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operational review

metals and glass

Revenue Trading income* Margin %
Rm 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Afiica 4728 4206 805 634 17.0 15,1

*Before abnormal itemns.

Africa

This segment remains the largest contributor to the group’s trading income and
achieved a very goed result following a further year of increased demand for
beverage cans and good growth in vegetable and aerosct cans. Improved
manufacturing efficiencies and strong demand led to a much improved
performance from the glass bottte business. The substantial increcse in the price of

tinplate contributed to the higher revenue.

Sales volumes of beverage cans grew by a further 6% in 2007 following growth of
almost 2% in 2004. There was good demand from carbonated soft drinks and most
other beverages. The R160 milllon conversion to the new smooth-neck cans with
narrower diameter ends was successfully completed during the year and the
South African beverage can now conforms to the standard 330 ml can sold in

Europe and other International markets.

A project to incregse the manufacturing speed of some con lines in the South

African factories to mest increased demand will commence during 2008,

NS
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operational review

(continued)

Construction will shortly commence on the recently announced new beverage
can factory in Angola o meet the growing demand for cans in that country, Seme
400 million cans per annum are currently being supplied from our South African
operations and when the Angolan facility comes on-stream in 200@ it will free up

capaocity to meet expected growth in demand in South Africa.

A better deciduous fruit season resulted in increased sales of fruit cans whilst
vegelable can sales were higher following good consumer demand for baked
beans. Sales of rectangular meat cans were higher than last vear and additional
capacity will come on-stream in 2008 to meet growing demand. Sales of fish cans
were in line with long-term average volumes whilst sales of milk powder cans were
lower than last year as a result of the refurbishment of a customer’s factory. Due to
declining fish catches off Namibia the Walvis Bay food con foctory was closed

and the producticn transferred to other factories in South Africa,

Aerosol can sales also increased with the higher consumer spending and
additicnal copacity is being installed to meet the growing dernand. The trend
from tinplate to aluminium monobloc aerosol cans continued in personal care
. markets. Paint can sales were better than expected but the conversion te plastic

containers is anticipated fo accelerate in the year ahead.

The metals businesses in the rest of Africa produce a range of food cans, other
non-beverage cans and crown closures. The Kenyan operation lost velumes to
international competifors as a result of a stronger Kenyan shiling and product
substitution. The Nigerian operation performed well but was disrupted by fuel and
power shortages. The Tanzanian operation had a good year as did the Zambian
operation which experienced good demand for crowns ond steel drums. The
ongoing economic deterioration continued to adversely affect the performance

of the Zimbabwean business.
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Nampak Wiegand Glass in which the group has o 50% share completed the

second phase of the upgrading of its cold-end equipment and this resulted in

significant improvemnent in quality and factery efficiencies. Sales volumes were

substantially chead of last year following strong market demana for glass boitles.

A furnace rebuild will take place in 2008 and although this will affect production,

overall performance is expected o be better than in 2007.

The South African glass bottle market is currently undersupplied with customers

importing to meet demand. Market forecasts indicate that demand will continue

to outstrip supply unless there is investment in additional production capacity.
. ) . . o A beautifully finished gift fin for a
Nampak Wiegand Glass will be investing some R&60 million in a new furnace 1o be promotion which exudes femininity
. .- - . . ond positions the brand
erected at its existing facility at Roodekop with production expected to Po

commence in late 2009.

Anticipated growth in beverage can volumes and further impravements in the
performance of Nampak Wiegand Glass ore expected to contribute fo an

increase in the trading income of the metals and glass segment in 2008,
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operational review

{continued)

paper

Revenue Trading income* Margin %
Rm 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Africo 4819 4415 37 305 7.0 69
Europe 3050 2613 112 90 37 34
Total 7 869 7028 449 395 57 56

*Before abnormal items.

Afiica

Although profits from this segment improved, they were below expectations due
to under-recovery of raw material and overhead cost increases in the corrugoted
box market and higher costs of production in the tissue business, which wos also
affected by a three-week strike,

The cornugated box maorket was characterised by two distinctly different halves.
The first half of the year had good sates volume growth in both the commercial
and agricuttural segments, However. in the second half of the year there was a
slowdown in commercial sales.

In the first half of the year production problems in the Cape Town operation
resulted in loss of market share in the agricultural sector but this was regained in
the second half with increased agricultural sales for the year as a whole.

Raw material and overhead cost increases were not fully recovered in a highly
competitive environment, Good conirol of other costs assisted in offsetting loss
of margin.

A long-term agreemeni has been concluded with a major multinational customer
for the supply of eight-sided Otor boxes.

Construction of the new paper mill is on schedule and on budget and is planned
to commence production in the iast quarter of 2008,

These projects, together with the recovery of raw material price increases effective
1 October 2007, is expected to contribute to an improvement in performance
in 2008.
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operational review

(continued)

The business in Malawi was adversety offected by the higher cost of imported raw
materials whilst in Zimbabwe extremely difficult economic conditions affected
overall performance of the business.

The cartons and labels business in South Africa had a good year in 2007 with
volume growth of over 3%. The strong growth in the fast-food market continued,
buayed by further conversion from polystyrene to cartons.

Both lecal and export volumes in the frozen fish market recovered well affer a poor
2006. Cigarette packaging volumes showed good growth primarlly on the back of
direct and indirect exports into the rest of Africa.

Seling prices generally remained under pressure particularly from the global
procurement skategles of multinational customers. The benefits, however, of the
factory rationalisation programme and cost-reduction initiatives implemented
overthe last two years were realised and contributed to the improved performance
for the year.

The decision by a major customer to convert the packaging of their powdered
detergents from folding cartons to flexible bags will have a significant detrimentat
effect on profitability In the year ahead. As a consequence, further resiructuring
will be undertaken In 2008 to tessen future Impact. Our flexible packaging business
will partially gain from this move.

The Nigerian folding cartons operation continued fo perform well in its termporary
facility. The construction of the permanent foctory is complete and the second
manufocturing line will be commissioned by the end of this calendar year. In
addition to cigarette cartons, encouraging inrcads have been made into the
general commercial cartons market,

There was continued strong demand for cement paper sacks but sales of sugar
and maize meal bags were relatively flat. Further manufacturing automation was
undertaken during the year which contributed t¢ an improvement In efficiencies.
The price of sack kraft raw material increased substantially and together with

additional energy and transport costs resufted in coniraction in gross margins.

Redibox, which supplies smailer quantities of packaging direct to the public and

other customers. enjoyed ¢ befter year on the back of increased demand and a
consolidation of its outlets.

. " \ . An gight-sided carton that is Id
The cores and tubes market was highly competitive and higher input costs were embossed and debossed 10
generally not recovered in selling prices. enhance the branding on pack
ond iNCorRoIates consurner

fiendly handiing features Ve
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The group sold 25.1% of its shares in Interpak Books to a block empowerment
company and this is expected to improve its position in the market. There was
difficutty in recoveting higher input costs during the year whilst skewed seasonal
demand resulted in lower second-half sales.

There was good demand for tollet tissue and diapers but trading results were
adversely affected by a profonged labour strike and supply-chain constraints. The
production problems in the wadding mills that were experienced in the early part
of the year have been satisfacterily resolved.

Animproved performance is expected from the Africa paper segment in 2008 but
the loss of the detergent carton business and restructuring costs will, however, limit
the increase in frading income.

Europe

The Leeds folding cartons factory in the United Kingdom continued to improve.
Margins at the Hoogerheide factory in the Netherlands were lower as a result of
price pressure in the renewal of some tenders. The short-run business which
supplies mainly retall packoging, operates in o highly competitive environment
and did not perform satisfactorly during the year.

The healthcare packaging business grew volumes and market share and
improved s performance,

An Improvement in both sales revenue and trading income is expected from the
European paper segment in 2008.
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operational review

(continued)

plastics

Revenue Trading income* Margin %
Rm 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Africa 2910 2781 47 241 85 a7
Europe 1 566 1291 157 154 10,1 119
Total 4 466 4072 404 395 20 Q7

*Before abnormal iterms.

Africa

The maijority of the businesses in the segment performed well with the exception of the
crates and drums, tubes and tubs and lominated and coated products businesses.

Sales volumes of PET bottles in South Africa continued to grow following strong demand
for carbonated soft drinks and juices. The carbonated soft diink bottling industry is
rapidly moving towards in-plant operations and two of these plants were commissioned
during the year secured with long-term supply agreements. Further in-plant investments
are planned in the year ghead.

There was good growth in beverage closures. Some market share has been lost due to
a reduction in customer-allocation and this will impact on 2008. Al plastic closures
maonufactured in Gauteng will be consolidated Into one factory in the year ahead and
will result in cost benefits. Good growth was also achieved in the metal closures sector
which services food, wine and spirits customers,

Demand for high densily plastic bottles for milk and juice improved whilst sales of
sorghum beer cartons continued to grow. Julce and milk cartons manufoctured and
marketed in joint venture with Elopak, experienced good growth.

In Zambia, demand for both sorghum beer cartons and plastic bottles improved.

Market share previously lost in the toothpaste-tube morket was regained but trading
income was affected by higher production costs. A new laminated tube production line
will be commissioned to supply the increasing demand for foothpaste, pharmaceutical
and cosmetic products. There was good growth In sales of plastic tubs but it was not
possible to fully recover riaw maeterial cost increoses. New in-mould labeling capacity
due o come inte production in 2008 will significantly enhance the product offering.
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operational review

{continued)

Market share was lost in plaslic crates whilst sales of large plastic drums were not as
buoyant as expected due to lower exports by some customers. These products were
most affected by higher polymer prices which could generally not be fully recoverad.,

The remaining 50% shareholding in Burcap was acquired effective 26 March 2007 and
management has been incorporated info Nampak Tubes and Tubs. Although the
market grew, cur sales of plastic pails and buckets were lower than last year due to
competitive activity. There was some ditficulty in the early part of the year in recovering
aw material cost increases but these have since been recovered. Further investment in
in-rnould labeling of paint buckets is shortly due for completion and will assist in securing
more of this business which is converting from tinplate,

We are expecting o good performance from the rigid plastics businesses in the
year chead.

The Flexpak business at Bellville in the Western Cape was sold effective 4 December
2006. We decided not to take up our share of o rights issue in the company which
conducts the retail bag business in Zimbabwe and as a result the group has retained
very minor sharehelding in the company.

The flexible packaging business improved further in 2007 with benefits being
achieved from conselidating management of the three production sites into a single
business unit.

Selling prices and margins remained under pressure due to iImports and excess domestic
capacity which resulted in an underrecovery of raw material price increases.

Good growth was achieved in certain niche cieas and investments were made
to produce shrink-sleeves and pouches to capture a larger share of these
growing markets,

Next yeor the business will also benefit from the decision by a major custorner to convert
the packaging of their powdered detergents from folding carions to flexible bags.

The lominated and coated products business suffered production problems and from
delays in obtaining SABS approval for the flame-retardant roofing insulation introduced
during the year. This impacted on sales and profitability as did the strength of the rand
which affected margins. Sates of oluminium foll packaging were significantly affected by
imports and will necessitate restructuring of this business in 2008,

A new project to manufacture products from expanded polyethylene foam for
customers in the packaging, bedding, furniture, agriculture, automotive and other
industries will be commissioned in the year ahead.

With a more competitive base and the benefits from new growth projects, we are
expecting an improvement in perdormance from the flexible packaging businesses in
the year ahead.
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Europe

We remained the leading supplier of plastic boftles o the dairy market in the United
Kingdom. Although selling prices rose in line with poiymer price increcses. sales revenue
in pounds was similar to last year following the renegotiation of seme supply agreements,

Trading income was lower due to once-off benefits in 2006 that were not repeated.

Higher raw material costs due to supply constraints will result in frading income in 2008

being similar to 2007,

£5 million is being invested in a new recycling project which will use up to 30% of post-

consumer milk bottles as raw moterial.

group services

from feft:
Stuart Goode (57}

MBA, FCCA, SMP (Cranfield)
Director! Europe

Mark Kathan (37)
CA(SA)
Finance director: Africa

Lynne Kidd (47)
BA (Hons)

Group Auman resource
executive

Arminda Morais (63)

BCom, Hdity Ace, CA(SA) MBA,

SEP (Stanford)}

Chief information officer
Neill O'Brien (53}
Bfroc

Company secretary and
group fegal adviser

Leon Tavionsky (37)
CA(SA)
Finance director: Europe

Fezekile Tshigi (53)
BA PGDHRM (Wis)

Human resources director:
Africa

Johan Visser (49)
B3c (Hons) Food Science

General manager: Nampak
Resaarch & Development

Revenue . Trading income*
Rm 2007 2006 2007 2006
Africa - [ 79 57
Europe 281 253 44 28
Total 281 244 123 a5

*Before abnormal ifems.

Africa

Group services include head office activities, procurement. freasury and property

rentals. The improverment in trading income is mainly due to reduced spend on

professional services, an increase in rentals, royalties and corporate fess received.
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chief financial officer’s review

Review of results

Income statement

-

2007 2006 Variance
Rm R %
Revenue 170144 152519 12
Trading income 1781.0 1508.6 18
Abnormal (lossesy/gains (159.8) 29.3
Profit from operations 14212 15379 5
Net finonce costs 190.8 122.7 56
Income from investments 7.0 48
Share of profit from associates 4.3 —
Profit before tax 1441.7 1420.0 2
Income tax expense 385.8 583.7
Profit after tox 10559 866.3 22
Mingrity interest 1.7 45
Profit for the yvear 1054.2 861.8 22
Headine eamings per share (cents) 184.6 151.2 22
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The financial year under review has seen strong growth
in revenue, frading income and headline earnings per
share. This review comments on the financial position and
performance of the group for the year. It also provides
clarity on key policies, judgements, financial risk manage-
ment and economic indicators adopted by the group.

Tirm Jacobs

Cheef tnanc.al
offcer

Revenue increased by R1 752,5 million to R17 014.4 million for the year, while
trading income increased by R272.4 milion to R1 781.0 million. A full analysis of
trading perfarmance is included in the chief executive’s report on pages 12 to 21
and in the opergational review on pages 22 to 39 of the annual financiel staiements.
An evaluation of the sources of change for 2007 Is presented below:

Turnover Trading income

Rrn % Rm %
South Africa continuing operations 1075.2 7.0 188.6 12.6
Rest of Atrica constant currency {11.2) ©n 11.3 0.8
Europe constont currency {10.3) on (2.2 0.1
Zimbabwe (2.8) — 12.0 08
Translation 8217 54 59.4 3¢
Acquisitions’ 31.2 0.2 19 G.1
Disposed operations? (157.3) o 04 —
Increase 17525 1.5 2724 18.1

Vinciudes remaining 50% of Burcap Plastics.
Yincludes Flexpak Belhvilie, Tufbag, Contract Packing and Polyfoil Zimbabwe.
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chief financial officer’s review

(continued)

South African operations grew both revenue and trading income with volume
growth achieved in most divisions, Metals in particular had ¢ good year with the
turnaround in the Glass division on track. The strong rand in the last quarter of the
financial year has not yet had an impect on trading but could influence the group

going forward if the strength persists,

The wedaker rand over the year under review had a significant impact on
tfrensiation of foreign ecrnings from Europe and Africa, improving turnover by

R827.7 million and trading income by R59.4 million.

In censtant currency the contribution from the rest of Africa was ahead whilst
Europe was in line with the prior year. Nigeria Cartons continued to perform well
and in ine with expectations. In Europe, the comparative performance from the
Prastics division was good if the impact of the receipt of a once-off rebate in 2006
is ignored. Similarly the Healthcare division enjoyed a good performance with
volumes up 9%. In Cartons the Short Run business had a difficult year.

The economy in Zimbabwe continued to deteriorate over the past yeor. Legistation
passedin an attempt to siow down rampant inflation and a devaluing Zimbabwean
doltar has given rise fo chronic shortages of foreign currency in the country. In
paorticulor two pieces of legisiation - the National Incomes and Pricing Commission
Act (2007) and the Indigenisafion and Economic Empowsrment Bill 2007 - have
had a profound impact on our operations in Zimbabwe, The first has had the effect
of implementing price contfrols on products sold into the locol market that, when
coupled with the devaliing currency, has resutted in the operations being unable
to replace the imported raw materials needed for ceontinued production at a
commercially viable level. The second is cimed at requiring all public companies
to have 51% direct ownership by previously disodvantaged indigenous
Zimbabweans, The bill afso intends to restrict any form of corporate activity in both
public and private companies, unless the magjority of the resulting business is held

by previously disadvantaged indigenous Zimbabweans,
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The consequences of the above two pieces of legislation on our operations,

together with the inability of the companies to expatricte either technical fees or
dividends. has resulted in the view that confrol over the financial and operating
policies of these investments has been lost. Accordingly, o decision was taken to
cease consolidating the Zimbabwe operations with effect 1 June 2007 and hold the
investments as cwailable-forsale financial assets. The fair value of these investments

has been assessed fo be R1.00 with the adjustment taken directly to equity.

Net abnormal losses of R159.8 million for the year wers recorded (2006:
R2%.3 millicn gain. The full list of abnormal itlems is presented in the table and the

rmaterial items commented on below:

2007 2006

Rm Rm

Financial instruments fair value adjusiment (83.4) 88.6
Europe strategic review costs” (50.3) -
Retrenchment and restructuring costs (31.5) 3.1
Share-based payment expense on BEE fransoction (20.0) (21.0)
Net impairment 10sses on goodwil, plant and equipment” .7 (110.6)
Net monetary edjustment - hyperinfiation 49 30
Profit on disposat of property” 202 7.7
Net profit on disposal of business’ 168 0.7
(159.8) 2.3

*Adjusted for headline earnings per share.

The greup's poiley of hedging all open foreign currency positions, whilst being the
appropriate commercial and financial decision from a cash flow perspective, has
the effect of producing significant income statement variances from year to yeor
due to mark-to-market adjustments t¢ the underlying contracts. The financial
instruments fair value loss of RB3.4 million includes the unwinding of the fair value
gains of R88.6 million recorded In 2006 as well as fair value adjustments on open
derivative contracts ot 30 September 2007. The breakdown of the adjustments are
losses on aluminium forward contracts of R30.1 milion and forward exchange

confracts of R60.3 milion, and gains on Interest derivatives of R7.0 million.
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chief financial officer’s review

(continued)

The R50.3 million costs relating to the Europe strategic review are predominantly
as a consequence of running a controlled auction to determine whether value
could be redlised on disposing of the European operations. The offers received for
these businesses were considered value destroying and consequently this option

was rejected.

The retrenchment and restructuring costs of R31.5 milion include R19.5 million
relating to the Eurcpean Cartons business, R8.7 million in South Africa (Glass,
Conugated and DivFood divisions) and R3.3 million in Aflica (Kenya and Nigeria}

as cost structures are realigned to take into account markst pressures.

Net finance costs increased 56% to R190.8 million, mainly a3 a result of significant
spend on copital projects and the increased invesiment in working capital during
the year. Increasing interest rates in South Africa, together with increased finance
costs In Nigeria due to the ongoing Investment in the Carfons factory, also
contributed to the higher net cost. This was partially offset by interest savings on
the Europecn debt, where strong cash flows allowed for repayment of some of the
cutstanding capital balance. Notwithstanding that interest cover reduced from

13 to 9 times, the group has significant scope for gearing up its balonce sheet.

Taxation decreased to R385.8 miillion from R553.7 million. Simitarty, the effective tax
rcte decreased from 39.0% to 26.8%. The effective tax rate is impacted by the costs
of the European strategic review that are not deductible for tax, a reductionin the
statutory tax rate in the United Kingdom from 30% to 28% resulting in a release of
deferred tax, the release of provisions in Europe following the final assessment of
the 2006 United Kingdom tax returns and lower Secondary Tax on Companies
("STC") a5 the final distribution for 2006 and the interim distribution for 2007 were
dectared out of share premium. Alse Impacting the effective tax rate was the

receipt of govermment incentives that lowered the rate by 2.5%.

Headliine eamnings per share increased 22.1% from 151.2 cents per share to
184.6 cents. Headline eamings were onived ot affer adjusting for impairment
charges, profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and businesses and

the costs of the European strategic review.

Diluted headline ecmings per share increased 19.6% from 146.6 cents to
175.4 cents. The diluied eamings per share was calculated by faking into

account the potential dilutive Impact of the shares issued to the Biack
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Managemenit Trust ("BMT") and Red Coral cs well as the dilution impact of the

shares/rights allocated to employees in the various share incentive schemes,

The dilutive effect of the shares allocated in the BMT has been calculated by
deducting the number of shares that would have had to be bought back at the
average market price during the year io satisfy the future IFRS 2 expense, from the

number of shares allocated to participants.

The dilutive impact of the shares issued to Red Coral has been calculoted by
assuming that at the beginning of the period sufficient ordinary shares were
repurchased at the average market price for the year to safisfy the outstanding
preference share funding. The inciemental number of shares issued to Red Coial
was Included in the dilutive eamings calculation. The preference share dividends
paid for the year of R24.3 millon were added back in ariving at the dilutive

eqarnings.

Balance sheet

Net worth per ordinary share increased from 964 cents fo 1037 cents mainly as a

result of increased prefitability.

Net gearing increased from 28% to 33%, while gross gearing moved from 36% to
43%. The moin contributors to the increased gearing were the higher leve! of
copital expenditure and the increased level of investment In working capital. The

group's gearing position over the past five years is shown in the graph.

During the year Global Credit Rating Co. reviewed the group’s credit rating for
domestic debt in Nampak Limited. and confirmed the credit rating for domestic

debt in Nampak Products Limited, the main South African trading subsidiory:

Rating
Shori-term commercial paper (guaranteed by Nampak Umited) Al
Short-term unsecured Al
Long-term unsecured A+
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chief financial officer’s review

(continued)

The composition of the group’s net borrowing position is:

2007 2006
Rm Rm %

South Africa 19134 1265.6 51.2

Borrowings 19842 13217

Cosh (70.8) (56.1)
Europe and rest of Afiica 114 3204 96.4)

Barmowings 5441 678.9

Cash {832.7) (358.5)
Net borrowings 19248 15860 214
Net foreign denominated borowings/(cash) analysed:

UK pounds {26.5) (17.6)

Euros 285 270

S dollars (3.8) —

Nigerion naira 3080.6 33940

The South African net borrowed position increased by R647.8 milion during the
year, mainly due to a R482.5 million increqase in capital expenditure and the

balance due {o an increase in working capital.

Strong cash flows in Europe during the year, together with the receipt of the final
£10 milion on the Woburn Sands property sale, allowed the outstanding belance
on the consortium loan to be reduced from £32 million (€45.7 million) to £23 million
(€33 million). The loan covenant positions at year-end were all significantly within
their thresholds.

Capital expenditure increased from R&8%.4 million in 2006 to R1 2305 milion as
spending on capital projects ratcheted up o secure growth. The Bevean 202
conversion project to reduce the maierial component in a can and the second
Glass furace cold-end revamp to improve quality and efficiency highlighted in
2006 were both successfully commissioned during the year. The waste-based
paper mill project in the Corrugated division is forging ahead with the civil work

largely complete.

Capital commitments have increased to R1 487.6 million at 30 September. This
includes the remainder of the spend on the Corugated paper mill, a scheduled
rebuilci on one of the Glass furnaces, an investrment in a high speed beverage can line
in Angola ond an investrent in a HDPE plastic recycling plkant in the United Kingdom.
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Spend on intangible assets reduced fiom R1.6 million in 2006 to R67.6 million in

2007 as the rollout of the South African ERP system driaws to ¢ close with twe
implementations remaining to complete the project. The European business
system pigject that was put on hold during the strategic review has been
reinstated. A breakdown of capital expenditure and intangibles by gecgraphy,

as well as capital commitments, is shown below:

Replacement  Expansion Total

Rm Rm Rm

South Africa 4673 5398 10071
Rest of Africa 284 670 954
Europe 1345 611 195.4
Total 6302 6679 12981
Capital expenditure 5739 686.6 12305
Intenglbles 56.3 11.3 67.6
Total 630.2 6619 1298.1
Capital commitments 1487.4

Cash flow

Cash generated from operations increased by R310.4 million to R2 045.3 million,
mainly as a result of improved profitability. There was a further investment in
working capital, porticularly in stock, coupled with reduced credis terms from
suppliers. The increase in stock was precdominantly strategic in nature as the group
managed shortages of polymer supply, paper suppliers who shut down for
extended periods and some pre-price increase buying. Receivables were well

controlled considering the increase in furnover.

Cash flow from operations was lower ot R810.0 millien, impacied by an increcse in
net inferest paid of R73.9 million following the acceleration of capex spend and
investment in working capital. Replacement copex was R274.8 milion more
than last year at R573.¢ mililon. Distributions to shareholders increased 14.7% to
R579.1 million.
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chief financial officer’s review

{contlnued)

Financial risk management

A detalled analysis of the group’s financial risk manogement policies is set out in

note 1 of the annug! financial statermnents,

Exchange rafes

In general the gioup benefits from a weakening rand through Improved
competitiveness in the South African market against imported finished goods
already packaged, exports to the rest of Africa and the translation of offshore
earnings. Significant rand volatility against most major currencles was seen
throughout the year with average rates appreciably weoker than the prior period.
The table below sets out the average rates prevailing throughout the year and the

closing rates at 30 September:

2007 2006
Exchonge rates

Rand/UK pound - qverage 14.15 11.85

- closing 13.95 14,55

Rand/Euro - average 9.56 2810

- closing 9.72 .85

Rand/Us dollkar - average 1.8 6.57

- closing 6.87 7.7

The group’s policy is to protect cash flows from the effects of a weakening
currency. In South Africa this is achieved by covering all net foreign cumency-
dencminated transactions by way of derivative instruments, in porticular forward
exchange contracts. Although most African countries are unable fo take out

forward exchange contracts, this is monitored on an ongeing basis.

Interest rates

The group’s funding requirements are structured using a combination of fixed and
variable rate debt. To address concerns over increasing interest rates in South
Africa the group entered info a number of fixed interest rate derivative confracts

in the prior year, These vary from relatively short duration to as far out as 2010,

The current year has seen several interest rote increases in South Africa, the UK and
Europe. However, the magnitude of the increases in Souih Africa has had a bigger

impact on group earnings.
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Commodily prices

The group is exposed to price movements in several commodities including
tinplate, aluminium, polymers (linked fo the crude oll price) and paper. During the
year. the group has seen significant price increases in finplate, aluminium, PET,
HDPE, sand and seda ash.

The group hedged aluminium purchases during the year, Other commodities used
by the group were purchased at spot rotes as there is no futures market to fake

effective hedge positions.

Liquidiity

The group actively manages its liquidity risk through its treasury operations in South
Africa and Europe. Banking facilities are reviewed annually with sufficient copacity

retained to meet expected future funding requirements. The commercial paper

programme was used during the year.

The group is reviewing the term of its funding with the intention of infroducing a

grecter proportion of longer duration facilities into the funding mix,

Financial objectives

The group has set a number of financial objectives that it measures itself against
in the longer term. The group has set itself a target of reaching these financial

objectives in the next three years.

Obijective Achieved Target
Retum on net assets 18% 23%
Return on equity 18% 21%

The group is in the process of evaluating how to moximise the strength of its
balance shest and cash flows to improve its returns and finoncial ratios. The
process will take into account the possible use of funds for capital projects,
ccquisitions and funding of retirement obligations. It is anficipated that these

activities will contribute towards the achievernent of the targets set above.

Performance against targets for 2003 to 2007 are shown in the graphs. Years prior

to 2005 are not restated for IFRS purposes.
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chief financial officer’s review

(continued}

Return on net ossets declined in 2007, notwithstanding the improved financial
performance. due 1o the higher level of capital expenditure that has not yet
coniributed to improved earnings. The group is placing increased emphasis on
cash management, including improvements in net working capital, coupled with

accelerated investments In higher return projects te meet the target of 23%.

Improved trading results and the lower tax charge contributed to a 3% improvement

in return on equity for the year.

Accounting policies and practices

The consolidated financial statements as well as comparative information have
been prepared in conformity with IFRS. The principal policies have been applied

consistently with the previous year,

Future accounting developments

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosure, together with the amendment to IAS 1
Presenfation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures requires additional
disclosures about the significance of financial instruments and their impact on the
financial performance and position of the group. IFRS 7 also requires information
about the extent to which the entity is exposed to risks arising from financial
instruments and a description about management’s objectives, poiicies and
processes for managing those risks. The standard is effective for years commencing
on or after 1 January 2007, and will be effective for the group in the 2008 financial
year. The group is in the process of collating the information required for the

additional disclosuras.

The following standards and amended standards were issued during the current

financial year and will be effective for years commencing after 1 January 2009, or

the group's 2010 financial statements:

o |FRS 8 Operating Segments replaced 1AS 14 Segment Reporting as part of the
corvergence project with US (United States) generally accepted accounting
practice. The statement requires an enfity to adopt the "management

approach” to reporting on the financial performance of its operating segments.
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The impact of this statement will be determined with reference to information

used by management for evaluating segment performance and the
determination of resource allocation to operaling segments at the time of

becoming effective.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements has been revised and requires
infarmation in financict statements to be oggregated on the basis of shared
characteristics and introduces a statement of comprehensive income. This will
enable readers to analyse changes in @ company’s equity resulting from
fransactions with owners in their capacity as owners seporately from “non-

owners” changes. This wilt have limited impact on the disclosure for the group.

® |AS 23 Borrowing cosfs has removed the opfion of immediately recognising as
an expense borrowing costs that relate to assets that take a substontial period
of fime to get ready for use or sale. Nampak policy requires all borowing costs
relating to assets thot take a substantial period of time to bring to use to be
capitalised and consequently this change will not have an effect on the

financial results or position of the group.

The Intermnational Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC™) issued
several new interpretations during the cunent year. The adoption of these
interpretations is not expected to have a material Impact on the financial results

or position of the group.

As part of the convergence project of the International Accounting Standards
Boord ("[ASB™) with United States generally cccepted accounting practice,
several exposure drafts have been circuloted that are expected to be issued as
standards in the next financial year. The impact of these new standards will be
assessed on an ongoing basis and the group will adept an implementation plan

where applicable,

Distribution

Following the strong growth in headline earmings for the year, the board has
increased the annual distribution per share by 20% to 115.3 cents per share
(2006: 96.1 cenis per share). This results in @ cover of 1.6 times and a vyield of
5.3% at 30 September 2007.
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chief financial officer’s review

(continued)

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities decreased from R756.9 million to R&84.7 milion comprising
mainly amounts in respect of South African tax assessments.

As previousty communicaied, the group had lodged objections fo ¢l the
assessments raised by the South African Revenue Service {"SARS™).

The objections lodged ogainst the Malbak tox assessments were largely rejected by
SARS and appeals against the assessments have been lodged. Fallowing the initicl
RS0 milion payment made in 2006. no further payments have been made pending
the outcome of these matters. Discussions cround these amounts are at an advanced
stage and details wil be communicated once these have been concluded.

The group is pleased to report that the assessrnent raised by SARS relating to profits
eamed by Metal Box Botswana (Proprietary) Limited on the grounds that Metal
Box Botswana was effectively managed in South Africa and did not have a

permanent establishment in Botswano, has been withdrawn in full.

It was previously reported that a complaint was lodged with the Competition
Commission for alleged collusion with respect to the acquisition of cullet for glass
contoiner manufacturing and that this complaint had been referred to the
Competition Tribunal for hearing. The date of the hearing has not been set and
accordingly there is nothing further to report on fhis issus.

The patent infingement case brought by Rotanctice against the Diehl group that
was acquired in 2004 is continuing. While the courts issued a judgement against
MY Healthcare France fo pay €500 000 as provisional damages ond €30 000 as g
contribution to costs, MY Hedlthcare france lodged an appeal against the
judgement. The court of appeal is unlikely to render a declsion before the end of
2008, Given the present status of the case, it appears unlikely that the claims will
exceed the ameunt held in escrow and ne amount is included in contingent

liabilities in the current year.
O

Tim Jacobs

Chief financial officer

Sandton
21 November 2007
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supplementary information
for the year ended 30 September

S1 SIX-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW

GROUP FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES
Return

To achieve a return before inferest and taxation of at least 23% per annum on average net assets, an after tax return on equity
of of least 21% and for investment decisions to exceed the weighted average cost of copital of 12.3%.

Earnings
To achieve a growth in eamnings per share of not less than the annual infiation rate plus the economic growth rate (gross
domestic product).

Asset management
To manage the investrment in inventories and receivables 1o its commaercially lowest level.

Cash flow

To generate sufficlent cash flow after absorbing increases in working capital, financing charges, taxes and dividends, to fund
capital expenditure for replacement of fixed assets.

DEFINITIONS AND METHODOLOGY
Return
Profit from eperations plus income from investments,

Equity

The aggregate of interest athibutabie fo equity holders of the parent and minority interest,

Total assets

The net book value of property, plant and equipment (Including investment properties). the carrying value of infangible assets,
Investments. non-current financial assets, deferred tax assets and cunent assets (excluding cash).

Gross operating assets

The net book value of property. plant and equipment (including investment properties). the carrying value of intangible assets,
investments and current assets (excluding cash).

Net assets
Gross operating assets after deducting trade and other payables (including provisions).

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, investment income, share of associates, tox, depreciation and emertisation.
Total liabilities

The aggregate of non-current and current Yiabilities (deferred tax is excluded).

Total borrowings

All interest-bearing debf.

Cash distribution/dividend declared per ordinary share
Current year interim ond final cash distribution/dividend per ordinary share.

Employee numbers used for calculations
Total number of employees time-weighted for acquisitions and disposals and adjusted for the group’s share of joint ventures,

Productivity per employee
Volurne growth over growth in number of employees.

Qrdinary shares in issue
Total shares in issue including treasury shares,

Abnormal itemns

Iterns of income and expenditure, which do net arise from normal frading activities or are of such @ size, nature or incidence
that their disclosure is relevant to explain the performance for the period.

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPORT 2007



-

supplementary information

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

IFRS SA GAAP
$1 SIX-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW (continuea) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
STATISTICS
Earnings and dividend data
Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue  *000 582505 5799568 438202 | 640958 40444 531237
Headline earnings per ordinary share cents 184.6 1512 88.0 6.1 145.4 140.9
- Change over previous year % 22 72 40 1 K] 61
- Five-year compound annual growthrate % L] 1 — 4 8 7
Earnings per ordinary share cents 181.0 148.6 102.0 150.9 1411 123.7
| - Change over previous year % 22 46 32) 7 14 50
| - Five-year compound annual growth raie % 5 4 4 5 8 4
Cash distributions/dividends declared per
| crdinary share cents 1153 96.1 83.6 83.6 69.7 0.6
| - Change over previous year % 20 15 — 20 15 14
| - Five-year compound annual growth rote % " 10 9 9 6 7
| Cash distribution/dividend cover fimes 1.6 1.5 12 1.7 20 1.8
|
FINANCIAL DATA
Return on equity % 18 15 12 19 19 18
Return on iotal assets % 13 14 12 16 16 13
Return on net assets % i8 19 17 23 23 20
Total asset turn firmes 1.8 1.9 20 1.7 1.6 1.5
Gross gearing % 43 36 22 36 42 97
Net gearing % 33 28 H 22 27 56
interest cover fimes G 13 12 N 7 9
Effective rote of tax % 268 39.0 442 34.8 38.1 3319
Number of crdinary shares in issue 000 583 48] 581235 641 888 641 574 640 571 640178
Net asset value per ordinary share cents 1037 964 880 839 758 748
- Change over previous year % 8 10 5 1 i 45
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SA GAAP

$1 SIX-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 2007 206 2005 2004 2003 2002
EMPLOYEE DATA

Permanent employees 13721 14 376 15 204 16 466 18 025 13 764
Temporary employees 1 868 1825 2458 24656 1672 1637
Total employees 15 5689 16 201 17 702 19122 19 697 15401
Employee numbers used for calculations 15815 16515 17 894 17 859 18 392 14 096
Revenue per employee R000 1076 924 845 Q79 988 o7
Employment cost per employes R*000 215 189 190 202 198 192
Productivity per employee Index 91 85 78 85 83 108
OPERATING RESULTS R miftion

Revenue 170144 152619 15 113.7 17 494.6 18 174.0 13 684.7
Trading income 1781.0 1508.6 13110 1801.6 12570 860.5
Profit attribuiable to equity holders 1054.2 861.8 651.3 967.1 903.5 657.1
EBITDA 23229 21963 1889.0 24315 25192 17288
BALANCE SHEETS R million

Total shareholders’ funds 40495 5603.9 5651.6 54159 4947.8 4886.0
Retirement benefit obligation 565.1 219 5407 161.9 147.8 106.7
Deferred tax and other non-current liabilities 756.4 702.3 684.0 433.6 azon 408.5
Non-current loans and borrowings 526.5 1021.8 0207 1091.5 12890 18701
Current liabilities 51351 43740 34735 39756 43549 460393
Total equity and liabilities 13 032.6 124239 112795 110785 11109.6 13319.6
Property, plant and equipment 56669 5217.9 48195 42281 42557 50758
Infangibtes 1079.3 10933 10623 12404 10923 11458
Other non-current financicl assets and

deferred tax 2965 312.1 2109 55.0 117.6 187.4
Curmrent assets 5989.9 5 800.6 51868 55850 56440 691046
Total assets 13 032.6 124239 112795 110785 11109.6 133196
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supplementary information

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

IFRS SA GAAP

§1 SIX-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
CASH FLOW R million
- Cash generated from operations 20453 17349 20260 21302 20069 17665
- Cash retained from operating activities 2309 402.8 561.6 916 906.1 940.5
- Additions t¢ property, plant, equipment

and intangibles (1298.1) (781.0) (847.6) (995.6) (884.4) (784.4)
- Net (decrease)/increase in cash (505.8) (799.8) 423.7 {48.0) 17.¢ (378.4)
SHARE PERFORMANCE
Market price per share
- Highest cents 2395 1950 1655 1500 1570 1480
- Lowest cents 1 800 1490 1385 1230 1100 1015
- Year-end cents 2 160 1820 1589 1410 1230 1340
Number of ordincry shares in issue ‘000 655972 653 726 669 314 641 574 640 571 640 178
Market copitalisction’ R million 14 149 11898 10 635 Q046 7879 8578
Volurne of shares traded ‘000 242 698 339971 323728 421 267 356 681 376 032
Value of shares traded R million 51319 57202 49776 56146 46105 4669.4
Volume of shares traded os q percentage
of total issued shares % 37.0 52.0 48.4 65.7 55.7 58.7
Earnings yield® % 85 8.3 55 10.4 1.8 105
Cash distribution/dividend yield” % 53 83 5.3 59 5.7 45
Price/earnings ratic® times 1.7 12.0 18.1 9.7 85 2.5
*Based on year-end market price.
ECONCMIC INDICATORS
The principal economic indicators cpplied
in the preparation of the group results are
shown below:
Exchange rates
Rand/UK pound
- qQverage 14.15 11.85 11.53 11.84 11.57 16.42
- closing 13.95 14.55 11.21 11.64 11.57 16,56
Rand/Euro
- average 9.56 8.i0 7.93 6.04 8.07 10.35
- closing Q.72 9.85 7.64 7.99 8.09 10.42
Rand/US dollar
~ average 7.18 6.57 6,24 46.61 713 10.53
~ Closing 687 177 535 b.44 652 10.95
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Profit from operations
as reported

Abnormal items

Trading Income

Margins before
abnormal iterns

§2 ADJUSTED SEGMENTAL 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
INFORMATION Rmillion Rmilion | Rmilion  Rmilion | Rmillien R milion % %
Metals and Glass 7511 6541 (54.0) 203 805.1 633.8 17.0 15.1
Africa 751.1 654.1 (54.0) 203 805.1 633.8 17.0 15.1
Paper 388.1 435.6 (60.9) 40.4 449.0 3952 57 56
Africa 290.2 349.3 (47.0) LER 3372 30562 1.0 6.9
Europe 97.9 86.3 (13.9) 3.7 111.8 90.0 3.7 34
Plastics 381.7 J85.5 (22.4) .1 4041 394.6 9.0 @7
Alfrica 226.7 2327 (20.4) a9 247.1 240.6 8.5 8.7
Europe 155.0 152.8 2.0) {1.2) 1572.0 154.0 10.1 1.9
Group services 100.3 627 (22.5) 22.3) 1228 850
Africa 59.8 304 (19.5) (26.7) 793 57.1
Europe 40.5 323 (3.0) 4.4 43.5 219
Total 146212 1 537.¢ (159.8) 293 1781.0 1 508.6 10.5 9.9
Geographical analysis
South Africa 1203.0 11749 (125.4) 46.4 13284 11285 11.6 10.7
Rest of Africa 124.8 Q1.6 (16.5) (16.6) 140.3 108.2 14.1 12.1
Europe 2934 2714 {(18.9) 0.5 3123 2719 64 6.5
Total 1621.2 15379 (159.8) 293 1781.0 1 508.6 10.5 28

For segmental purposes. Beveap is now Included under Plastics {(Africa) and not Metals (Africa). Comparative figures have been
restated. The restatement resulied in R44.3 million in profit from operations in 2006 being reclassified from Metals to Plastics.
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shareholders’ analysis
at 3¢ September 2007

MAJOR INDIVIDUAL HOLDINGS

According fo the register of shareholders as at 30 September 2007, the following Number of % of fotal
shareholders controlled 5% or more of the issued ordinary share capital: shares held issued shares
Allan Gray Investment Councit 175 526 791 26.76
Remgro Limited 78 096 594 11.91
Public Investment Corporation 49 421 523 7.53
Saniam Investment Management 45 738 060 497
Nampak Products Limited 45 070 855 6.87
Nominee disclosures
To the best of the directors’ knowledge, having made enquiries of nominees and other
registered holders of Nampak's ordinary shares, the following porties held beneficial interests
of more than 5% of such ordinary shares:
Industricl Partnership Investments (Remgro Limited) 78 096 494 1.9
Public Investment Corperation 49 421 523 7.83
Narmpek Products Limited (treasury shares) 45070 855 6.87
Allan Gray Limited 41 295 510 6.30
Number of Number of % of total
Ordinary sharehelder spread analysis at 30 Sapterbert 2007 sharaheldets sharas held issued shares
Public 7 558 499 263 252 76.11
Non-public 22 156 708 809 23.89
i Analysis of non-public ordinary shareholders
Industrial Partnership Investments (Remgro Limited) 1 78 095 694 12
Nampak Products Limited (freasury shares) 1 45 070 855 6.87
Trustees of the Nampak Black Management Trust 1 27 369 195 417
Trustees of the Nampak Employee Share Trust 1 5610000 0.86
Directors and associates 17 510 764 c.o8
Trustees of the Nampak 1979 Share Purchase Trust 1 51 301 G.01
Preferred crdinary shareholdst spread analysis at 30 September 2007
Non-public 1 31857 195 100.00
Anatlysis of non-public preferred ordinary shareholders
Red Coral Investments 23 (Pty) Limited 1 31857 195 100,00
Red Coral Investments 23 (Pty) Limited is owned as follows:
Aka Capital (Pty) Limited 18020 232 56.57
Unions: CEPPWAWU and South African Typographical Union 2010116 28.28
Broad-based women’s grouping (National Aftican Women's Allience) 321789 10.10
Nampaok black non-executive directors ) 608 949 505
6% curmnulative preference shareholder spread analysis of 30 September 2007
Public 60 181937 45.48
Non-public 3 218063 54.52
Analysis of non-public 6% cumulative preference sharehelders
Sharehelding in excess of 10% of the &% preference share capital 4 259 631 64.91
6.5% cumulative preference sharsholder spreacd analysis at 30 September 2007
Pubiic 21 32 4643 32.64
Non-public 4 67 357 67.35
Analysis of non-public 6.5% cumulative preference shareholders
Shareholding in excess of 10% of the 6.5% preference share capital 4 67 357 67.36
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sustainability report

Corporate social investment and sustainability
committee

Cverall policy for corporate social investment is provided by a committee which
considers and dllocates resources to appropriate projects. The committee meets
four times per annum o monitor and review progress on the group’s social
investment and sustaincbility objectives. It is chaired by the human resources
director of our Africa region and members include senior managers from our
group corporate administration. A non-executive director alse sits on the

committee.

Economic impact

Countries of operation

The group has 90 cperations throughout South Africa ond in a further 11 countries

on the African continent. It also has 26 operations in eight countries in Europe.
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Corporate sustainability is a business approach that creates
long-term shareholder value by embracing the opportunities
and managing risks from economic, environmental and

socidal developments.

Learners from
Corityn Primary

School in the

KwoZulu-Natal

Midlands buitd

a solar cooker as

one of their eco-

schools prajects
Group value added statement

2007 2006

Rm Rm

Revenue 17 014 15 262
Cost of raw materials, goods and services 10 645 § 560
Value added 6369 5702
Inceme from investments 7 5
Wealth created 6376 5707
Distribution of weatth
Employees (salaries, wages and other benefits) 3397 312]
Government (income tax) 435 653
Proviclers of capital {interest) 202 123
Shareholders (dividends) 579 505
Re-investment 1763 1306
Wealth distributed 6374 5707
Daalirgs with government
Gross contributions to government
Company taxes 356.8 5373
RSC levies - 18.0
Rates and toxas 371 41.0
Customs and excise duties 14.5 443

408.4 640.6
Other government grants 22 33
Charged agcinst group income 406.2 637.3
Collected on behalf of government 1259.6 13266
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{continued)

Economic transformation

The Nampak group is commifted to broad-based black economic empowerment
and suppors the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act and the
Department of Trade ond Industry’s codes of good practice and scorecard,
Nampak published ifs own Black Economic Empowerment Charter in 2004 and

progress on meeting its objectives is dedlt with in this report,

Ownership

Qur Charter states that Nompok 5 1o be regarded as o block-empowered
cempany by 2014 from an ownership perspective, as measured by an accredited

rating agency.

The progress made as ot September 2007 in achieving this objective is detailed

hereunder.

At lecst 5% of the shares in the group are held by its South African employees and

§% by a broad-based BEE consortium. This consortium comprises:

¢ Aka Capital, which is chaired by Reuel Khoza, a leading businessman and one
of the group’s black ncn-executive directors;

@ Two of Nampak's other black non-executive directors:

# The National African Women's Alliance which is a grouping of African women
with grassrocts representation in all nine provinces in South Africa;

e The Chemical, Energy, Paper. Printing, Wood and Allied Workers Union
{CEPPWAWL) which organises the majority of uniocnised workers in Nampak;
and

# The South African Typographical Union (SATU) which is also active in Nampaek.

Two operating divisions are partly owned by black sharehelders, being Disaki
Cores & Tubes in which 30% of the shares are owned by Seswiki Investrnents {Piy)
Limited and Interpak Books in which 25.1% of the shares are owned by Crosspoint
Trading 45 (Pty) Limited.

i ~
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Management control

Non-executive directors

At board level there are four black non-executive directors one of whom is femnale.
This is 40% of the total and meets the target set for 2014,

Employment equity

The group is fully compliant with the Employment Equity Act and the required

reports were submitted fimeously to the Department of Labour,

Ernployment equity committees, which include management and labour
representatives, are funciional in ¢l the group’'s operations and divisional
managing directors, together with the human resources director for Aflica are
responsible for the setfting of employment equity targets taking into account the
overall group objectives, The group’s senior executives’ incentive is discounted for

failure jo achieve these targets.

The status of employment equity amongst the group’s management is shown in

the table below:

Group 2007 Target
African managers 25% 24%
Block managers 45% 44%
Fermale managers 21% Notarget

The trends In the group’s management staff complement are shown in the

charts.

The targets in owr BEE Charter have been set at 56% for all block managers and
20% for black female managers by 2014,
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{continued)

Skills development and training

The table below ilksstrates the various programmes in place to develop skills of all
levels throughout the group:

Programme Target group Candidates % Black
Foundation Development
Programme Production & clerical 22 77
Tornorrow’s Leadership Supervisors & first-line
Programme managemant 42 76
Management Development
Programme Middle management 18 35
Graduate Recruitment &
Development Progremme Entry-level graduates 24 100
Sales Acumen Development  Sales managers &

representatives 30 50
Manufacturing Techniques Production & manufacturing &0 81

Our Foundation Development Programme ("FDP) is designed for shop-floor
production and clerical employees with leadership potential to enable them to

maove into supervisory roles,

Supervisors and first-line managers or other skilled employees who have potential
to advance to management positions otfend the Tomorow’s Leadership
Programme (*TOM").

Our Management Development Programme ("MDP Plus™) s aimed af high-

potential middle managers.

The Graduate Recruiiment and Development Programme ("GRDP”) addresses
the skills shortage in engineering, finance, information technology and maorketing.
It s a two-yeor programme during which young graductes are placed in jobs af
divisions ond complete an accdemic course involving individual and group
assignments. Successful candidates are oifered permanent employment In the

group. The retention rate in this programme is a competitive 80%.

Cur Sales Acurmen Development and Manufacturing Techniques programmes
are aimed atf sales and manufacturing professionals to improve their overall

skills levels.

In oddition to the abovementioned specific programmes we conduct extensive

training, including industrial relations. productivity improvement, health and safety,

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPORT 2007

HR drector
Afnca ond
Skona Nelow,
thrarion at
Swelhie
Senior High
Scheol at
Umlazi This
school won
the award

for the best o
ibrary n
KwoZliu-Natal

A A A A A A A A A A a



first aid and fire-fighting to nome but a few, Since 2001 we have recelved refunds

totalling RA7 milion from the Department of Labour as a proportion of the skills
development levy. Nampak continues to play a significant role in the Media,
Advertising, Printing, Publishing and Packaging — Sector Education ond Training
Authority (MAPPP-SETA} by ensuring that appropriate training is provided to the
incustry. Two senior Nampak managers serve on the executive committee of this

crganisation.

A total of 4 247 South African employees, of whom 81% are black, atfended a

range of occupational training courses during 2007 as shown in the table below:

African 1998
Coloured 761
Asian 488
White 800
Total 4247

Social impact
Responsibility to society

The group has a target of allocating up to 1% of its profit after tax to corporate

social investment. During 2007 R7.6 milion was spent in the following broad

categories:

Category ROO0D's
Education 3385
Business Trust 842
Heqlth and welfare 877
Ervironment 1313
Crime prevention 1000
Charities 13

7568

Education - R3.4 million

Cur bursary scheme, which hos been operafing successfully for many years,

provides assistance o high-potential learmers to confinue their education at
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(continued)

tertiary institutions. Being a manufacturing crganisation we focus mainly on those
lecrners wha are studying towards accounting. science and engineering degrees
and endeaveour as far as possible to offer them employment opportunities in the

group, A total of 44 bursars are currently involved in the scheme.

Our schookparinering programme is now in its sixth year. The schools chosen for

this inifiative are carefully selected and ore in areas close fo our factories and

Llearners in

where it is likely that our empleyess’ children will attend. the tbrary at
Luhiaza High
We are presently partnering the following schools: Schoot at

Khayetsha
negar
Gauteng Cape Town
* Amogelang Secondary School at Soshanguve, near Pretorla
e Lebohang Secondary School af Boipetong, near Vanderbijlpark

& Lethutwazi Comprehensive Secondary School at Vosloonus, near Boksburg

KwaZulu-Natal

¢ Swellhle Senior High School at Umlazi, near Durban. This school recently won the

award for the best library in KwaZulu-Notal

Westarn Cape
¢ Belhar High School at Belhar, necr Bellvile

¢ Luhlaza High Scheol at Khayelitsha, near Cape Town. This schooi recently won
the award for the best library in Western Cape.

Improvement plans are formulated in conjunction with the school governing
bodies and may vary dependlng on the particular needs of each school. These
plans may include:

e Improving teachers’ maths and science credentials:

* Equipping laboratories and libraries:

® Employing qualified librarlans;

® Providing computer centres;

* Providing administrative infrastructure and medern teaching gids;

® Enhancing security and general infrastructure;

& Ervironmental education, and

¢ Awarding bursaries to the top students In maihematics, science and

accounting.
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A Nampak employee from a factory in close proximity to each school is tasked
with maintaining regular contact with the school management and members of
the corporate social investment and sustainability committee regularly meet with

the school governing bodies to review academic results and future needs.

The Education Quality Improvement Partnerships (CEQUIP*) programme, which is
run by the National Business Initiative ("NBI"), has been implemented at the two
schools which we helped buikd under the auspices of the Nelson Mandela
Foundation. These schools are Dan Tloome Primary Schoot in ikageng, near
Potchefstroom and Makgake Primary School in Temba, near Hammanskraa!, This
programme focuses on improving the overall management and capacity of the
schools and assists them in developing into strong and viable education institutions

with sound and sirategically designed school development plans.

We have established a close relationship with the School of Mechanical, Industrial
and Aeronautical Engineering at the University of the Witwaterstand. Qur
sponsorship of this faculty entails engoging with the University to increase the
supply of graduate engineers, the provision by the University of tallored services

and processes and minimising our risks of recruitment.

Business Trust = RO.? million

We continued our support of the Business Trust which is a partnership between

business and government to stirmulate employment, build capacity and enhance

frust. Since its inception in 1999, over 140 companies in South Africa have

committed more than R1.5 billon to the Business Trust. Its main priorities cre to

support the following:

¢ The drive for growth and investment in priority sectors of tourism and business
process ocutsourcing;

+ The Expanded Pubtic Works Piogramme and the development of the poverty
nodes in order to respond to the needs of the poor; and

® Programmes that help build capacity through skills acquisiion and the

development of infrastructure.
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(continued)

Health and weifare - R0.¢ million

Qur Thembalethu (Our Hope) programme which supplies Nampak-manufactured
Cuddlers disposable diapers to homes which care for babies affected by AIDS is
now in its fifth year and during this time we have donated almost six milion

diapers.,

Hospices provide unigue care to the terminally ill and we continued to provide
financial assistance to the following hospices:

* Brotherhood of St Gerard in Mandini;

® St Bernard’s Hospice in East Londor;

® St Francis Hospice in Port Elizabeth;

¢ Community Care Project in Pietermarltzburg;

¢ Highway Hospice in Durban;

¢ 5t Luke’s Hospice in Cape jown; and

# Hospice in Mofolo, Soweto.

Environment - R1.3 million

Eco-Schools

The Eco-Schoots programme is designed to encourage curriculum-based action
for a hedlthy environment. it is an internationally-recognised award scheme that
accredits schools that make a commitment to continuously improving their
school's environment. Eco-Scheols is o programme of the Foundation for
Envirenmenital Education and the South African programme was taunched in
May 2003.

The group helped infiate this programme which was implemented by the Wildlife
and Environment Society of South Africa ("WESSA™) in partnership with WIWF-SA,

In 2007 aimost 80D schools were registered with the programme and the following
flustrates the successes achieved thus far:

® 308 schools earned their flags in 2005:

® 17 schools have retained their flags since inception;

* 28 have been awarded their flags three times;

® 126 have been awarded their flogs twice: and

* 29] have been awarded their flag for the first time.,
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Used beverage cans

Collect-g-Can, which collects and recycles used beverage cons, has been
running an annual schools” competition since 1993, the primary objective of which
is to promote environmental responsibility and education amongst children.
Schools not only generate funds from the cans they sell to Collect-a-Can but alse
have an opportunity of winning cash prizes which can be used to improve their
facilities. Nampak continued its co-spensorship of this important project in which

over 700 schoois participated in 2007.

Crime prevention — R1 million

With high levels of crime affecting all spheres of life in South Africa, we increcsed
our support of Business Against Crime which is seeking closer co-operation
with government in the fight against crime. The main objectives of this

intervention are:

1. Maintain the Business Against Crime public/private parinership befween

government and business in fighting crime in South Africa.

2, Develop and support a mutually-ogreed vision between government and

business on issues of crime.
3. Influence government and business strategy. policy and priorities.
. Transfer business skills to government without creating a dependency.

. Drive working solufions that deliver resufts.

o o

. Demonstrate that business is committed to the fight against crime.

Various other worthy causes - R0.1 million

We contributed to many worthy causes in 2007, including:

* African Enterprise - an interdenominational, multicuttural ministry thot seeks fo
mobilise local communities to bring about spiritual, social and economic
fransformation;

e The Starfish Foundation which suppoerts a number of projects aimed af the
uplifiment of disodvantaged children;

® Knights of Da Gama which in turmn supported The Guild Cottage, a home for
abused women and children, MIQ. a pre primary school in Eldorado Park and
Nazareth House, a home for the aged and for babies suffering fram HIV/AIDS;
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(continued)

® Johannesburg Child Welfare Society, one of the leading child/family service
delivery agencies in South Africa:

e liftle Eden, a home for persons with mental handicaps;

¢ NBl Ecstern Cape Business Government Inititive which aims to provide
systematic support to the Eastemn Cape provincial government to speed up
service delivery and infrastructure development;

¢ kageng Cld Age Relief Fund - this organisation, which wos established in 1984,
provides care to the elderly and disabled In Tshepiso. Bophelong, Boipatong
and Sebokeng which are areas in which some of our employees based at our
factory in Vanderbijlpark live;

® 5A Federation for Mental Health: and

® Centre for Language and Hearing Impaired Children.

Responsibility to employees

Nampak has over 15 000 empioyees as shown in the chart alongside.

HIV and AIDS

We have a comprehensive HIV and AIDS awareness programme and 78% of our
Scuth African employees have now undergone voluntary counseling and testing
on site. The current prevalence rate Is below that reported by other major
manufacturing organisations in South Africa and we continue to encourage all

our employees t¢ come forward for festing.

Occupational health and safety

The group complies with the Cccupational Health and Safety Act, At our factories,
safety.health and environment committess are in place to assess and reduce the
impact on the environment of our manufacturing activities and to ensure the
safety of our employees. We unfortunately have to report on accidents in fwo of
our operations in which two of our employees were tragically killed, There were
alo eight incidents in which fingers were amputated due to employees not
adhering to laid down safety procedures. The disabling injury frequency rate was
less than 2.5.
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People development

We continue to focus on the identification, development and retention of our

people to ensure that we have appropriate leadership and specialist talent.

Succession planning reviews are conducted regularly by the executive committee
to identify employees with potential for advancement. Management training
programmes are reviewed fo ensure that they are dligned with the group’s

strategies.

interacting with our employees

The group has o varlety of participative structures at different levels for dealing
with issues which affect employees. These include national framework agreements
with all three major trade unions, CEPPWAWLU, NUMSA and SATU associated with
the group in South Africa, collective bargaining mechanisms, safety committees,
employment equity and skills development committees and other parficipative

forums.

During the past year we developed an intranet sife which provides employees
with pertinent information about the group on a daily basls. We also produce an
in-house newspaper Nampak News three times per annum which deals with

company issues and news in more depth.

in our European operations we hove collective labour and voluntary recognition

agreements,

These structures are designed o achieve good employer and employee
relafionships through effective sharing of relevant information. the identification
and resolution of conflict as well as consultation by management with

employees.

Environmental impact

Environmental impact assessments

All major new projects. maojor additions and extensions undertaken in the group

are preceded by full environmental impact assessments.
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Asbestos

We undertook further replocements and encapsulations of the asbestos materials
at our owned factories in 2007 and will complete the project in 2008 at a total cost
of some R10 million. We also completed an evaluation of premises leased by the
group and will be liaising with the landlords to resclve any asbestos-related

problems.

Emissions/Waste disposal

Our safety, health and environment commiftees are responsible for identifying any
emissions or waste disposal practices that do not conform to acceptable
standards. We have a formalised environmental policy which is aligned to
130 14000,

Food and pharmaceutical standards

We adhere to several food-related safety and guality standards including:
¢ Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP);
* European Union directives on materials in contact with food; and

# British Retail Consortium (BRC) standards on manufocturing and supplying food
packaging.

Recycling

Packaging is a vital compenent of medern living providing protection, portability,
presetvation and convenience as well as attracting consumers to our customers’
products. It is, however, ako a visible part of the waste-stream and often gets

blamed for much of the fitter found in streets and in the countryside.

As Africa’s largest packaging company we are acutely aware of the impact that
our products can have on the environment in which we live and ore consequently

directly involved in many recycling initiatives including;
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Metals

Collect-a-Can, which is a jeint venture between Nampak and Arceior Mittal,
collects and recycles used beverage cans. From a recovery rate of 18% in 1993,
when Collect-a-Can was established, to 67% in 2007, South Africa is a world ieader

In the recovery of used tinplate beverage cans.

Glass

Cullet forms an integral part of the menufacturing process of glass tottles,
Nampak is a founder sponsor of the Glass Recycling Company which collects

25% of used glass botfles.

Paper

The overall recyciing rate of paper in South Africa varies between 65% and 70% of
waste generated, Nampaok collects and recycles some 170 000 fons of paper
waste per annum which s used to produce tissue wadding and packaging
papers at our paper mills. This will iIncrease fo some 220 000 fons once our new

brown paper mill is fully operational in 2009.

in Europe we are a member of Pro-Carton, which is an organisation that promotes

soundness and cost-effectiveness of folding cartons.

Plastics

We continue 1o parficipate in the Enviromark and other initiatives driven by the
South African Plastics Federation. Nampak Polycyclers converts some 6 000 fons

per annum of recycled polyethylene into crates, drums, refuse bins ond buckets.
In South Africa approximately 50 000 collectors receive an income from the
various collection and recycling initiatives across the different packaging material
types.

In Eurcpe we are currently investing £5 milion in a recycling project that wil
collect and use up to 30% of post-consumer milk bottles as row material for

new botiles.
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corporate governance

Nampaok's board of directors Is committed to ensuring that the group adheres to

high standards of corporate governance in the conduct of its business.

Nampak complies with all the requirements for corporate governance of the JSE
Limited and in the year under review applied all the principtes of the Code of
Corpoiate Practice and Conduct contained in the 2002 King Report, except as

set out in this report.

Board of directors

Nampak has a unitary board structure which comprises three execufive and
ten non-executive directors. Mr PL Campbell refired as a non-executive director
on 31 May 2007 and Mrs CWN Molope was appointed a non-exacutive director
on 1 June 2007. All the non-executive directors are independent with the
exception of Messrs RJ Khoza and MH Visser. The chairman, Mr T Evans, became
independent by definition on 1 October 2006. The board's responsibilities are
contained in a formal charter and include the following:

¢ {0 review and opprove corporate strategy:

* to approve and oversee major capital expenditure, acquisitions and disposals;

* to monitor operational performance ond mangagement;

* 1o review annuol budgets and business plans;

® to identify and monitor key risk areos;

® o ensure that appropriate control systems are in place for the proper
management of risk. finoncial control and compliance with all laws ong
regulations;

* to approve the appointment and replacement, where necessary, of the chief
execulive officer and other senior executives and to oversee succession
planning;

¢ to approve the nomination of directors and to monitor the performance of all
the directars, including the chairman and the chief executive officer; and

® 10 oversee the company's disclosure and communication process.

The positions of chief executive officer and chairman are separated. with

responsibilities divided betwsen them for matters offecting the board ond

management.

Ay
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The board meets at least six fimes per annum and the details of attencance in
financial year 2007 are provided at the end of this report, The boord is responsible
for the strategic direction of the group, while also maintaining control over all
material matters affecting the group including operational performance, risk
management and the selection of directors. All service contracts with executive
directors may be terminated on notice periods not exceeding 12 months. All
directors are subject fo retirement by rofation and re-election by shareholders
every three years. other than the chief executive officer during the pericd of his
service contract, The re-agppointment of non-executive directors is not automnatic.
The appointments of new directors are subject fo confirmation by shareholders
at the first annual general mesting after their appeintment. Biographical details of

all the directors are set out on pages 10 and 11 of this annual report.

There are comprehensive management reporting disciplines in place which
include the preparation of annual budgets by all operating units, The strategic
plan.the group budget, summaries of divisional sales, operating profit and capital
expenditure are reviewed and approved by the board. Resulis and the financial
status of divisions are reported on af board meetings against approved budgets
and compared to the prior year. Frofit prejections, forecast cash flows and working

capital ond borrowing levels cre also reported on at these meetings.

All directors have qccess to the advice and services of the company secretary. In
appropriate clrcumstancas they may seek independent professional advice
about the affairs of the company af the company’s expense. The director
concerned would inificlly discuss and clear the matter with the chairman or the

company secretary unless this would be inappropriate.

An orientation and induction programme for directors is in place. The chairman of
the board is responsible for monitoring the performance of each individual
director, while the chairman of each committee is respeonsible for monitering the
performance of the relevant committee and ifs individual members. A formal
evalugtion of the board was carried out during the year with the assistance of an

external consultant.
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(continued)

Board committees

The beard has established four formal committees which are dealt with below: in
addition the board decided on 27 September 2007 to establish a tronsformation
committee. The terms of reference and compodition of the committee will be

finalised within the first half of the 2008 financial year.

Remuneration and nominations committee

Members:

T Evans {chairmen)
DA Hawton

MM Katz

ML Ndlovu

Remuneration and nominations are combined inte a single committee, the
remuneration and nominations committes, The committee is chaired by the
independent chairman of the compony and in addition comprises three
independent directors, The committee meets at least three times per year. The
meetings are cttended by the chief executive officer, but he does not participate

in discussions regarding his own remuneration.

The committee met formally on three occasions during the financial year.
It operates within written terms of reference which were adopted on
10 September 2002,

The terms of reference provide direct authority to the committee to consider
contractual arangements of executives including general remuneration policy.
The committee is authorised to approve executive remuneration that is fair and
competitive at the commencement of each financial year, after taking into
account the business sirafegy and talent retention. In addition, the committee
considers the structure, size and composition of the board, succession and

retention.

The committes dlso reviews the executive recommendations for non-executive
directors’ fees and committee fee structures against market dota before
subrissions fo the board and finally shareholders at the annual general mesting

for aporoval.
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Audit commifttee

Members:

RY Smither (appeinted chairman on 1 January 2007)
T Evans

MM Katz

CWN Molope (appointed on 1 June 2007)

RA Williams

(Note: Mr PL Campbell resigned as chairman of the committee on 31 December
2006 and ¢s a member of the committee on 31 May 2007 following his refirement

from the board. Mr T Evans resigned as a memer on 1 Cctober 2007).

The qudit commitiee is chaired by an independent director of the company and
in oddition comprises four independent, non-executive directars. Mr Smither was
appointed as chairman of the committee on 1 January 2007. The committee
meets atb least three times per year and the meetings are also attended by
appropriate  executives including the chief executive officer and the chief

financici officer.

The committae operates within written terms of reference which are reviewed
and updated reguiarly. The responsitility of the commitiee includes the review
and evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal controls of the group (with
reference to the findings of both the Internal and external auditers), the nature,
scope and performance of internal audit, the consideration of the appeintment
of the external auditor, the review of the nature and scope of the extarnal audit.
review of the process for financial reporting and monitoring of compliance with
laws and regulation, material pending litigation, material defalcctions, risk
management, insurance covers, the ethics policy of the group. important

accounting issues and specific disclosures in the financial statements,

The internal and external ouditors report to the committee at each meeting on
the resutts of their work and they also have unrestricted access fo the chairman

and other members of the commitiee.

A risk management committee has been formed as a committee of the board
reporting through the audit committee and it provides assistance in the

identification, assessment, managing and monitoring of risks facing the group.
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Risk management committee

Members:

TN Jacebs {(chairman)

GE Bortolan

N Cumming

NP O’Brien

KM Kathan (appointed on 15 May 2007)
5 Meisel

RV Smither (appointed on 26 July 2006)

(Note: Mr PL Campbell resigned as a member of the committee on
31 May 2007).

The risk management commitiee operates within written terms of reference. It was
formed in the 2003 financict year as a committee of the board, but reports to the
board through the audit committee. The committee meets at least twice per year
in the week before the meetings of ihe agudit committee. The committee is choired
by the chief financial officer. since it performs primarily an executive function. The
committee also comprises the chairman of the audit committes, the chief
executive officer and other senior executives of the group, The primary function of
the committee is jo establish and maintain a common understanding of the risk
environment, to identify and agree the risk profile of the group, fo co-ordinate the
group’s risk management efforts and to report via the audit committee to the
board on the risk management work undertaken.

Corporate social investment committee

Members:

FV Tshigi {chairman)
N Bengani

5SS Dennig

GA Hayward

LD Kidd

KM Mokoape

MA Otte
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The cormmittee meets at least four times per year. It is chaired by the human
resources director: Nampak Africa Region and also comprises an independent
director and senior managers of the group.

The function of the committee is dealt with on page &0 of the Sustainability

Report.

Risk management

Accountability

The focus of risk management is on identifying, assessing, managing, menftoring

and reporting material forms of risk acress the group.

The board is accountable for the total process of risk management and inferna!
control, Its policy on risk management encompasses all significant business
risks to the group including strategic, financiol, operational,  fechnology and

complionce risks.

The risk environment in which the business operctes is ever-changing. Each level of
management, frcm the board of directors downwards, is responsible for regular
appraisels of the risk environment in which they operate, and to ensure that
significant risks are identified, assessed, managed, and reported on.

The risk management framework defines the company’s risk mancgement
standards and procedures, which in turn guide how significant risks are identified,
assessed, managed and repoarted on, and are based on the requirements of the
King Il Code of Corporate Practices and prevailing best practice. The group’s risk
management framework is aligned o the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
("COS0Q") enterprise risk management framawaerk,

Structure

Group internal audit is responsible for facilitating the risk management and
assurance processas ccross the group. The internal audit programme is continuously

aligned with the resulis of the risk management programme.

Risk assessment

Formal risk assessments are completed annually af each division and group
support function using a proprietary risk management software and siructured

methodology. The group confinuously benchmarks its enterprise risk management
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(continued)

processes with prevailing best proctices and enhances and aligns them

therewith.

The risk assessment methodology used evaluates the possible impact of the risk
assessed, and formalises the mechanisms and measures used to monitor, manage
ond control those risks. These are reviewed at group level through a consolidated

risk register.

The risk assessmeni process has determined the estimated value o risk of the
group’s top risks worldwide. The group’s main residual risks (which are the risks
after factering in the implemented controls) identified by this process, as ot
30 September 2007, listed alphabetically are:

o Currency volatility

¢ Effective and continuous supply of electricity

¢ Environmental management

Global procurement frends
# \nbound supply chain dependency
¢ Market dynamics

® Reputation

Retention and development of human capital

Risk response and assurance

A group-wide system of internal centrol is used to manage significant risks. This
provides reasonable assurance that the company’s business objectives will be

met, even in the event of g disastrous incident impacting on activities.

Risks are further controlled and managed by group policies limiting exposure
in specific areas such as finance, treasury, human rescurces, marketing,
procurement, quality assurance, as well as external and internal insurance
programmes. Furthermore, risk and centrol audits of all plonts are carried out
annually to check complionce against written standards and the occupational

heglth and scfety requirements,

The group seeks to maintain a sound system of infernal control, based on ifs
policies and guidelines, in all material associates and joint ventures. Where this is
not possible, the responsible directors seek assurance that significant risks are

being managed in an acceptable manner.
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Accountability and audit

The directars confirm that they are satisfied that the group has adequate resources
to continue in business for the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to

adopt the going-concern basis for preparing the financial statements.

The annual financial statemenis have been prepared in accordance with
Internctiongl Financiat Reporting Stangards. They are based on appropriate
accounting policies which have been consistently applied and are supporfed by
reasonable and prudent judgements and consistent estimates. Adeguate
accounting records and internal controls and systerns have been maintained fo
provide reasonable assurance on the integrity and reliability of the financial
statements and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability for
the group’s assets, Such controls are based on established policies and procedures
and are implemented by frained personnel with an appropriate segregation of

duties.

The effectiveness of internal controls and systems is ronitored through the utilisation
by management of internal control checklists, formal reporting of material

defalcations and other losses and the use of an internal audit deparfment.

The internal audit department is an independent appraisal function which reviews
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal centrols and the systerns which
support them. This includes controls and systems at the cperating entifies and in
relation to business and financial risks which could have an adverse effect on the
group. Weaknesses Identified by the internal auditors are brought to the attention
of the directors and management. The head of the Internal audit department
reports directly to the chairman of the audit committee, but is responsible
administratively to the chief financial officer. He may be dismissed or appointed
only with the concurrence of the audit ccmmitiee. The purpose, authority and

responsibility of the infernal audit depariment is formally defined.

The external auditors provide an independent assessment of internal controls and
systerns through the audit work that they perform. They complemnent the work of
the internal auditors and review all internal audit reports on a regular basis. The
external auditors are also responsible for reporting on whether the financial
statements are fairly presented and their report is presented on page 101.

Nothing has come to the aftention of the directors. nor the cttention of the

internal or external auditors, to indicate that any material breakdown in the
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functioning of the abovementioned internal controls and systerns has occurred

during the year under review,

During the year under review the external auditors provided valuabile non-audit

related services to the company including:

Rm
* consultancy services for the implementation of the ERP system .6
* taxation consultoncy services 53
& human resource and other consulting 04

The board has considered the extensive use made of consultaney services from
the external ouditors for the implementation of the ERP system and for taxation
services, but is safisfied that the separation of reporting responsibilities ensures that
the independence of the external auditors is not jeopardised.

Ethics

Nampak's Code of Business Ethics requires all directors and employees 1o act
with honesty and integrity ond fo maintain the highest ethica! standards,
The code dedls with compliance with laws and regulations, conflicts of interest,
relafionships with customers and suppliers, gifts and favours, remuneration,
outside employment, directorships, company funds and property, confidentiality,
company records and communications, competition, insider trading, donations

and sponsorships and employment and labour rights,

Nampak operates Tip Offs Anonymous, which allows callers to report confidentially
on any viokaticns of Nampak's policies and procedures. All disclosures received,
resultant investigations and the outcome thereof are communicoted and

reported to the audit commitiee.

Systems and procedures are in place to monitor and enforce the code and the
directors believe that the requirements of the code have largely been met by
employees,

Price-sensitive information

In accordance with the JSE Limited's guidelines on price-sensitive information, the
company has adopted a policy dealing with the determination of information as
price-sensitive, confidentiality undertakings and discussions with the press,
institutional investers and analysts, Only the ¢hairman, the chief executive officer,
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the chief financici officer and the investor relations manager may discuss matters
which may involve prica-sensitive information with third parties. The company
follows a "closed period” principle, during which pericd employees and directors
are prohibited from dealing in the company’s shares.

The usual closed pericds endure from approximately the middle of March until the
publication in May of the interim results for the six-month pericd ended 31 March
and from approximately the middle of September unfil the publication in November
of the financial results for the year ended 30 September, Additional periods may be

declared “closed” from time fo time if circumstancas warrant this action.

Attendance at board and committee meetings during
the year ended 30 September 2007

Corpoiate Remune- Risk
social ration and manage-
Audit investrnent  nominations ment
Board committee | commiftee = committee =~ committee
A B B A 8 A B A B
GE Baortolan & & 3 3 3 3 2 2
PL Campball* 4 4 3 2 1
N Cumming & & 2 1
T Evans [ 6 3 3 3 3 2 2
DA Hawton ] 4 K] 2
N Jacabs 6 ] 3 2 2
MMM Katz 5 6 3 3 3
RJ Khoza 6 4
KM Mokoope*** 6 2 3 3
CWN Molcpe™* 2 1
ML Ndlowvu & 6 3 2
RV Srnither 6 3 3 3 2 2
MH Visser 6 6
RA Wiliams [ 5 3 3

Column A indicates the number of meetings held curing the period the director
was a member of the beard and/or commitiee.

Column B indicates the number of meetings atiended during the pericd the
director was a memper of the board and/or committee.

*Refired with effect on 31 May 2007,
** Appointed with effect from | June 2007.
1 eave of absence was approved by the board for extended studies in the USA.
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remuneration report

This report of the remuneration and nominations committee has been approved

by the board. The associated tables of directors’ remuneration, their pension

entilements, and the cwards made in ferms of the long-term incentive plans,

including the share appreciation plan and performance share plan, have been
audited by Deloitte & Touche, and should be read in conjunction with this
report.

The remuneration and nominations committee

The remuneration and nominations committee (“remcom”) is a committee of the

board and usually meets three times each year. Attendance at these meetings is

shown cn page 83. The role of the remcom includes the following mandates:

# To consider general remunerafion policy for directors and senior executives:

¢ To approve remunergtion packages for directors:

* To approve managerial incentive bonus scheme structures, group financial
targets and directors’ individuat performance criteria;

* To recommend the frust deeds for the share schemes to shareholders and to
approve allocations within the approved terms;

¢ To approve executive service contracts;

* fo review recommendations from the executives for non-executive director fees
and to submit these to the board;

¢ To consider the balance ond effectiveness of the board. including its structure,
size ond compoesition;

* To consider succession plans fo ensure sufficient depth to meet manpower
requirements; and

¢ To review the company’s achievement in respect of employment equity and
skills retention programmes. This role will move to the transformation commities
during 2008 once it has been formed.

The minutes of these meetings are circulated to the directors, The remcom is
entifled to use external consultants to seek advice on certain matters, ond to this
end, appropriate experts have advised the remcom during the year.

PricewaterhouseCoopers have advised on executive and non-executive directors’
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remuneration and the long-term incentfive remuneration structures. Hay Group,
Deloitte Consulting and Global Remuneration Solutions have proviged benchmarks
of pay levels for both executive and non-executive remunerotion. No other
services have been provided by these crganisations. The chief executive officer
attends the remcom meetings, except when his remuneration is discussed, and

provides input 1o the remcom regarding the remuneration of his direct reports.

Members of the remuneration and nomingtions committee

Membership criteria of the remcomn arg set out in the terms of reference and the
current members, who are considered by the board as being appropriately
independent, are:

& MrT Evans (chairman)

s Mr DA Hawton

* Mr MM Katz

o Mr ML Ndlovu

Whilst the remcom is responsible for nominations, it will be chaired by the group
chairman with an appropriate balance provided by cther independent non-

executive directors.

Changes to remuneration policy during the year

The component within the short-term incentive linked te individual performance
targets has been reduced from 40% to 30% of guaranteed package for directors

for 2008, with a commensurate increase in the financial target component.

Remuneration philosophy

Non-executive directors

The board considers and recommends the fees of the non-eéxecutive directors
after taking info account the duties performed and market trends. Non-executive
directors receive a fixed level of remuneration for their services based on their
participation in board meetings and on other commiftees. The non-executive

directors do not receive incentive bonus payments nor do they participate in any
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{continued)

of the executive share plans. The chief executive officer recommends the non-
executive director fee structures after obtaining input from external consultants
and the group human resource executive regarding market trends and current
pay practices. Consideration is given to any changes in the levels of responsibility
and complexity of the roles when assessing fee recommendations. These
recommendations are then considered by the remcom and the board before
being submitted to shareholders for approval. An increase to the non-executive
directors’ and committees’ fees will be proposed for 2008 and the proposals are
set out on page 98 and in the notice of annual general meeting. The fees earned
by non-executive directors for the financial period under review are outlined in
table 6(a).

Executive directors

The remuneration philosophy is designed to support the group’s strategy of a
performance culture through attraction and retention of the appropriate calibre
of directors and senior executivas. The remuneration components are structured
to create o climate that motivates and supports high levels of performance from
an individual contribution and team perspective. The attraction and retention of
talent requires remuneration structures that are relevant, transparent and
competitive when benchmarked against cppropricte market survey data and
practices in each jurisdiction. The annual cash incentive bonus combined with the
longer-term share plans are structured fo encourage sustainable superior growth
in earnings through the achisvement of challenging performance criteria and
are designed to align longer-term director remuneration directly to growth in
shareholder wedalth. The remcom aims to place an appropriate balance in the
weightings between guaranteed pay and on-risk pay and the aim s to increase
the on-risk pay compenent.
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Executive directors’ remuneration

The table below summarises the different elements of the execufive directors

P

remuneraticn packages. further details are provided on pages 88 1o 96:

Remureration
component Basis for determination Delivery
Guaranteed ¢ Based on market median considening ® Paid monthty in cash,
package the size and complexity of the role. and includes cash value
» Cerlain directors, residing in South of benefit payments such
Africa, are responsible for operational s pension and medical,
roles offshore and receive offshore ® Annual review af
reruneration for these roles. yearend.
Incentive » Reward directors and senior s Pgid annually in cash.
bonus management for the achievement of ® Annual review at
financial growth, yearend.
* Maximum potential capped at 120%
of guaranteed package for chief
executive officer and 100% for other
executive directors.
» Individual performance targets are set
to a maximumn of 30% of guaranteed
package.
+ The balance is based on group
fincncial targets.
Performance ® Relaase of the shares is conditional ® Delivered in shares.
share pian upon the group achieving specific » 2006 allocation subject
perormance torgets. to the achievement of a
® Alignment with shareholder objectives. total shareholder return
* Three fo five year vesting. perfarmance condition.
# Future allocations will
include total shareholder
return and normalised
headling eamings per
share performance
conditions,
Share * Rights conditional upen the group ¢ Delivered in shares.
appreciation achieving specific performance ® Subject fo the
plan criteria, achlevement of
+ Alignment with shareholder objectives. normalised heading
 Motivate and retain talent at eqrnings per share
sxecutive and senior management performance condtions.
levels,
» Three to five year vesting, 10 year
lapse.
Retirernent ® |n line with general market trends in & Annual review af
funding, the jurisdiction of operation. year-end.
assured * Refirement funding for direciors
benefit provided on a defined contribution
cover and basis.
healthcare

* Medical old cover funded by
company on refirement if director was
employed prior to 1 June 1995
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Executfive directors’ remuneration in more detail

Guaranteed package

Director job levels are established with assistance from external consultants after
considering the size and complexity of the role. These are then benchmarked
against the market on an annual basis at the end of each financial yeaor using
comprehensive survey data in related industries for each jurisdiction. This
information, together with an overview of published remuneration, provides the

remcom with a sound base on which to make informed decisions,

The remcom has the authority 1o approve guaranteed packages that will attract
ond retain the comect calibre of falent. Guaronteed package levels are
recommended by the chief executive officer after taking into account individual
experience, current performance and contribution, and future career progressicn.
The targeted level of guaranteed packages for 2008 is the average market
medion of three survey providers, The remcom has discretion to opprove
guaranteed packages below or above the median where specific crkcumstances

merit o differential.

Retrement funding, assured benefit cover and heatthcare form part of the overall
guaranteed peckage in line with general merket frends. The company liability in
respect of retirement funding and assured benefits has been capped for directors
where the company meets the confributions as a fixed percentage of the
guaranteed package. All directors are partficipants in the defined confribution
section of the Nampak Group Pension Fund. The fotal value of the contributions
towards retirement funding is shown separataly in table 1(a) on page 90 of this
report, Directors whe joined the company prior to 1 June 1996 receive post-
refirement medical aid cover funded by the company on refirernent, The costs
of providing for this benefit for directors and other key management have been
included on page 174 of this report. The guaranteed pockages earned by the

directors are reflected in table 1(@) on page %0 of this report.

Certain directors who reside in South Africa are ¢lso responsible for operational
direction and management offshore and are contracted to and paid remuneration
by those structures. These amounts are reflected separately in table 1(a) and are

reviewed gnnually or when director responsibifities change.
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Annual cash incentive bonus

The annual cash incentive bonus scheme is reviewed in detail by the remcom
who bring experience from their participation on other remuneration committees
and board positions This experience,coupled with extensive local and international
market data and trend information, provides sufficient information to set the
financial targets at the commencement of each financial year once the business
strategy has been agreed. The primary focus of the incentfive scheme for the
financial year under review remained to reward directors and senior management
for the achlevement of challenging financial growth. The maximum potential
incentive banus for the year ending 30 September 2007 was capped at 120% of
guaranteed pockage for the chief executive officer and 100% for the other

executive directors.

The annual cash incentive provides for rewards to be paid for achlevernent
against financial performance targets as well as individuol defivery against
idenfified strategic targets. During the pericd under review, the financial
companent under the incentive bonus scheme for directors was based on growth
in normalised headline eamings per share. Nermalised headline earnings per
shore targets exclude any fair value adjustments for financial instruments in order
io remove the volatiity from this non-trading adjustment when measuring

performance.

To continue aligning the group’s employment equity strategy with director
rermuneration, the directors’ incentives eamed will be discounted up to 20% for

non-achievement of employment equity targets,

The other companent of the annual incentive bonus continued to be linked to the
achieverment of individua! performance targets. Individual performance targefs
are reviewed by the remcom and cover strategic initiatives which are considered
by the board to be crucial for future growth and profitability within the group.
Payments under this component are made imespective of performance against

the financial compenent with the remcom holding overriding discretion.

For the financial year under review, the directors achieved the group financial
and employment equity targets. The annual incentive bonus payments that
accrued for the financial period are set out in table 1{a) ond include amounts

earned under the individual performance cormponent,
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The remcom has reviewed the annug! cash incentive scheme for the financial
year ending 30 September 2008 and has decided to retain both components in
the annual ¢ash incentive bonus, namely financiol and individua! performance.
The financiol component for the directors will be based on improvernents in
normalised headline earnings per share. The maximum weighting allocated to
individual performonce criteric will reduce from 40% to 30% of gucranteed
package. The discount factor for non-achievement of employrment equity fargets

will continue to be applied.

Table 1{c): Executive directors’ rermnuneration 2007

Payments

by Company
ofishore contr-  Value of Total
com- bution other Gug- remune-
Basic panies  forefire-  benefits  ranteed Incentive ration
salary {rand} ment (rand) package bonus 2007
Naome (randy  Note ! (rand)  Note 2 (rand) (rand) (rand}
GE Borfolan 2429444 1453160 228 281 — 4310885 4381845 84692730
N Cumming 2 434 790 — 209710 — 2644500 2380050 5024580
THJacons 1707717 259890 146283 — 2113890 19579000 40703%0

Nofa I For fhe purpose of total remunerction, offshore payments have been converted into
rand at the average onnudl exchange rate.

Note 2: Cther benefifs comprise the voiue of leave poy due of refirement, refirement
gratuity ond restraint of frade payment.
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Table 1(b): Executive directors’ remuneration 2006

Payments

by Company
offshore contri-  Value of Total
com- bution cther Gua- remune-
Basic ponies  torefire-  benefils  ranfeed  Incentive ration
salary {rand) ment (rand) package bonus 2006
Name ond)  Note 1 (rond)  Note 2 (rand) {rand) (rand)
GE Bortolan 2462 165 1165199 213448 — 3841012 4031558 7872570
N Cumming 2 279 527 — 196598 — 2476125 2104707 4580832
TN Jaceks® 1 575251 208395 134749 — 1918395 1710000 34628 395
ASlang*t 2090248 — 180905 3944483 6215633 1589803 780543

*Appointed o the Nampak timited boord with effect from 1 October 2005,
**Ratired from the Nampak Limited bocord with effect from 30 September 2006,

Note 1: For the purpose of totai remuneration, offshore payments have been converted infe
rand at the average annual exchange rate.

Note 21 Other benefits comprise the value of leave pay due at refirement, refirement
gratuity and restraint of frade payment.

Share plans
The Nampak 1985 Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme has not been used fo grant awards since 1 December
2004. Details of the options exercised during the year and the options outstanding

are set out in tables 3(a) and 4(a).

The share options granted in previous years have not had any performance

conditions aftached to them.

Performance Share Plan

The performance share plan provides for the grant of perfermance share awards
to executive directors and nominated senior managers on an annual basis,
Release of the shares is conditionalupon the group achieving specific performance
targets which are setf by the board's non-executive directors at commencement
of the three-year performance pericd. In order to align participant reward with
shareholders’ returns and to suppoert retention strategies, one-third of the relecsed

shares vest immediately on the release date, the second one-third a year after
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the release date and the final cne-third two years after the release date or five

years from the original award date.

The first allocation of performance shores was in 2006 and the performance
target for these awards was besed on the group's TSR ranked agoinst the
TSR achievement of the constituent companies of the JSE 40 excluding mining
and resource companies. The resource companies were excluded in order
to improve the relevance of the comparator group. The combinad TSR
performance of certain other listed packaging companies was also inciuded in

the ranking scale.

The maximum value of performance awards is set by the board’s non-exacutive
directors each year cfter saking info account individual performance and
confribution, future succession and retention aspects. External consultants provide
sufficient information to ensure that the awards are market-related and t1at the
performance conditions can be regarded as sufficiently challenging. The

annualised expected value for each director is in line with market benchmaorks.

Following consultation with our external consultants, the perfermance condition
for the next grant will be based on growth in normalisecd headline earnings per
share on a linear basis between 5% and 15% per annum in excess of the Consumer
Price Index over a three-year period and the group’s average TSR ranked against
the TSR achievement of the constituent companies of the JSE 40 excluding mining

companies (which currently comprises 31 comparator companies).

All awards for executive directors and nominated senior executives were made
under the performance share plan in 2006. The next perfermance award
allocations within the overall value limit will be split between the performonce
share plan and the share appreciation plan, with the mgjority of the allocation
under the performance share plan. These awards will be made in Noversber in

order to align the performance periods with annual reporting fo shareholcers.

Share Appreciation Plan

The share appreciction plan crovides the poard’s non-executive directors with an
instrument to retain executive directors and nominated senior executives cs well
as providing the chief executive officer with @ means to attract and retair, talent

at senior management levels within the group.
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Under the share appreciation plan, a number of share appreciation rights will
be pericdically offered fo executive directors, senior executives ond senior
managers. These rights will be conditional upon the group achieving specific
performance criteria relating 1o real normalised headline earnings per share
growth as set by the board’s nen-executive directors. At the end of the three-year
performance period. the number of shares that are released and vest 1o each
participant is determined cgainst achievement of the performance targets. In
order to ¢lign participant reward to that of shareholders and to support retention
sirategles, one-third of the shares can be accessed immediately on the release
date, the secong one-third a year later and the final one-third twe years later or
five years after commencement of the original conditional award.
All vested cwards must be exercised within 10 years of the original conditional

award date.

The performance target for the awards mode to senior managers in 2006 was
based on growth in normalised heacdline eamings per shore relative to the
Consumer Price Index over a three-year pericd of between 3% and 9% per

annum.

Following consultation with our external consultants, the performance condition
for future grants will be based on growth in normalised headline earnings per
share af 2% per annum in excess of the Consumer Price Index over a three-year

pericd. The remcom reviews the targets ot each allocation date.

Table 2: Performance share plan awards 2007

Number of
awards In Performance
conditional shares peried
at 30 September three years
Name 2007 from:
GE Bortolon 315000 1 April 2006
N Cumming 145000 1 April 2006
™ Jacobs 110 000 1 April 2006

The actual share opticns issued until December 2004 and the gains on the options
exercised for the financial period under review for the directors are indicated in

table 3(a). No further allocations will be made under the share option scheme.
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Table 3(a): Directors’ share options 2007

Opfions  Gains on

Balance  exercised options Exercise Balance

at during exercised price Date at

Name 1/10/2006 the year {rand) (cents) exercised 30/C9/2007
GE Bortolan 1364 200 — — — — 1364200
N Cumming 791500 — — — — 791900
TN Jacobs 190 000 — — — — 190 000
T Evans® 1100000 — — — — 1100000

“Share opfions allocated fo Mr T Evans before February 2003 whilst he held an execufive

position,

Table 3¢b): Directors' share options 2006

Cptlions  Gains on
Bolance  exercised options Exercise Balance
at during  exercised price Date at
Name 1/10/2005 the year {rand) {cents) exercised 30/09/2006
GE Bortolan 1424 200 60000 672000 745 28/06/2006 1 L64 200
N Cumming 791 900 - - — — 791900
TN Jacobs 190 000 - - — — 190 000
AS Lang 579 200 42 500 310 250 1060 21/06/2006
87 500 638 750 1060 27/06/2006 249 200
T Evans' 1405 700 164300 1837840 745 28/06/2006
8200 91725 745 28/06/2006
133200 1070395 1060 28/06/2006 110G 000

*Share options aliocated to Mr T Evans before February 2003 whilst he held an exscutive

position.

Participants in the share cption scheme could elect to receive trust loans in terms

of the Nampak 1979 Share Purchase Scheme fromn the share purchase trust to

finance the exercise of share options. All share trust loans have been setiled and

there are no outstanding loans in the share purchase trust, Table 4(a) sets out the

shares held by the directors which were purchased using the loan facility.
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fable 4(a): Summary of directors' share dealings in shares acquired through the
Share Purchase Scheme 2007

Effective Total
Balance seling  costs of
of shares  price of shares

purchased shares soid Gain
Balance using loan during during for the
at facility at year year yeqr

Name 1/10/2006 Purchoses Sales  30/09/2007 (rand) (rand) (rand}

GE Bortolan 59 400 - —_ 59 400 — — —
T Evans 175 500 — — 175 500 — — -

Table 4(b): Summary of directors’ share dealings in shares acquired through the
Share Purchase Scheme 2006

Effective Total
Balonce seling  costs of
of shares  price of shares

purchased shares sold Gain
Balance using loan during during for the
at facility at year yaar year

Name 1/10/2005 Purchases Sales 30/09/2006 (rand) (rand) (rand)

GE Bortolan 66 000 - 4 600 59 400 1613 51810 48 048
TEvans 195 000 - 19 500 175 500 1513 120430 174585
ASLang 53 300 — 5330 — 15.13 41 841 38 802
42970 — 1780 337315 431849

5000 — 16.40 39 250 42 750

Dilution and IFRS expense

The level of diluticn of the share schemes s within the parameters set by the

remcom and approved by shareholders.

The IFRS 2 expense recognised during the yaar In respect of past grants is set out
in table &(a).
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remuneration report

(continued)

Table 5(a). Recognised IFRS 2 expense during 2007

Number af Exoenses
30 September recognised
Name 2007 durirg year
GE Bortolan
Options 1364 200 L67 957
Performance share plan 315000 £28 706
N Curmming
Options 791900 2118
Performance share plan 145 000 289 405
TN Jacobs
Options 190 000 173630
Performance share plan 110 000 219548
T Evans
Options 1100 0630 56180
Table 5(b). Recognised IFRS 2 expense during 2006
Number af Exppenses
30 September recognised
Name 2006 during year
GE Bortolan
Options 1364 200 594916
Performance share plan 315000 106 071
N Cumming
QOptions 791 9006 337 356
Performance share plan 145000 48 366
TN Jacobs
Options 190 000 194 789
Performance share plan 110 060 36 692
T Evans
Options 1100000 111142
AS Lang
Options 449 200 110815
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Service contracts

tndefinite-term contracts based on a notice period between 12 monihs for the
chief executive officer and six months for the executive directors have been
signed by the executive directors. The remcom reviews the notice periods with
effect from 1 Octeber each year and has agreed to retain the periods at the
levels outlined abave for the year ending 30 September 2008. In the event of
redundancy, executives would be entitled to an additional capped payment
equivalent to a maximum of 60 weeks' pay in terms of the Nampak Limited

redundancy pclicy.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration in detail

The fees earmed by the non-executive directors for the financial period under

review are outlined in table &(q).

Table 8(a): Non-execulive directors' remuneration 2007

Refmu-
neration
and nomi-  Corporate
Audit nations social
Directors” committee committee  investment
fees fees fees committes Total
Name Notes (rond) (rond) (rond) {rand) {rand)
PL Campbell 1 70048 48185 — — 118 233
T Evans 2 850 000 52 500 84000 — 986 500
DA Hawton 105 000 - 42 000 — 147 000
MM Katz 3 105 000 52 500 42 000 - 199 500
RJ Khaza 4 105 000 — — — 105 000
KM Mokoape 105 000 — - 23100 128 00
ML Ndiovu 105 000 - 42 000 — 147 000
CWN Molope 5 34 880 17 548 — — 52428
RV Smither 105 000 91767 — — 196 767
MH Visser b 105 000 — — — 105 000
RA Willlams 105 000 52 500 — — 157 500

Note i: Refired from the Nompak Limfted board ond audit committee with effect from
31 May 2007.

Note 2: Mr T Evans continues to participate in the share opfion scheme for allocations that
were issued prior to his retirement from the group.

Note 3 Fees paid to Edward Nathan Sornenbergs Incorporated.

Note 4:  Fees paid to Aka Copitc! (Ply) Limited.

Nota 5: Appointed to the Nampak Limited board with effect from 1 June 2007.
Note 6: Fees paid to M & | Group Services Limited,
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remuneration report

{continued)

fable 6(b): Non-executive directors' remuneration 2006

Remu-
neration
cnd nomi-  Corporgle
Audit nations social
Directors” committee committee  investment
fees foes fees committee Total
Nome Notes (rand) (rand) (rand) (rand) (rand)
PL Campbell 100 000 100 000 - — 200000
T Evons 1 1250 000 - — — 1260 000
DA Hawton 100000 -_ 40000 — 140 000
MM Katz 2 100 000 50 000 40 000 — 190 000
RJ Khoza 3 100 000 - —_ - 100 000
KM Mokoape 100 000 - — 22 000 122000
ML Ndlovu 100 000 - 40000 — 140 000
RV Smither 4 18 356 178 — — 27 534
MH Visser 5 100 000 - - — 100000
RA Willigms 100 000 50000 — — 150 000

Note I:  The fees for the chairman iake into account that approximately 30% of fis time Is
spent on Nampak business. Mr T Evans continues fo parficipate in the share option
scheme for aliocations that were issued prior 1o his refirement,

Note 2: Fees paid to Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs incorporated.

Note 3: Fees paid to Aka Capital (Ply) Limited,

Note 4: Appointed to the Nampaok Limited board with effect from 26 July 2006.
Nota 5 Fees paid to M & | Group Sarvices Limited,

The proposed increases in the level of fees payable to the non-exacutive
directors for 2008 are set out in the table below. The previous duties in respect
of the comporate social invesiment committee will be incorporated into the

transformation and sustainability committee.

fable 7: Proposed directors’ fees and committee fees for 2008

Proposed 2008 Approved 2007

Services as directors:

Chairman of the board 900 000 830000

Diractors 120 000 105 000
Audit committee

Chairmnan 120 000 106 000

Members 60 000 52 500
Remuneration and nominations

Chalirman 90 000 84 000

Members 48 000 42 000
Corporate sociol investment

Mamber 26 400 23100

A A A A A A & A& & -
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certificate by company secretary

| certify that the compony has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public
company in terms of the Companies Act, 61 of 1973 and that all such returns are true, comect and up to date.

I
NP C'Brien
Company secrefary

21 November 2007

approval by the directors

TG THE MEMBERS OF NAMPAK LIMITED

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and integrity of the annual financial siatements and
related finoncial information included in this report. The financicl statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and incorporate full and responsible disclosure in line with the accounting
philosophy of the group.

The directors believe that the company will be a going concern for the foreseeable future,

An audit committes, consisting of non-executive directors, meets periodically with the company’s external auditors
and executive management 1o discuss accounting, auditing, infernal control and financial reporting matters.

e
T Evans GE Bortolan
Chairmaon Chief executive officer

Sandton
21 Novermnber 2007
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report of the independent auditors

TO THE MEMBERS OF NAMPAK LIMITED

We have audited the group annual financial statements and annual financiak statements of Nampak Limited, which
comprise the consclidated and separate balance sheets as at 30 September 2007, and the consolidated and separate
income statements, the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense, the separate statement of
changes In equity and consolidate and separated cash flow statements for the year then ended. and G summary
of significant accounting policies and cther explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, as set out on pages 102 to 190

Directors’ responsibility for the financial staterments

The company's directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Infermnational Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of
South Africa. This responsibility includes: deslgning. implementing and maintaining Interal control relevant fo the
preparation and falr presentation of financial statements thot are free from material missiaternent, whether due to
fraud or eror: selecting and applying appropriate accounting policles; and making accounting estimates that are
regsonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility Is to express an opinion on these financlol statements based on our audit. We conducted cur oudit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtaln audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the audifor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
mcterial misstaternent of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
ouditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and tair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprassing an
aplnion on the effectivenass of the enfity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by manogement, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Wa believe that the audit evidence we have obiained s sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual financlal staterments present fally, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate
financial position of Nampak Umited as at 30 September 2007, and its consolidated ond separate financial perforrance
and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended In accordance with Infernational Financial
Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africe.

T + Ve,

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditors
Per RG Saayman
Partner

21 Novernber 2007

Buildings 1 and 2, Deloitte Place
The Woodlands Office Park, Woodlands Drive
Sandton 2196

Detoitte and Touche Nationa! Executive: GG Gelink: Chief Executive
AE Swiegers: Chief Operating Officer, GM Pinnock: Audit, DL Kennedy: Tax

L Geeringh: Consutting, L Bam: Strategy. CR Beukman: Finance. TJ Brown: Clients and Markets, NT Mtoba: Chairman of
the Board. J Rhynes: Deputy Chairman of the Board.

A full list of partners and divectors is available on request.
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directors’ report

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Narnpak Limited is Africa’s lorgest ond most diversified packaging company with 65 operations in South Africa,
25 operations in 11 other African countries and 26 operations in Ewope. It produces pockaging products from metols,

paper, plastics and glass and is @ major manufacturer and marketer of tissue products,
The group is actively engaged in the collection and recycling of all forms of used packaging.

Nampak is listed on the JSE Limited in the Industrial Goods and Services sector under “Containers and Packaging”.

GOING CONCERN

The directors believe that the company will be a going concem for the foreseeable future,

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financlal Reporting
Standards {IFRS). The principal accounting policies have been applied consistently with the previous year.

BORROWING FACILITIES

Gioup gross borowings at 30 September 2007 amount to R2 528.3 million (2006: R2 000.6 million). In terms of the
company's arficles of association, the bomowing powers are unlimited. Details of the non-curment term bomrowings are
set out in note 15 on pages 150 and 151,

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND RESULTS

The performance of the divisions and the group’s results are comprehensively reviewed on pages 12 fo 39 ond 108
to 190,

STRUCTURAL CHANGES

Nampak Products Limited exercised its call option to acquire the remaining 50% shareholding in Burcap Plastics
(Pty) Limited with effect from 26 March 2007 for o purchase price of R24.8 million.

Narmpak Products Limited sold its Flexpak Betville business as a going concarn to Transpaco effective from 4 December
2006 for a consideration of R52.3 miffion.

A 25.1% shareholding in Interpak Books {Pty) Umited was sold by Nampak Products Limited o a black empowerment
company on 2 April 2007 for R16.3 million,

Polyfoll Zimbabwe (Pvh) Limited (formerty Nampak Polyfoil Zimbabwe (Pvt) Umited), undertook a rights issue during the
financial year o increase its issuad share capital. In the process, the group did not take up Iis rights, which resulted in
its shareholding being reduced to 0.7%, while the remaining shareholder increased ifs shareholding to 99.3%.

Certain properties surplus to the group's requirements were sold for a total conslderation of R34.1 million.

A
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and Issued share capital are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

During the year the issued ordinary share capital was increased as follows:

Ordinary

shares of

Scents

each

Issued at 30 September 2006 653 726 161
Crdinary shares allotted to employees and retired employees ather than directors in terms of the

Nampak 1985 Share Option Scheme (*Option Scheme”) 2 245900

lssued at 30 September 2007 456 972 061

There were no changes to the issued preferred ordinary shares and the 6.5% and 6% preference shares.

SHARE PLANS
The Nampak 1985 Share Optlon Scherne (“Option Scheme™)

A total of 2 245 900 ordinary shares of 5 cents each were gllotted during the year consequent upon the exercise of
share options.

The relevant particulars of the Cption Scheme, which scheme has since been closed to future allocations, are set out
below:

Ordinary shares
2007 2006
Balance at the commencement of the financial year 12 0560 000 15 463 334
Options exercised during the year (2245900) (2975 334)
Options forfelted (77 500) ( 428 000y
Balance ot the end of the financial year 9736600 12060000
These options are exerclsable over periods between 1 October 2007 and
1 December 2014 at on average price of 1 209 cents:
Directors 3445100 3 895 300
Other employees and retirees 6 290 500 B 164 700
Total 9 736 600 12 060 000
Number of participants 11¢ 1580

2N
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directors’ report

{continued)

The Nampak Limited Performance Share Plan (*PSP™) and the Nampak Limited Share Appreciation Plan ("SAP™)

The purpose of the PSP is to attract, retain, motivate and reward senior ernployees. including executive directors of the
group, who are able to influence the performance of the group, on a basis which aligns the interests of such participonts
with those of the company’s shareholders.

The purpose of the SAP Is to retain executive directors ond nominated senior executives as well as providing the chief
executive officer with a means to atlract, motivate and retain talent ot senior monagement levels within the group.

The two plans may be summarised s follows:

The Nampak Limited Performance Share Plan 2007 2006
Balance at the commencement of the financlal year 1295000 —

' Number of awards in conditional shares granted during the year:
: Executive directors - 570000
Senior employees —_ 725000
Balance at the end of the financial year 1255 000 1295000
Number of participants 15 15

The Nampak Limited Share Appreciation Plan

Balance at the commencement of the financial year 2 896 500 —
Nurmber of conditional performance shares granted to employees during the year 8 000 3 000 500
Forfeitures/cancellations (179 000) {104 000)
Balance at the end of the financial year 2725500 2 896 500
Number of participants 142 156

Placement of unissued shares under the control of the directors for purpcses of the share plans

In terms of resclutions passed by shareholders of the company at the annual general meeting held on 8 February 2006,
no more than 7.13% of the total issued ordinary shares as af 24 January 2006 (446.4 million shares) may be set aside from
the unissued share capital of the company for purposes of all share plans. The total unissued shares under the control
of the directors for purposes of all share plans at 30 September 2007 is summarised below:

Balance af the commencement of the financial year 30 147 034
Lass: Awards granted in terms of the SAP during the cument financial year (8 000)
Add: Options forfeited during the current financial year 77 500
Add: Awards forfeited in terms of the SAP during the cument financial vear 179 000
Maximum available for future allocation 30395 534

The above calculation lllustrates the maximum potential dilution impact of oll the share plans and it is unlikely that this
ditution fimit will be reached, This Is because the newly-introduced SAP is much less dilutive than conventional option
plans, as only the appreciation in the share price is settled In shares, One cward granted will therefore never resultin o
full share being issued.
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It should be noted that, in terms of clause 12.2 of the trust deeds of both the PSP and the SAP the number of ordinary
shores which may be acquired by participants under the plans between the dates of the first awards and the fifth
anniversary of the first awards, shall not exceed 2.4548% in aggregate cf the company’s issued ordinary share capital
as at 24 January 2006, or 16 million ordinary shares.

Please refer to page 91 of the annual report for further particulars of these two plans,

DIVIDENDS AND CASH DISTRIBUTIONS

Details of dividends and cash distibution payments in lieu of dividends dealt with in the financial statements are
shown below:

Dividend/
distribution Conts Declaration Last day Payment
Class of share number per share date fo frade date
6% cumulative preference 76 6.00 22/11/2006 26/01/2007 05/02/2007
77 6.00 21/06/2007 13/07/2007 23/07/2007
6.5% cumulative preference 76 6.50 221142006 26/01/2007 05/02/2007
77 6.50 21/06/2007 13/07 /2007 23/07 12007
Preferred ordinary 3 50.0 22/11/2006 n/a 31/01/2007
4 500 24/05/2007 n/q 31/07/2007
Ordinary share cash distribution K] 330 24)05/2007 06/07 12007 16/07/2007
4 823 21/11/2007 04/01/2008 14/01/2008

The Important dates pertaining to cash distribution number 4 are as follows:

Last day to trade ordinary shares *cum” distribution Friday.4 January 2008
Ordinary shares trade “ex” distribution Monday, 7 January 2008
Record date Friday, 11 January 2008
Payment date Monday, 14 January 2008

Ordinary share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Monday 7 Junuary 2008 and Friday
11 January 2008, both days inclusive,

DIRECTORS AND SECRETARY

The names of the directors and secretary in office at 30 September 2007 are set out on pages 10 and 11 and inside
back cover of the annual report.

Mrs CWN Molope was appolnted a non-executive director of the company and a member of the audit committee
effective from 1 June 2007. Mrs Molope does not have a service contract with the company.

In terms of the company's artictes of association, the confirmation of Mrs Molope's appointment will be sought at the
forthcoming annual general mesting.

Messrs T Evans, DA Hawton and RA Williams retire by rotation in terms of the company's arficles of association but, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual generat meeting. Messrs Evans, Hawton and Williams
do not have service confracts as non-executive directors.

Mr PL Compbell retired as o non-executive director of the company and as a member of the oudit commitiee on
31 May 2007 after having served 40 years in the group.

Mr RV Smither, @ non-executive director of the company, was appeinted chalrman of the cudit committee on
31 May 2007,

P72
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directors’ report

{continued)

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

The total direct and indirect beneficial and non-beneficial interests of tha directors of Nampak Limited [n the issuad
ordinary share capital of the company s at 30 September 2007 are shown below:

Ordinary shares Options to purchase ordinary shares*
Option
prices Date
2007 2006 2007 {cenrtsy of gront 2006
' Beneficial interests
Executive
GE Bortolan 59 400 59 400 59 200 1060  30/07/1998 59 200
215 000 1050  01/12/2000 215000
400 000 1060 14/1242001 400 000
200 000 1326  25/07/2002 200 000
300 000 1234 27/11/2003 300 000
190 000 1495  01/12/2004 190 000
N Cumming - - 44 400 1060 30/07/1998 44 400
37 500 745 31/08/1998 37 500
100 000 1050 01/12/2000 100 000
250 000 1060  14/12/2001 250 000
80 000 1326  25/07/2002 80 000
180 000 1234 27/11/2003 180 00Q
100 000 1495  01/12/2004 100 000
TN Jacobs - - 20000 1060  14/12/2001 20000
20 000 1326  25/07/2002 20000
50 000 1234 27/11/2003 50 000
100 000 1495 01/12/2004 100 000
Non-executive
TEvans 175 500 175 500 250 000 1050 01/12/2000 250000
&6 800 1060 14/12/2001 66 800
433 200 1060 23/01/2002 433 200
241 800 1326  25/07/2002 241 800
108 200 1280  31/01/2003 108 200
DA Hawton 2700 2700 - — — -
MM Kotz — - - — - -
RJ Khoza - - - — — —
KM Mokoape - — - — - -
CWN Molope - — - — - —
ML Ndlovu - — - — - —
RV Srrither 8190 8190 - — — —
MH Visser - — -— - - -
RA Wiliams 153 897 153 897 - — — —
Neor-beneficial interests 13 14
*in terms of the Cption Scheme.
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The following non-execufive directors have an indirect beneficial shareholding in the prefered ordinary share capital
of the company as at 30 September 2007:

2007 2006
Narne of director
RJ Khoza 3780214 3818 303
KM Mokoape 637 781 649 887
CWN Molope 318 891 —
ML Ndllovu 637 781 649 887

LIMGATION STATEMENT

The company has Included In Its contingent liabllities amounts of R189 milllion for tax, R128 emillion for penalties and
R353 million in Interest in respect of assessments raised by SARS against Malbak Limited. Objections were lodged against
all assessments with SARS. SARS has largely disallowed the obiections and all the assessments have been appedled, The
company Is confident thot its defences against the assessments will succeed.

There are no other material legal or arbitration proceedings (ncluding proceedings which are pending or threatened
of which the directors of Nompak are aware) which may have a material effect on the financial paosition of the
group.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

No special resolutions were passed by sudsidiary companies during the year under review.

RETIREMENT FUNDS

Details of retirement funds are reflected in note 17 to the financial statements.
SUBSIDIARY, JOINT VENTURE AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

Detalls of the company’s significant subsidiaries, joint ventures and assoclates are given in Annexure A on pages 187
to 189.
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group balance sheet

as at 30 September

2007 2006
Notes R million R million
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 5 663.2 52058
Investment property 3 37 12,1
Goodwill 4 803.5 818.3
Other intangible assets 5 275.8 275.0
Investments in associates b 21.2 49.4
Other non-current financial assetfs 8 265.7 253.1
Deterred tax assets 9 9.6 .6
7042.7 66233
Current assets
Inventories 10 23562 2160.2 ‘
Trade receivables and other current assets 1 2921¢ 31093
Tax assels 67.0 64.2
Bank balances, deposits and cash 12 603.5 4146
5948.6 57573 ’
Assets classified as held for sale 13 413 43.3
59899 5 800.6 *
Total assets 130326 12 423.9
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capltal and reserves
Share capital 14 354 353
Capital reserves 14 516.9 1040.9
Other reserves 14 105.1 195.4
Retained earnings 14 §344.6 42016
Equity attributable to equity holders of the company 60020 55632
Minority interest 14 415 40.7
Total equity 60495 5603.9
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 15 526.5 10218
Other non-current fabilitles 16 13.7 189
Retlrement benefit obligation 17 565.1 7219
Deferred tox liabilities 9 742.7 6834
|
1848.0 24460
Current ligbllitles
Trade payables and other current liabilitles 18 27399 29710
Bank overdrafts and loans 15 20018 978.8
Provisions 19 67.3 56.0 ‘
Tax liabiities 326.1 3631
51351 43689
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sole 13 - 51 ‘
5135.1 43740
Total equity and liabllities 13032.6 124239 ‘
NS
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group income statement

for the year ended 30 September

2007 2006
Notes R mitlion R million
Revenue 20 170144 152619
Raw materials and consumables used g4 4 75123
Employee benefit expense 33974 31208
Depreciation and amertisation expensa 7101.7 658.4
Other operating expenses 29127 27821
Other operating income 1100 319.6
Profit rom operalions 21 1621.2 15637.9
Finance costs 23 273.0 185.4
Finance income 24 82.2 62.7
Income from invesiments 25 7.0 4.8
Share of profit of associates o] 43 —
Profit before tax 1441.7 14200
Income tax expense 26 385.8 553.7
Profit for the year 10559 866.3
Atiributable to:

Equity holders of the company 1054.2 8618
Minority interest 1.7 45
1055.9 866.3

Earnings per share
Basic (cents per share) 28 181.0 148.6
Ditluted (cents per share) 28 1720 1441
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group statement of recognised income and expense

for the year ended 30 September

2007 2006
R riltion R million
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (125.8) 562.0
Net actuarial galn/(loss) from refirement benefit obligations 100.6 (92.1)
Hyper-inflation capital adjustrnent (7.5 (2.4)
(Loss)/gain on cash flow hedges (on 25
Change in fair value of available-for-sale finoncial assets (38.9) -
Net (expense)/income recognised directly in equity (82.3) 4970
Transfer to plant and equipment - cash flow hedges (16.5) —
Transfer 1o income stofernent - cash flow hedges 2.4 -
Profit for the year 1 055.9 856.3
Total recognised income and expense for the year 954.7 1363.3
Aftributable to:
Equity holders of the company 957.3 13535
Minarity Interest (2.6) 9.8
954.7 1363.3
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group cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 September

2007 2006
Notes R million R millllon

Cosh flows from operating aclivities
Cash receipts from customers 16 949.3 14 897.8
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (14 904.0) (131629
Cash generaled from operations 341 2045.3 17349
Income from Investments 7.0 48
Interest received 822 56.9
Interest paid (284.6) (185.4
Retirement benefits, contributions and settlements (86.7) (40.1
Income tax paid (379.3) (364.2)
Replacement capital expenditure (573.9) (299.1)
Cash flows from operations 810.0 907.8
Dividends paid (.7 (330.6)
Cash distributions paid (577.4) (174.4)
Cash retalned from operating activities 2309 4028
Cash flows from investing aclivities
Expansion capital expenditure (656.6) (390.3)
Capltalised expendifure on group ERP systems (67.6) 91.6)
Proceeds on the sale of property, plant and equipment 55.6 219.8
Acquisition of businesses 342 (25.2) —
Proceeds on the disposal of businesses 343 52.3 2.1
Decrease/(Increase) in non-current financial assets and investments 49 (1.6
Cash utilised in invesling activities (636.6) (151.6)
Cash flows from financing activities
New borrowings raised 363 4.5
Repayment of borrowings {161.6) @2N1.0)
Capital proceeds rom issue of shares 252 209
Share buy-back — (964.4)
Cash used in financing activities (100.1) (1051.0)
Net decrease in cosh and cash equivalents (505.8) {799.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (505.1) 364.8
Translation of cash in foreign subsidiaries 109 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 344 (1 000.0) (505.1)
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accounting policies
for the year ended 30 September

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consclidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (CIFRS").

The consolldated financial staternents have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial instruments which are stated at fair value.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CIRCULARS

In the current year, the group has adopted all of the new and revisecl standords and interprefations issued by the
Internaticnal Accounting Standards Board (IASB™) and the Intemnational Financial Reporting Interpretations
Commifttee ("IFRIC") of the IASB that are relevant to the group and eifective at the reporting date.

During the current financial year, the following accounting interpretation and omendment were adopted:

® |AS 39 - (Amendmaent) The falr value option
The amendment changes the definition of financial instruments classified as fair value through profit and loss and
restricts the ability to designate financial Instrurnents as part of this category.

s [FRIC 4 - Determining whether an arongement contains a lease

The interpretation specifies that an arrangement that meets the following criterio Is, or contains, a tease that
should be accounted for in accordance with |AS 17 - Leases:

- Rulfiment of the arrangement depends upon a specific asset; and
- The arrangement conveys a right to control the use of the underlving asset.
The impact on the group was imematerial.

The group has elected to sarly adopt the following interpretation and SAICA circular In the current year:

e IFRIC 11 - IFRS 2: Group and freasury share fransactions

The interpretation addresses how to apply IFRS 2 Share-based paymiants to share-based payment arangerments
involving an entity’s own equity Instruments or equity instruments of another entity in the same group.

This interpretation only had an impact on the company financial statements and no impact on the group.
e Circular 8/2007 - Headline earnings

The circular was issued In 2007 and supersedes circutar 7/2002 in the calculation of headline earnings,

The following accounting standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting standards were
effective for the current financlal year, but had no impact on these financial statements:

e {FRS 1 - Firstime adoption of international financial reporting standards amendment relating to IFRS &

IFRS & - Expiorgation for and evalualion of mineral resources

1AS 39 - {Amendment) Cash flow hedge accounfing

1AS 39 - (Amendment) Financial guarantee confracts

IFRIC 5 - Right to inferest arising from decommissioning, restoration and environmental rehabilitation

IFRIC 6 - Liabilities arising trom participating in a specific market - wasle eleciricaf

IFRIC 7 - Appilying the restaternent approach under 1AS 2% financial reporting in hyperinfiationary economies

IFRIC 9 - Reassessment of embedded derivatives

[ ﬁ
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Af the date of authorisation of these financial statemsents, the following standards and interpretations were in issue
but not yet effective:

IFRS 7 - Financial Instrurnents - Disclosure

IFRS 7 requires extensive disclosures about the significance of financlal instruments for an entity’s financial
performance and position, and qualitative and quantitotive disclosures on the nature and extent of risk.,

IFRS B - Operating segments

IFRS 8 requires an entlty to adopt the “management approach” to reporting on the financial performance of ifs
operating segments. Generalty, the Information to be reported would be what managerment uses internally for
evaluating segment performance and deciding how to dllocate rasources to operating segments.

IAS 1 - Revision of presentation of financial statements

The changes made require Information In financia! statements to be oggregated on the basis of shared
characteristics and to infroduce a statement of comprehensive income. This will enable readers to analyse
changes in a company’s equity resulting from transactions with owners in thelr capacity as owners separately
from “non-owners” changes. The revision also includes changes in the fitles of some of the financial siatements
fo reflect their function more clearly.

IAS | - Added disclosures about an entity's capital

The amendment to 1AS 1 intraduces requirements for disclosures about an entity’s capital.

IAS 23 - Borrowing cosls

The main change from the previous version is the removal of the option of immediately recognising as an
axpense borrowing costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale.
IFRIC 10 - Inferim fnancial reporting and impairment

IERIC 10 prohibits the reversal of an iImpalrment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill.
an investment in an equity instrument or a financlal asset carried at cost,

IFRIC 12 - Service concession agreements

IFRIC 12 addiesses how service concession operators should apply existing IFRS fo account for the obligations
they undertake and rights they receive in service concession amangements.

IFRIC 13 - Customer loyalty programmes

The interpretation oddresses accounting by enfities that grant loyalty award credits (such as peints or fravel
miles) to customers who buy other goods or services. Specifically, it explains how such entities should account
for their obligations to provide free or discounted goods or services to customers who redeem award credits.

IFRIC 14 - 1AS 19 - The limit on a defined benefit assel, minimum funding requirements and their interachon

IFRIC 14 provides general guidance on how o assess the limit in 1AS 19 Employee benefits on the amount of the
surplus that can be recognised as an asset. It also explains how the pensions’ asset or tiability may be affected
where there is a statutory or contractual minimum funding requirement. The interpretation will standardise
practice and ensure that entities recognise an asset In relation to a surplus on a consistent basis.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods will not have a
matetial Impact on the financial statements of the group. Management Is in the process of assessing the impact of
IFRS 7 and 8 and |AS 1 which will have an impact on odditional disclosure.
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accounting policies

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATICN UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of financiol staternents In conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies, reported amounts and related
disclosures. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongaing basls, Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate s revised and in any future periods affected,

Certaln accounting policies hove been identified as involving particulary complex of subjective judgements or
assessments, Qs follows:

¢ Eslimates of asset lives, residual lives and depreciation methods
Property. plant and equipment are depreciated over thelr useful livas taking into account residual values. Useful
lives and residual values are assessed annually. Useful lives are affecied by technology innovations, maintenance
programmes and future productivity. Fuhwe market conditions determine the residual values. Depreciation is
caleulated on q shralght-ine basls which may not represent the actual usage of the asset,

¢ Post-employment benefits valuations

Actuarial valuations of employee benefit obligations under defined benefit funds are based on assumptions
which include employee turnover, mortallty rates, discount rates. Infiation rates, medical infiation, the expected
long-terrn return on plan assets and the rate of compensation increases.

* Consolidation of special purpose entities

Certaln special purpose entities established as part of the Brack Economic Empowerment transaction have
been consolidated as part of the group resulfs. The group does not have any direct or indirect sharehalding in
these entities, but the substance of the relationship between the group and these entities was assessed and
judgement was made that these are controlled entlties.

¢ Impairment tests of assets and intangibles

Impairment tests on property, plant and equipment are only done if there is an impairment indicator. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually. Future cash flows cre based on management’s estimate of future market
conditions. These cash flows are then discounted and compared to the cument carrying value, and if lower, the
assefs are impaired to the present value of the cash flows. Impairment tests are based on information avallable
at the fime of testing. These conditions may change after yearend.

® Valuation of share-based payments
The group has various share schemes, including the schemes established as poart of the BEE transaction. The fair
value of these schemes is determined at inception based on assumptions on estimated forfeitures, market
conditlons, discount rates and share price volatllity. The market conditlons ot inception may differ significantty to
the eventual outcome.

o Valuation of financial instruments
Financlal instruments are valued at balance sheet date. The value of financial instruments can have material
fluctuations and therefore disclosed amounts may differ from the recillsed value.

¢ Consolldation of Zimbabwe

During the year the deterioration of the economic and trading sttuatton in Zimbabwe has resulted in an effective
loss of control over the financial and operating policies of the group's Zimbabwean operations. In terms of
IAS 27 Consofidated and separate financial staternents the carrying cmounts of the investments were reclassified
as available-forsale financial assets,
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4. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial stotements incorporate the financial statements of the company and subsidicrles
(including speclal purpese entities) where the group demonstrates it controls the entities. Control Is achieved where
the group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benedits from
its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are curently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the group controls another entlty.

The results of subsidiaries, associate companies and Joint ventures acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date
of disposal, as appropriate.

All inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and deficits on transoctions batween group
companies have been eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assefs of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the group's equity.
Minarity interests consist of the amount of those interests of the date of the original business combination and the
minority’s share of changes In equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minortty in excess
of the minority’s Interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the group except to the
extent that the minority has a binding obligation and Is able to make an additional investment to cover the
losses.

5. BUSINESS COMEBINATIONS

The acquisition of subsidiaries Is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the falr values at the date of the exchange of assets given, llabilities incurred or assumed. and
equity instruments Issued by the group in exchange for contiot of the acquiree, plus any costs directty attributable
to the business combination, The acquiree’s identifiable assets, llabilities and contingent liabiiities that meet the
condifions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values af the acquisition
date, excep! for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in occordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured af fair
value less costs 1o sell.

Goodwil arlsing on acquisition Is recognised as an asset and inltially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the group's interest in the net falr value of the identifiable assets. liablliles and
contingent llabllities recognised. If, after reassessment, the group's inferest in the nat fair value of the acqulree’s
identifiable assets. liabiliies and contingent llabilities exceeds the cost of the business combingation,
the excess is recognised Immediately in profit or loss.

The Interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair
value of the assets, liabilitles and contingent liabilities recognised.

6. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Associates are those companies in which the group holds a long-term equity interest ond is in a position to exercise
significant influence, but not control, and that is nelther a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant
influence is the power o participate In the financial and operating policy declslons of the investee but is not control
of joint control over those policies.

The results, assets and liabilities of assoclates are Incorporated In these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment Is classified as held for sale, In which case it Is accounted for
under IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, investments
in associates are camied in the consolidated balonce sheet at cost and adjusted for post-acquisition changes in
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accounting policies

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

the group’s share of the net assels of the associate, less any impairment In the value of individual invastments,
Losses of an associate in excess of the group’s Interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the group's net investment in the assoclate) are not recognised.

Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the Identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabllities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwil.
The goodwillis included within the carrying amount of the investment and s assessed for impairment as part of the
Investment, Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of ths ideniifiable assets. liabilities and confingent
liabilities over the cost of acqulsition, after reassessment, is recognisec Immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity fransacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
group's interest in the relevant associate.

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

A joint venture is a contractual arangement whereby the group and other parties undertake an economic activity
that is subject to joint control, which Is when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing contral.

Joint venture arangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest
are referred to gs jointly controfled entitles, The group reports ifs inferests in joinlty controlled entities using proportionate
consolidation, except when the Investment is classified as hetd for sole, In which case it is accounted for under
IFRS & Non-cuent Assefs Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The group's share of the assets, liabiities, results
and cash flow information of jointty contiolled entities are included in the consolidated financial statements on a
line-by-line basis.

Any goodwil arising on the acgquisition of the group’s interest in a jointly conticlled entity is occounted for in
occordance with the group's accounting policy for goodwil arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary.

Unrealised profits and losses ore ellminated to the extent of the group:s interest In the joint venture, excapt where
unredlised losses provide evidence of an Impairment of the asset, when it is recognised immediately.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arlsing on the acquisition of a subsidiary or a jointly conirolled entity represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the group’s interest In the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of the acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised s
an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost fess any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purposes of impairment festing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group's cash-generating unifs expecied to
benefit frorn the synergies of the combingtion. Cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired, If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit s less thon the: camying amount of the unit, the impairment koss is allocated first to
reduce the camying amount of any goodwil allocated io the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the camying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent pericd.

On disposal of a subsldiary or a jolntly controlled entity, the attibutab’e goodwdll is included in the determination
of the proiit or loss on disposal.

The group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described under “investments In
associates”.

/-
N NAMPAK ANNUAL REPQRT 2007
N

S

A 4 a2 A




9.

10.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Assets (and disposal groups) are classified os held for sale if their carrying amouni wil be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition Is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable
and the asset (or disposal group) is avalable for immediate sale in its present condition. Monagement must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed saie within one year from
the date of classification.

Assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the assels’ previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on the initial classification as held for sale ond subseguent
reassessments are occounted for in profit or loss. Assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale, are not
depreciated.

Discontinued operctions are classified as held for sale and are either a seporate major line of business or
geographical area of operations that have been sold or are part of a single co-ordinated plan to be disposed of,

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured atf the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
recelvable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business. net of sales related faxes. Revenue is
measured net of cash discounts, setflemnent discounts and rebates given to customers,

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and fitle has passed. Revenue on services is recognised
when the service has been performed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 1o the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate
applicable.which is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
ossef to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
astablished.

Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit of loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.

. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are inltially recognised as deferred income when there is recsonable assurance that they will
be received and the group will comply with the conditicns associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the
group for expenses incumed are recognised as income oves the periods necessary to match them with the related
costs which they ore intended to compensate. Grants that compensate the group for the cost of an asset cre
recognised as deferred income ond then recognised in profit and loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of
the asset.

. LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as recetvables af the present value of all minimum
lease payments. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is recognised
as unearned income. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periadic
rate of return to the group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the ledse.
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accounting policies

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on the straight-ine bosls over the term of the relevant lease. Inifial
direct costs incurred in negotioting and amanging an operating lease are added o the carrying amount of the leased
osset and recognised on a straight-ine basls over the lease term.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the groLp at their falr value at the date of acquisition
or.If lower, the present value of minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation.
The discount rate to be used in colculating the present value is the interest rate implicit to the lease. The

coresponding lickility 1o the lessor Is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Finance costs,
which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired,

are charged to profit or loss over the term of the relevant lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining bakance for each accounting period.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into on operating lease ore also spread
on a stralght-ine basis over the lease term.

. FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presentad in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional cunency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial
staterents, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in South African rand, which s the
functional currency of the group, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statemants.

In preparing the finoncial statements of the individual eniities, transactions in currencies other than the entity's
functionat currency (foreign curtencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevaiing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monstary itemns denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated ot
the rates prevalling on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retfransloted af the rotes prevailing on the dats when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of hisforical cost in a fore gn currency are not refransiated,

Exchange differences arising on the setfternent and retransiation of monetary items are included in the profit or loss
for the peried. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried ot fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period. However, where fair value adjustments of nor-monetary items are recognised
directty in equity, exchange differences arising on the retranslation of these non-monetary iterns are also recognised
in equity.

In order to hedge its exposure to cerain foreign exchange risks, the group enters into derivative financial
Instrurnents. Further details are provided In the occounting policy relating to financial instruments.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liakiltties of the group's forelgn
cperations are expressed in South African rond using exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Incorme and expense items are translated of the average exchange rates for the period. Equity is translated at the
rete ruling on the date of acquisition. Exchange differences arising are classified as equity and fransferred to the
foreign currency translation reserve. Exchange differences arising from the transiction of the net invesiment In
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments. are
taken to shareholders’ equity on consolidation. Such translation differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which the operation is disposed of.

The income and expenses of forelgn operations in hyper-infiationary economies are transiated into US dottars ot the
exchange rafe relevant at the reporting date. Prior to transiating thedr financial statements, the financial statements are
restated to account for changes in the general purchasing power of tha local currency The rastaternent i based on
refevant price indices at the reporting date.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of fo-gign operations are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the ciosing rate.
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The cost of providing employee benefits is accounted for in the period in which the benefits are earned by
employees.

Shortterm employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after service is rendered. such o3 paid
vacation and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care and housing), are recognised
inthe period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted. The expected cost of shori-term accumulating
compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render service that increcses their
entitternent or,in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absences occur,

The expected cost of profitsharing and bonus payments is recegnised as an expense when there is d legal or
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of post performance and the cbligation can be
measured reliably.

Post-employment benefits

The group operates a number of defined contribution and defined benefit funds in compliance with relevant local
legisiation. The assets of the funds are held separately fromn those of the group and are administered either by
trustees, which include elected employee represeniatives, or In some coses by independent experts.

The group does not provide post-retirernent medical benefits for employees who joined the company affer 1 June
1996. The obligation in respect of medical benefits to employees and pensioners employed before that date is
freated as defined benefit plans.

Payments to defined contribution plans are charged as an expense as they fall due, Payments mage to industry-
managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans where the group’s obligations
under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement plan.

For defined benefit plans the cost of providing the benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
Actuarial valuations are conducted on ¢ triennial basis with interim valuations performed on an annual basis,
Consideration is given to any event that could impact the funds up to balance sheet date where interim valuations
are performed at an earlier date.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. Actuarial gains and losses recognised outside profit or
loss are presented in the statement of recognised income and expense. Gains or losses on the curtaliment or
setlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised in profit or loss when the group is demonstrably committed to
the curtaiment or setftement.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent thai the benefits are already vested, and are otherwise
amortised on a straight-line basis over the average peried until the amended benefits become vested.

The amount recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation,
adjusted for unrecognised past service costs, and reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any asset or surplus is
limited to the present value of avallable refunds and reductions in future contributions t6 the plan. To the extent
that there is uncertainty regarding entiternent to the surplus, no asset is recorded.

Termination benefits

Termingtion benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense when the group is demonstiably committed,
without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detalled plon to terminate empioyment before normal
retirement date. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancles are recognised if the group has made an offer
encouraging volunfary redundancies, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of
acceptances can be reliably estimated.
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15.

Share-based payments

The group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain emgloyees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are meosured at fair value, excluding the effect of non-market vesting cenditions, at the date of grant. The fair
value of the grant date of the equity-seftled share-based poyments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period. based on the group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest, excluding the effect of non-
market vesting conditicns.

Fair value is measured using the Binomial pricing model. The expected ife used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management's best estimate, for the effects of estimated forfeftures, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

Grants issued to employees of subsidiaries are treated as equity-settled share-based payments, with the subsidiaries
recegnising a cormesponding increcse in equity as a contribution frarm parent, In the company annuc! financial
statements this contribution is treated as an investment in subsidiaries

TAXATION
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tox currently payabile is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
income statement because it exctudes ifems of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never faxable or deductible. The: group’s liability for current tax is caleutated
using fax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by "he balonce sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the finoncial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all faxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assefs are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be cvoilable against which
deductible temporary differences con be utilised. Such ossefs and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
differences arise from goodwill or from the inifial recagnition (other than in @ business combination) of the other
assefs and liabilities in o transaction that affects neither the taxable pofit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidicries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the group is ¢ble to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable prefits will be avallable to allow all or part of the asset to be
recoverad.

Deferred tax is calculated af the tax rates that are expected o apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset redlisec. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss. except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case deferred tax is also dealt with in eguity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current assets against
current liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the group
intends fo settle its current tax ossets and liabllities on a net basis.

Additionat income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the licbility
to pay the related dividend is recognised.
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16,

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property. plant and equipment are stated of cost less cccumulated cdepreciction and any accumulated
impairment losses,

All costs directly atributable to bringing the asset 1o the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs in accordance with
the group’s accounting policy are included in the carrying value of the asset. Costs also include an estimate of
costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. When parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives or residual values, they are accounted for as separate
iterns {major components),

The cost of replaging part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will fiow to the group and its cost
can be measured refiably. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. Depreciation is charged so as to write
off the cost over their estimated useful lives, using the stralght-line method. Depreciation is not provided in respect
of lanc.

Assets held under finance leases are depraciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The average rctes of depreciation used are:

Freehold buildings 10 to 50 years

Leasehold buildings Sharter of asset life of the lease term
Piant and equipment 2 tc 20 years

Furniture and equipment 41tc 10 years

Motor vehicles 2to 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annuglly or when there is an indication that
they have changed.

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit of loss.

. BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly aftricutable to the aequisition, construction or production of qualifying assets that
necessarily take o substantial periad of time 1o get ready for their infended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assefs are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
eamed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investrnent property, which is property beld to eamn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The average rate of depreciation used is
10 to 50 years.
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19. INTERNALLY GENERATED INTANGIBLE ASSETS - RESEARCH AND DEVELGPIMENT COSTS

20,

21

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An infernally generated intangible asset is recognised only If ¢l of the following conditions are met:
* an asset is created that can be identified (such s software and new processes):;

* it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits:

¢ the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably; ond

¢ the product or process is technically feasible.

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct lcbour and overhead costs that ore directly
aftributable to preparing the asset for its intended use, Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Infernalty generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-ine basis over their estimated useful lives. Where no
infernally generated infanglble asset can be recognised. development expenditure is charged to profit o loss in the
period in which it is incured.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL

Included in intangible assets are patents, rademarks, copitalised resecich and development costs, ERP systern costs
and computer soffware costs.

Patents and trademarks are measured at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives,

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to bring to use the specific
software,

Costs associcted with development or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as the
expense is incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the procuction of identifiable and urique software
products controlled by the group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one
year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include software development employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Subseguent expenditure is capitalised when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisction and impairment losses and are amortised over
their expected useful lives (three to nine years) on a straight-ine basis.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL

At each balonce sheet date. the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value In use. the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 1o the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset, or cash-generating unit, 5 estimated to be less than ifs carrying amount, the
carrying omount of the asset, or cash-generating unit, is reduced to its recoverable amount, An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. unless the relevant asset is camied at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss Is freated as a revaluation decrease,
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset, or cash-generating unit, is
increasad to the revised estimate of its recoverable omount, but only to the extent that the increcsed carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying omount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried ot a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss Is freated as a
revaluation increase.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated af the lower of cost or net redlisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and. where
applicable, direct labour and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventorias to their present
location and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net relisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial dssets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group's batance sheet when the group becomes a
party to the contractuct provisions of the instrument.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are measured initially ot fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irecoverable omounts are recognised in
profit or loss when there Is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as
the difference between the assef’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sole of an Investment
is under a contract whose terms require defivery of the investment within the fimeframe established by the market
concermned, They are initicity measured at fair value, plus directly aftributable fransaction costs.

At subsequent reporting dates, debt securities that the group has expressed infention or ability to hold to matusity
(held-to-moturity securities) are measured at amorfised cost using the effective interest rate method, tess any
impalment loss recognised to reflect imecoverable amaounts,

Investrments other than held-to-maturity debt securities are classified s investments avallable-for-sale, and cre
measured at subsequent reperting dates at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from the revaluation of
availoble-forsale financial assets are recognised directly in equity.

On disposal of impairment, cumulative unrealised gains and losses previolsty recognised are included in
determining the profit or loss on disposal of, or impairment charge relating to, that financic! asset, which is charged
to the income statement. An impairment loss is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying
value and the present value of future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognifion. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when anincrease inthe investment’s recoverable
amount can be related cbjectively to an event occuring after the impairmenit was recognised.

Cash and cash equivatents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposifs, and cther short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are suject to an insignificant risk of
changes in valus.
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accounting policies
for the year ended 30 September (continued)

Financial llabilities and equity

Financiat liabiities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified occording to the substance of the
contractual arrangement entered into and the definitions of a financial liabllity and an equity instrument. An eguity
instrument is any contract that evidences o residual interest in the assets of the group ofter deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below:

Bank borrowings

tnterest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured af folir value, and are subsequently measureg ot
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any differencis between the proceeds (net of transaction
costsy and the settlement or redemption of borrowings Is recognised over the term of the borowings in accordance
with the group’s occounting palicy for borowing costs.

Trade payables

Trade payables are initially mecsured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method.

Equily instruments

Equity Instruments issued by the company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs,

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The group’s octivilies expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rotes
and commodity prices.

The group uses derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign currency forward confracts, commedity futures and
interest rate derivatives to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency and market fuctuations relating to
certain firm commitments and forecasted transactions, These derivatives are initially measured at fair value on the
contract date, and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates.,

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future
cash flows are recognised directly in equity. The ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss. If the
cash flow hedge of a firm commitrent or forecasted transaction results in the recognition of an asset or a liability
then, at the time the asset o llability is recognised, the associated gain of loss on the derivative that had previously
been recognised in equity is included in the initial measurement of the asset o liability. For hedges that do not result
in the reccgnition of an asset or a liability, amounts deferred in equity are recegnised in profit or loss in the same
pericd in which the hedged item affects profit or lass.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expiies or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no
longer qualfies for hedge accounting. At that time. for forecast fransactions, any cumulative gain or oss on the
hedging instrument recognised in equity Is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If g hedged
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to
profit or loss for the period.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that <o not qualify for hedge accounfing are
recognised in profit or loss s they arise.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instrurnents or other non-financial host contracts are treated as separate
derivatives when thelr risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host
contract is not carried at fair value with unredlised gains or losses In profit or loss.
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28,

24.
25.
26.
27.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the group has o present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the group will be required ‘o settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value
where the effect is material.

SEGMENT REPORTING

A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged efther in providing related products
(businass segment), or in providing products within a parficular economic environment (geographic environment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The group’s primary format for
segment reporting is based on business segments.

Tre basis of segmental allocation is determined as follows:

Revenue that can be directly attributed to a segment and the relevant portion of revenue that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis to a segment. whether from sales fo external cusiomers of from fransactions with other
segments of the group.

Profit from operations that can be directly attributed to a segment and a relevant partion of the profit that can be
allocated on areasonable basis o a segment,including profit relating to external customers and expenses relating
to transactions with other segments in the group. Segment profits exclude profits that arise at a group level and
rekate to the group as a whole,

Operating assefs are those assets that are employed by a segment in its operating activities and that are either
directly attributable to the segment or can be dliocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Operating assets
exclude investment in associates, tax assets, bank balances, deposits and cash,

QOperating liabilities are those liabilities that result from the operating activities of a segment and that are either
directly attributed ‘o the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Cperating liakilities
exclude loans, borrowings and overdraffs, tax liabilities and the retirement benefit obligation.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The group regards financiol guarantee contracts as insurance contracts and has used accounting applicable fo
insurance contracss. Liabilities in terms of the financial guarantees are cnly recognised when it is probable that
economic benefits will flow from the group.

OFFSET

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and disclosed on a net basis in the consolidated balance sheet when there
is a legal right to set off anel there is either an intention to settle on a net baosis or to redlise te asset and settle the
liability simultaneousty. ‘

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been restated to conform with changes in presentation in the current
vear. Details of these restatements have been included in the relevant notes to the annuct financial statements.
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notes fo the group financial statements
for the year ended 30 September

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Treasury risk management

The main risk areqs to which the group is exposed are interest rates, Iquidity, currency and commaodity prices. The
group has adopted the Value of Risk methodology for evaluating financial market risks. Selected derivative and
non-derivalive hedging instruments are used to hedge tisks. Hedging instruments are used to cover risks that
affect the group’s cash flows and are not used for frading of speculative purposes.

To reduce credit risk, banking facilities are entered into only with leading financial institutions that have a credit
rating of "A” or higher.

A trecsury management committee, reporting to the chief financial officer, is responsible for considering and
managing the group's day-to-day financial market risks by adopting strategies within the guidelines set by the
audit committee as outlined in the tregsury policy manual. Certain transactions require prior approvai of the
oard of directors,

Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk is the possibility that the group may suffer financial loss due to adverse movementsin interest rates.
The group is exposed to interest rate risks mainly in South Africa, the United Kingdom, Europe and Nigeria. To
minimise the effects of interest rate fluctuations in these countries. the: group manages the interest rate risk for net
debt denominated in rands, pounds, eurcs and nairg separctely. The group uses swaps, options, forward rate
agreements and other standard market instruments tc manage this risk.

The rands, pounds, euras and naira risks are mainly managed on a floating rate basis using derivative instruments,

where appropriate, t¢ fimit the effects of adverse rmoverments in rates.
The following interest rate derivatives were in place at 30 September 2007:

Netional Interest rate

amount %

R millicn Start daite End date nacq

Enhanced coltar 200.0 24/01/2006 01/02/2010 Floor 6.95
Cap 7.98

Enhanced collar 300.0 02/04/2007 02/04/2008 Floor 8.68
Cap 9.50

Interest rate swop 250.0 30/06/2006 30/06/2010 8.82

Changes in the market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only affect
income if these are recognised at their fair value. As such, all finencial instruments with fixed interest rates that are
carled at amortised cost are not subject to interest rate risk as defined in IAS 21 - The effects of changes in foreign
exchange rates.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The risk profile of inferest-bearing financial assets and liabilities at 30 September:

floating rate Fixed rate  Floating rate Fixed rate  Net liability/
liabilities liabilities assets assets (asset)

R million R million R million R million R mitlion

South African rand 1707.5 273.1 (346.9) — 1633.7
UK pound KRR — (401.7) — (370.2)
Euro 326.8 — (49.8) — 2770
US dollar 0.3 — (26.5) - (262
Nigerian raira 180.3 — (1.2 — 1468.1
Cther currencies 7.3 1.5 (13.2) — 4.4}
Total at 30 September 2007 22537 274.6 (849.3) — 1679.0
South African rand &99.7 655.1 (247.4) — 1107.4
UK pound 1.4 — (234.1) — (2321
Euro 462.8 — (197.4) — 265.4
US doiiar 50 — 1.0, — (26.0;
Nigerian nalra 144.4 — (R — 139.3
Other currencies 32.2 — (129 — 19.3
Total at 30 September 2006 13455 655.1 7219 — 12727

The following table shows o breakdown of the above liabllities between liabilifies to banks
at 30 Septernber:

and other parties

Interest rate
% 2007 2006
Currency nacm Maturity R million R miilion
Commercial paper AR 7.73 09/10/2006 - 2450
Commercia paper ZAR 8.04 09/01/2007 - 130.0
— 375.0
Liabilities to banks ZAR Various Varous 1980.6 979.8
SBP various vanous 1.5 1.4
EUR Vanous various 3268 462.8
UsD Various varicus 0.3 50
NGN 1275 various 180.3 144.4
other various various 8.8 32.2
25283 16266
Total liabilities 25283 200046
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (confinued)

1. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

2007 2006
Weighted average interest rates Bank Bank Bank Bank
qre as follows: balances overdrafts balances overdrafts
South African rand 11.2% 11.9% 7.0% 1.9%
UK pound 55% 6.1% 4.4% 50%
Euro 3.0% 4.4% 24% 3.0%
Us dollar 5.1% 5.8% 4.5% 5.1%
Nigerian naira 1.8% 13.8% 1.0% 13.0%

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the possibility that the group may suffer financial loss thraugh liguid funds not being available or that
excessive finance costs must be paid to obtain funds to meet payment reguirements. The group manages this risk
through forecasting and menitoring cash flow requirements on a daily basis, and by maintaining sufficient
undrawn facilifies. Significant liquid resources were held ot yearend. The group had the following undrawn
facilities available at 30 September:

South Africa Europe Alfrica Total
R million R million R million R million

Expiry period at 30 September 2007
One year 1881.9 1054.4 135.0 30713
Two to five years — — — _

Total 18819 1054.4 135.0 30713
Expiry period at 30 September 2006

One year 2 655.1 — 129.3 27844
Two to five years — 988.7 — 9887
Total 246551 988.7 129.3 37730

Currency risk management

Currency risk is the possibility that the group may suffer financial loss as g consequence of the depraciation in the
measurement currency relative to the foreign currency prior ¢ payment of a commitment in that foreign
currency or the measurement currency strengthening prior to recelving payment in that foreign currency. The
group alse has translation risk arising from the consolidation of foreign operations into South African rands. Risks
from foreign currencies are hedged to the extent that they influence the group’s cash flows.

The South African divisions have the greatest exposure to foreign curmency risk and it s group policy that ol foreign
exchange exposures of the South African divisions are hedged. Net currency exposures and hedging positions
are centrally controlled and managed for South African operations, The currency exposure of the group’s
European operations is centrally controlled and managed through the United Kingdom. Speculative positions are
not permitted.

The group uses forward contracts in particular, fogether with other hedging instruments such as swops and
opfions, to manage transactional currency risks. Specific transiation risks are managed through the selective use
of options and hedge positions. All large capital commitments where the forward exchange component is mere
than R30.0 miffon, are required to be designated as a cash flow hadge. These hedges are tested for hedge
effectiveness on a regular bosls, In the current year a loss on the fair value of FEC confracts omounting fo
R10.7 rilion (2006 R29.5 milion gain} was iaken fo equity. When risks and rewards of ownership ransfer 1o the
group. a basis adjustrment is made against the cost of assets. During the year an amount of R16.5 million was set
off against the cost of assets,
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The group's European operations have designated debt drawn in euros as a hedging Instrument against the net
asset value of its euro-denominated investments, The hedge seeks fo minimise. where possible. the effect that the
euro/pound exchange rate hos on the net investment in the euro-denominated assets. The hedge position is
tested for its effectiveness on a regular basis, An amount of R2.8 million (2006: R2.7 milion) was taken to the foreign
curency fransiation reserve as a result of the hedge.

All imports, exports and non-hedged capital commitments are fully covered at balance sheet date. The value of
open forward contracts entered into at 30 September are:

Average 2007 2006

conlract rate R million R million
Imports
US dollar 7.3 152.1 264.7
Euro 10.0 221.7 2449
UK pound 14.6 19.0 17.4
Cther 39.2 28.7
Total 4320 5557
Exports
US dollar 7.0 1.1 40
Other 6.0 22
Total 7.1 6.2
Currency conversion guide at 30 September 2007 2006
Income statement (average)
US dollar 7.1848 65741
Euro 9.5601 8101
UK pound 14.1475 11.8541
Balance shest (spot)
Us dollar 6.8712 7.7693
Euro 9.7246 G.8472
UK pound 13.9548 14.5465

Commodity price risk management

Commodity price risk is the risk that the group may suffer financicl loss when a fluctuating price contract is
entered intc and commodity prices increase or when a fixed price agreement is entered intfo and commodity
prices fall. The following open commadity position was held at 30 September:

2007 2006
R million R million
Alurninium futures 113.2 65.8

The group uses derivative insfruments, including forward agreerments and futures, to hedge commodity risk.

The average price per ton of aluminium hedged at year-end is R16 9564 (2006: R15 481) and volumes lower thon
the previous year were hedged.
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

1. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk mancgement

Potenfial concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, derivative finaneial
instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well os trade daebtors. For banks and financial
institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating -of "A” are accepted. The credit risk on liguid
funds and derivative financial instruments s limited because the greup's counterparties are with major banks of
high standing.

Trade recelvables comprise a large, widespread customer base. Ongoing credit evaluations on the financicl
condition of customers are performed, taking into account financial position and past experience and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased or provisions made.

The group does not consider there to be any significant concentration of credit risk which has not been insured
or adequately provided for ot the balance sheet date.
Fair value of financial instrurnents

The group’s financial instruments consist mainty of investments, Ibank balances, deposits and cash, frade
receivables and other financlal assets, trade payables and other financial liabilities, interest-bearing borowings

ond cerivaiive financial instruments, .
The following methods ond assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of eoch class of financlal

instruments:

Investmenis - the fair value of investments is based on quoted bid prizes, or the present value of expected future ‘

cash flows discounted at market-relaled interest rates.

Bank bakances, deposits and cash - the carrying value approximates fair volue due to the relatively short-term
maturity of these financial assets. ‘

Trade receivables and other financial assets - the fair volue of receivables approximates the carrying value as
markel-related interest rates are charged on outstanding balances.

Trade payables and other financiat liabllifies - the carrying value approximartes fair value due to the relatively
short-term maturity of these financial liabliities. ‘

Borrowings - the fair value of long-termn borrowings is based on disco.nted cash fiows using the effective interest
rate method. The canying value of short-term borrowings approximetes fair value due to the short period to

maturity of these instruments. ‘
Derivative instrurments - the fair value of derivative instruments is calculated using mark-io-market valuations.
The fair value of derivative finonclal Instruments raised on the balance sheet is as follows:
2007 2006 ‘
Asset/(liabllity) R milion R million
Interest rate swaps 15.2 8.2 ‘
Forward exchange contracts 79 77.3
Commeodity contracts — Alurminium futures (10.6) 19.6 ‘
Total (3.3) 1061
Anclysed between:
Derivotive financial assetfs (note 11) 15.2 106.5 ‘
Derivative financial liabilities (note 18) (18.5) 0.4
(3.3) 105.1 ‘
& ™
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Maturity profile of inancial instruments
The maturity profile of finaneial assets and liabilities at 30 September was as follows:

Carrying Current -2 2-3 3-4 Over
value year years years years 4 years
Notes Rmilllon Rmilion Rmilion Rmilion Rmilion R million
At 30 September 2007
Financial assets
Non-current financial assets 8 265.7 — 10.7 258 12.0 2172
Trade receivables and other current
assets* 1 27968 27968 - - - -
Bank balonces, deposits and cash 12 403.5 603.5 - - - -
Total 3666.0 34003 107 25.8 12.0 2172
Financial lighilities
Non-current loans and borrowings 15 526.5 - 73.3 37.6 2498 165.8
Trade payables and other current
liabilities 18 27399 27399 — — - —
Bank overdrafts and loans 15 2001.8 20008 — - - -
Total 5260.2 47417 733 376 249.8 165.8
At 30 September 2006
Financial assets
Non-current financial assets 8 2531 — 76.8 18 18.8 183.7
Trade receivables and other current
assets” 11 29124 29124 — — — —
Bank balances, deposits and cash 12 414.6 4146 — — — -
Total 3580.1 33270 768 3.8 18.8 163.7
Financial liabilities
Non-current loans and borrowings 15 1021.8 —_ 6753 67.3 155 263.7
Trade payables and other current
ligbilities 18 29710 20710 — — — —
Bank overdrafts and loans 15 9788 978.8 — — — -
Total 49716 39498 675.3 67.3 155 2637

*Prapayments are excluded from rode recelvabies and other current assals.
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September {continued)

2. SEGMENTAL REPORT

Profit
Revenue from operations
2007 2006 2007 2006
R million R million R million R milllon
Metals and Glass 47284 42063 510 6541
Africa 47284 42063 7511 654.1
Paper 78685 70283 388.1 4354
Africa 48184 44155 290.2 %3
Europe 30801 26128 97.9 863
Piastics 44664 40721 381.7 3855
Africa 29102 27809 2287 2327
Europe 1556.2 12912 155.0 152.8
Group services 280.8 243.6 100.3 62.7
Afica - @5 59.8 N4
Europe 2808 2531 405 323
Inter-segrment eliminations (329.7) (288.4) - —
Total 170144 152619 1621.2 15379
Geographical analysis
South Africa 11 465.9 105014 1202.0 1174.9
Rest of Africa .1 891.8 124.8 916
Europe 4 887.1 4 157.1 2934 2N.4
Inter-segrnent eliminations (3297 {288.4) - —
Total 17014.4 15261.9 1621.2 1537.9
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Depreciation and

Net impairment

Operating margin EBITDA amertisalion losses/ (reversals)
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
% % R million R million R million R million R million R million
159 156 874.6 764.0 1235 109.9 33 -
15.9 15.6 874.6 764.0 123.5 1099 33 —
49 6.2 680.6 683.8 2925 248.2 - (1.7
6.0 79 445.9 4759 155.7 126.4 - (1.7
32 33 2347 2079 136.8 121.6 - —
8.5 9.5 596.5 591.4 2148 2059 4.0 18,0
78 84 383.2 3723 156.5 139.6 4.0 18.0
100 118 2133 219.1 58.3 66.3 — —
171.2 157.3 709 94.4 (0.6) 104.3
127.8 124.8 68.0 94.4 - 104.3
43.4 323 29 - {0.6) —
9.5 101 23229 21963 701.7 658.4 6.7 1106
105 1.2 16760 16167 473.0 a8 7.3 2.4
126 103 155.5 120.3 30.7 28.7 — 182
6.0 6.5 491.4 459.3 198.0 187.9 (0.6) —
9.5 10.1 23229 21963 701.7 658.4 6.7 110.6
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notes 1o the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2. SEGMENTAL REPORT (continued)
Operating assels Operating liabilities Capital expenditure

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
R million R million R million R million R miillion R rnillion
Metals and Glass 27984 25173 7057 731.2 289.3 180.2
Africa 27984 2517.3 708.7 731.2 28%.3 180.2
Paper 62795 58454 1154.1 1147.6 561.8 398.0
Africa 35894 335 7444 853.9 424.7 3244
Europe 2 4%0.1 25319 anh 293.7 1371 73.6
Plastics 25297 2 648.0 7205 813.0 3829 177.0
Africa 19269 1603.9 495.1 607.1 3315 137.0
Europe 602.8 9541 225.% 2059 51.4 40.0
Group services 7129 739.2 257.0 365.8 64.1 258
Africa 690.8 6689 2127 338.3 57.0 19.0
Europe 22.1 70.3 443 275 7.1 68
Total 12 320.5 117499 28391 30576 12981 781.0

Geographical analysis
South Africa 82241 7350.7 19554 22866 10071 524.6
Rest of Africa 781.4 8429 202.7 2639 95.4 136.0
Europe 33150 3 5586.3 681.0 527.1 195.6 120.4
Total 12 320.5 117499 28391 3057.6 12981 781.0

s

N

For segmental purposes, Bevcap is now included under Plastics (Africa) and not Metals (Africa). Comparative
figures have been restated. The restatement resutted in R227.4 million in tumover and R44.3 million in profit from
operations in 2006 being reclassified from Metals (Africa) fo Plastics (Africay.

For management purposes, the group is organised into four business clusters based on row material inputs. The
clusiers are the bosis on which the group repoits its prirmary segment information. The principal activities of the
clusters are as follows:

Metals and Glass — manufacture of beverage cans, food cans, aerosol cans, other metal packaging and glass
packaging.
Paper — manufacture of conugated boxes, folding cartons, toilet tissue and paper manufacturing.

Piastics - manufacture of plastic botties, crates and drums, checkout bags, tubes and tubs and a full range of
flexible plastics products.

Group services - head office activities, procurement, freasury and property services.

In addition, the businesses are grouped by geographical location. The main gecgraphical regions identified are
South Africa, rest of Africa and Europe. Geogrophical spiit is determined by iocation of the operating assets.
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Pant, Capitalised Total

Freehold equipment leased  property,

land and  Leasehold and plantand plantand  Invesiment

buildings buildings vehicles vehicles equipment properties

® million R million R million R million R million R million
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Gross canrying amount
At 1 October 2005 9203 126.0 58159 0.4 6952.6 185
Additions 58.2 1.6 616.1 13.5 6894 —
Disposals (12.2) (0.1 192 (16.2) (158.4) (3.6)
Disposal of business — 20 (109.5) — (111.8) —
Impairment loss — — (3.6) — (3.6) —
Reversal of impairment loss - — 20 — 20 -
Reclassified to assets held for sale @1.n — (15.3) — (36.4) —
Translation differences 119.2 296 625.1 — 7739 —
Hyperinflation and other movements 14.4 (0.9 38.6 N 360 —
At 30 September 2006 1078.8 134.1 4 849.4 81.6 81439 149
Additions 974 37 11162 13.2 1230.5 —
Transfer from equity on cash flow hedges — — 16.5) — (16.5) —
Interest capitalised — — 1.6 — 11.6 -
Acquisifion of business — 05 218 0.2 22.5 —
Disposals 0.6 0.4 (M3 30.1 (144.4) 129
Disposal of business 2 — (8.6) - 34.8) —
Reclassified to available-for-sale financial ossets 3.2 — (22.6) — (25.8) —
Impairment loss — — 7.0 — (7.0) —
Reversal of impairment loss — — 1.9 - 11.9 —
Reclassified (to)/from assets held for sale 1.0 — 7.2 — (38.3) 1.1
Tramsiation differences (28.7) (4.9} (150.6) — (184.2) —
Hyperinfiation and cther movements (1.6) 0.7} 425 0.4 39.8 55
At 30 September 2007 11148 1323 7707.6 64.5 9019.2 8.6

N
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued}

Plant, Capitalised Total

Freehold equipment leased property,

land ond  Leasshold and plontand plantand  Investment

buildings buildings vehicles vehicles equipment properties

R million R million R million R million R million R miltion

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (confinued)}

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2005 2371 420 18382 329 21502 14
Depreciation charge for the year 29 29 545.0 17.7 588.5 14
Disposals (6.5 @7 (104.6) (10.0) (128.8) —
Disposal of business — 2.0 (40.0) — (2.0, —
Reclassified to assets held for sale 9.9 — (7.4) — (17.3) —
Transiation differences 14.3 6.0 348.2 — 368.5 —
Hyper-inflation and other movements 12.1 (10.5 17.4 — 19.0 —
At 30 Septemnber 2006 2710 297 25%6.8 0.6 2938.1 28
Depreciation charge for the year 19.7 1.9 595.6 14.5 &31.7 0.6
Acquisition of business — 04 6.4 0.1 69 —
Disposals — - (98.3) (23.9) (122.2) (2.3)
Disposal of business {3.4) — b2 — 9.5 —
Reclassified to availgble-for-sale financicl assets @9 — (0.9 —_ {(14.8) —_
Reclassified to assets held for sale (0.5; - (10.5) — (11.0) —
Transiation differences 8.3) 09 (80.%) — {89.3) —
Hyper-inflation and other movements 7.1 0.3 19.0 0.2 262 38
Al 30 September 2007 281.7 314 30118 311 3350 49
Net book value at 30 September 2007 8331 100.9 4 695.8 334 5663.2 7
Net book vaiue at 30 September 2006 807.8 104.4 42526 4.0 52058 12.1

I
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2007 2006
R million R million
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
The open market value of the group's properties was determined by
The Property Partrership who are independent valuators not connected to
the group. These properties were valued by reference to market evidence
of recent transactions for similar properties.
- Freehold land and buildings 1434.4 14110
- Investment properties 2.3 26.1
A schedule of the group's properties Is available to users of the financial
statements on receipt of a written request.
Insured value of the plant, equipment and vehicles at 30 September 21 528.2 202669
Refer to note 15 tor details of propsrty. plant and equipment encumbered,
Property rental income eamed by the group from its investment property
under operating leases 22 37
Direct operating expenses retating to investment properties 1.0 0.5
Impairment losses have baen recognised on certain plant and equipment
where the carrying value exceedad the higher of value in use or fair value
less cost to sell.
R million
GOODWILL
Carrying amount
At 1 October 2005 7121
Impalrment loss (18.2)
Translation differences 124.4
At 30 September 2006 818.3
Acquisition of business 6.1
Disposal of business 1.7
Translation differences (22.6)
At 30 September 2007 803.5

-
N4

Goodwil acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units {("CGUsM)

that are expected to benefit from that business combination.
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GOODWILL (continued)

nofes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

The allocation of goodwill by casn-generating unit is presented below;

Cumulative  Net camrying
Cost impairment value
R miliion R million R mlilion
At 30 September 2007
South Africa
Metals 123.4 - 1234
Rigids 60.1 - 60.1
Flexibles 535 - 53.5
Paper 44.3 - 443
Europe
Hedlthcare 2849 13.0 2719
Paper 381 136.7 2444
Rest of Africa
Metals 214 18.2 3.2
Other 27 - 2.7
9714 167.9 803.5
At 30 September 2006
South Africa
Metals 1234 - 123.4
Rigids 540 — 54.0
Flexibles 535 — 535
Paper 427 — 2.7
Europe
Heatthcare 2970 13.6 283.4
Paper 307.3 142.5 2548
Rest of Africa
Metals 214 18.2 32
Other 3.3 - 33
2.6 174.3 818.3

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might

bea impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined using value in use calcuiations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on the most recent finoncial budgets approved by management for the next_five
years. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the growth rates below:

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPCRT 2007




GOODWILL (continued)
Key assumptions used for value in use calculations

South Atrica  Rest of Afrlca Europe
2007
Growth rate” 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Discount rate (pre-tax) 12.3% 20.0% 1.1%
2006
Growth rate® 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Discount rate {pre-tax) 12.1% 20.0% 8.2%

*This is the growth rate used in the calculation: of the termination value after the five-year management estimate of cash flows.
Management estimates discount rates using the pre-tax average weighted cost of capital for the group, adjusted
for risks assoclated with the geographicat markets in which the CGUs operate. Growth rates cre based on industry
growth rafe forecosts.

Goadwil relating to Nampak Kenya of R18.2 milion was impolred in the prior year due to the reduced
profitability.

ERP systems
and software Other Total
R million R million R million

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Cost
At 1 October 2005 434.1 1.8 4459
Additions 91.0 0.6 b
Disposals 3.5 — (3.5
Impairment loss (87.6) — (87.6)
Translation differences 24 — 2.4
Other movements (8.3 (2.8 109
At 30 Septamber 2006 4281 %8 4379
Additions 601 75 67.6
Acquisition of business — 6.1 6.1
Dlsposals @o.n (0.5 {0.6)
Impairment koss (1.6 — (1.6)
Translation differences {0.6) - (0.6)
QOther movements 1.3 08 (0.5)
Al 30 September 2007 484.6 237 508.3
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

ERP systems
and software COther Total
B million R mmillion R miilion
5. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Amortisation
At 1 October 2005 84.9 10.8 95.7
Charge for the year 68.0 05 68.5
Disposals 2.4 - (2.4)
Translation differences 1.0 — (R
Other movermnents 25 2.4 0.1
At 30 September 2006 154.0 8.9 162.9
Charge for the year 678 1o 9.4
Disposals ©n 0.5 0.5
Translation differences 0.1 — o.n
Other movements 0.3 0.6 09
At 30 September 2007 2219 10.6 2325
Net carrying value at 30 September 2007 2627 13.1 2758
Net carrying value at 30 September 2006 2741 09 275.0

Other intangible assets consist of patents, tradernarks and licences.

In 2006 the group’s ERP system was Impaired on the basis of its ability to generate future identifiable cash benefits.
A discount rate of 10.9% was applied to the future cash flows which res ited In a recoverable amount of R41.4 million
and consequently an impairment loss of R75,0 milllon was recognised. The common design project wos caplialised
in South Africa services for segment reporting purposes. The comrron design intangible asset is held at group
level.

The balance of the Impairment losses of RT.6 milion (2006 R12.6 millicn) related to divisional implementations using
similar assurnptions.

: é RN
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2007 2006
R million R milllon
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
(Refer to Annexure A for details)
Cost of investments in associates 69 351
Share of cther post-acquisition reserves i.8 344
Share of post-acquisition profit, net of dividend received 12.5 20.h
Cpening batance (20.1) (20.7)
Share of current year profit 43 -
Reclassified to available-for-sale financial assets 28.3 —
212 49.4
The financial year-ends of Group Risk Holdings (Proprietary) Limited and
Collect-a-Can (Proprietary) Limited are 30 September and 31 Decernber
respectively, The September management accounts were used to
prepare the financial statements for consolidation purposes.
In the current year the group concluded that it no longer had significant
influence over its Zimbabwean associates. The canying value of
R24.0 million was reclassified to avallable-for-sale financial assets. The net
carrying amount of these assoclates in the prior year was R31.5 million.
The group has obligations in respect of losses from associates to the extent
of the carrying value of the investment.
Summarised financial information in respect of the group's associates is set
out below:
Revenue 3216 A42.2
Profit for the year 856 2.2
Group's share of associates’ profit for the year 43 —
Total assets 3789 4362
Total llabilities 3238 Jig4
Net assefs 55.1 17.8
Group's share of associates’ net assets 21.2 49.4
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
{Refer to Annexure A for detalls)
The following amounts are included in the group’s inancial statements as a
result of the proportionate consolidation of its joint ventures:
income 589.9 447.0
Expenses 569.4 434.6
Current assets 266.7 2128
Non-cunent assets 2412 2167
Current tiabilities 113.6 89.5
Non-current liabilities KXW 2649

The group’s share of capital commitments from joint ventures is R164.4 million.
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for the year ended 30 September (continued)

tes to the group financial statements

2007 2006
R million R million
8.  OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Avaliable-forsale financial assels
(Refer 1o Annexures A and B for details)
Investrments in subsidiarles and ossociates in Zimbabwe 38.9 —
Fair value adjustment (38.9) —
Other investments 16.2 16.5
16.2 16.5
During the year the group reclassified the net carrying value of its
subsidiaries and associates in Zimbabwe to available-forsale
financial assets.
Loans and receivables
Loans to minority shareholders and joint venture partner’ 181.3 119.5
Neon-current receivable on disposal of properties? 208 169.8
Deferred consideration on disposal of business — 638
Equipment sales receivables® 437 24.0
Other 13.2 1.7
Total loans 2590 338.8
Less: Amounts recelvable within one year, reflected in trade receivakiles
and other current assets (note 11) 25 152.2
Net non-current loans and receivables 249.5 236.6
Total 265.7 253.1

interest is charged at the South Afilcan prime rote,

2. The non-current receivable on disposal of properties relates to the mertgage loan to Nampak Wiegand Glass (Proprigtary)

The loans to the minority shareholders refate to two unsecured ioans. The first loan Is repayable on 31 May 2010 and interast is
charged at the South African prime rata. The second loan is repayable in approximately 10 years and interest is charged at
the South African prime rate less 2%. The loan fo the joint venture pariner is unsecured and not repayable before October 2008,

Limited. The loan has a final repayment date in Apil 2015 and interest is charged at the South Afiican prime rate less 2%.

3. Equipment sales receivables are repayable from 2009 to 2014, Inferast Is cherged ot the South African prime rate.

v
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DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major ceferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group, and the movernents therecn, during the
current and prior reporting periods:

Accele-
rated
tax Retirement
depre- Prepay- benefit
ciation  Provisions ments  obligation Other  Tax losses Total

R million R miliion R million R million R million R million R million

At 1 October 2005 785.9 (96.7) 41 {159.2) 127.0 (11.4) 649.7
Credit to equity for the year — — — (38.2) — — (38.2)
ChorgeHcredit) to profit for
the year 154 17.4 (3.2 54 59 (129 16.4
Disposal of subsidiary 3.5 1.8 on 0.5 —_ 3.7 24
Tronsiation differences 1.9 2.5 on 1.7 259 — 435
At 30 September 2006 839.7 (80.0 07 (213.0) 147.0 (20.6) 673.8
Charge to equity for the year — — — 47,5 - — 47.5
Charge/(credif) to profit for
the year 2.3 37 10 9.9 22.8 Q10.7) 29.0
Disposat of subsidiary 0.5) — — — — — 0.6
Acquisition of subsidiary 2.5 0.7 — - — — 1.8
Reclossified to available-for-
sale financial assets 3.8 — — — — — 3.6
Translation differences (16.4) 0.4 — 3.1 0.9 — (14.8)
At 30 September 2007 823.9 (76.6) 1.7 (152.5) 1679 (31.3) 733.1
2007 2006

R million R million

Analysed between:

Deferred fax assets 9.6 Q.6
Deferred tax ligbilities 742.7 6834
7331 673.8

At balance sheet date, the group had unused tax losses of R144.6 million (2004: R119.3 million) available for offset against future
taxable profits, Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of R107.5 milion (2006: R70.3 milllon} of such losses, No
deferred tax asset has been recognised on the remaining R37.1 milion (20046, R49.0 millien) due te the unpredictability of future
prefit streams. There are no expiry dates on the tax losses.
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notes 1o the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (confinued)

2007 2006
R million R million
10.  INVENTORIES
Raw materials 1004.6 924.3
Work in progress 2093 208.7
Finished goods 8759 8183
Consumables 266.4 217.9
Total 23562 21692
Carrying amount of inventories included at net redlisable value KA 1117
Arnount of write-down of inventory to net redlisabie value included in raw
materials and consumables used 35 14.1
11.  TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Trade receivables 25304 24853
Prepayments 1251 196.9
Derivative financial instruments (note 1) 15.2 106.5
Current portion of loans and receivobles (note 8) @5 152.2
Provision for rebates (18.4) (1.n
Cther 260.1 200.1
Total 29219 31093
An dllowance of R66.8 milion (2006: RS9 million) has been made for
estimated irecoverable amounts from sale of goods. This allowance has
been determined by reference to past default,
The directors consider that the camying amount of trode receivable; and
other current assets approxirnates their fair value.
12, BANK BALANCES, DEPOSITS AND CASH
Cash at bank and on hand 183.4 139.4
Short-term bank deposits 420.1 2752
Total 403.5 4146
South African rand 70.8 56.1
Foreign currencies 532.7 358.5
603.5 414.6
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ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The directors resolved to dispose of the rental hygiene business in Tissue. The effective date of disposal is
1 November 2007, The disposal group is included in the Africa Paper segment for segmental reporting purposes.
The proceeds on disposal are expected to exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assefs and fiabilities.
and accordingly no impairment loss has been recognised.

The directors resolved to dispose of certain properties in Europe. The properties are included in Services for
segmental purposes. The proceeds on disposcls are expected to exceed the net carrying amount of the
properties and accordingly no impairment has been recognised.

The assets and liabilities aftributable to the business units and assets which are expected o be sold in the
next 12 months, have been classified os a disposal group held for sale and are presented separately in the
balance sheet.

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal group classified as held for sale are as follows:

2007 2006
R mitlion R million
Assets classified as held for sale

Property, plant and equipment 321 12.%
Deferred tax asset — 0.2
Inventories 5.1 287
Trade receivables and other current cssets 4.1 14
Bank balances, deposits and cash - 0.1
1.3 433

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale
Deferred tax liabilities — 08
Trade payables and other current liabilities - 34
Bark overdrafts and loans - 09
- 51
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

14, CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves

Capital reserves

Share
Skare Share Treqisury option
capital premium shares reserve

Notes R million R million R milion R million

At 1 October 2005 36.0 2 596.7 (705.1) 2290
Employee share option scheme:

- value of employee services - — — 28.5
- proceeds from shares Issued 0.2 29.7 — —

Shares repurchased in terms of scheme of
arangerment;

- shares cancelled 0.9) (279.9) — —
- shares held as treasury shares — — (683.6) -
Currency fransiation differences —_ — — —
Hyperinflation capital adjusiment — — — —
Gain on cash flow hedges — — — —
Actuarial loss — —_ — —
Profit for the year — — — —
Dividends paid — — — —
Cash distribution from share premium — (196.1) 217 —

At 30 September 2006 453 21504 {1 367.0) 257.5
Employee share option schems:

- value of employes services — — — 28.3
- proceeds from shares issued 0.1 25.1 — —
Currency translation differences — — — —
Hyperinfiation capital adjusiment — - — —
Loss on cash flow hedges - — — —
Transfer from cash flow hedging reserve to assets — — — —

Transfer from cash flow hedging reserve to
income statement — — - —

Actuarial gain — — — —
Profit for the year - — —_ —
Loss on available-for-scle financial ossets — — — —
Disposal of business — — — —
Dividends paid 27 — — — —
Cash distributions from share premium 27 — 649.2) 718 —

At 30 September 2007 5.4 15263 (1295.2) 285.8
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QOther reserves

Available-
Share of forsale Total
Foreign Hyper fFinancial Recognised non- financial attributable
currency infidfion  instruments actearia!  distributable assefs 1o equity
franslation capital hedging gains/  reservesin  revaluation Retained  hoiders of Minority fotal
reserve  adjustment reserve {losses)  associates reserve Other eamnings  company inferest equity
R million R million R million R million R million R million R million R million R mlllion R million R million
(280.2) (14.4) {0.2) (33.9) 1.8 — 0.2 37589 5619.2 az4 56516
- — - — — - — — 28.5 — 28.5
- — — — — - - — 209 — 209
- — - - - - - - (280.8) — (280.8)
- — — — — — — — (683.6) — (683.6)
586.7 — — — — — — — 556.7 53 562.0
— 2.4 — — — — - — (2.4) — (2.4)
— — 20.5 - — — — — 295 — 2.5
- — — %2.1) - - - - 92.1) - 92.1)
- — — — — — — 861.8 8518 45 866.3
— - - - — — — (329.1) (329.1) 1.5 (330.6)
— — — — - - - - {174.4) — (174.4)
306.5 {16.8) 293 (125.6) 1.8 — 02 4291.6 5563.2 40.7 56039
- — — — — — - — 283 — 283
- — — — — — - — 252 — 25.2
{121.9 — - - — — — — (121.5) 4.3 (125.8)
— (7.9 - — - - — - (7.5 — 7.5
- - o7 - - - — - (0.7 — {10.7)
- - (16.5) - — - — - (16.5) — (16.5)
— - .4 — — — - — 2.4) — (2.4)
— — - 100.6 — — - — 100.6 — 1004
— — - — — — — 10542 1054.2 1.7 10559
- - - - - 38.9 — - 38.9) - (38.9)
6.6 — - - — — — — 6.6 29 16.5
- — - — — — - (1.2 (1.2) {0.5) .7
— — - _ - — — —_ (577.4) — (577.4)
191.6 (24.3) (0.3) (25.0) 1.8 (38.9) 0.2 53446 460020 415 60495
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
R million R million
14.  CAPITAL AND RESERVES {continued)

Share capital and premium
Authorised:
745 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 centfs each 373 373
100 000 6.5% cumulative preference shares of R2 each 0.2 0.2
400 000 6% cumulative preference shares of R2 each 0.8 08
31 857 200 preferred ordinary shares of 5 cents each 1.6 1.6
100 redeemable preference shares of 5 cents each - —
Authorised share capital 39.9 39.2
Issued:
655 972 061 (2006: 653 726 161} ordinary shares of 5 cents each 328 327
100 000 6.5% cumulative preference shares of R2 each 0.2 0.2
400 000 6% cumulative preference shares of R2 each 038 038
31 857 195 preferred ordinary shares of 5 cents each 1.6 1.6
Issued share capital 354 353
30 395 534 (2006: 30 147 034) ordinary shares have been set aside for
employees’ share schemes.
The preferred ordinary shares will convert to ordinary shares on the earliest
of 31 January 2011 or the date on which Red Coral investments 23
(Proprietary) Uimited is obliged to redeem all the preference shares, issued
to its financiers, upon an event of default,in accordance with the teims of
the preference share agreements between Red Coral and its financiers.
The preferred ordinary shares will confer on the helders the right to
receive a cumulative fixed annual dividend of 100 cents payable in egual
instalments of 50 cents each on 31 January and 31 July each year up
to 31 January 2011, with each distibution ranking ahead of the ordinary
shares.
Share premium 15263 21504
Treasury shares () 295.2) (Y 367.0)
27 369 195 ordinary shares held by the Nampak Black Management
Share Trust (378.8) (405.9)
51 301 ordinary shares held by the Nampak 1979 Share Purchase Scheme (0.4) 0.4
31 857 195 preferred ordinary shares held by Red Coral Investrents 23
(Proprietary) Limited on behalf of broad-based participants in Nampak's
black economic empowerment scheme {290.5) (290.5)
45 070 855 ordinary shares held by Nempak Products Limited (625.5) 670.2)
Share option reserve 2858 257.5
Capital reserves 5169 1040.9

N
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14.  CAPITAL AND RESERVES {confinued)
Reconciligtion of number of shares issued
Ordinary shares
Number of ordinary shares issued at beginning of year 653 726 141 669 313 827
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares in terrms of the scheme of
arrangement - (18 563 000
Ordinary shares allotted to employees other than directors in terms of the
Nampak 1985 Share Option $cheme 2 245900 2 479 634
Shares allotted to directors in terms of the Nampak 1985 Share Option
Scheme - 495700
Number of ordinary shares issued at end of year 655 972 061 653 726 161
Treasury shares (72 491 351} (72 491 351)
Net number of ordinary shares 583 480 710 581 234 810

Preferred ordinary shares
There were no changes to the 31 857 195 shares allotted to Red Coral Investiments 23 (Proprietary) Limited.

Preference shares
There were no changes to the issued 6.5% and 6% preference shares.

Treqsury shares
Treasury shares represent Nampak Limited shares held by group subsidiory cormpanies.

Foreign currency transiation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Hyperinfiation capital adjustment

An entity whose functional currency Is that of a hyperinfiationary economy Is required to restate its financial
results so 0s fo present a more comparable set of financial statements. The hyperinfiation capital cdjustment is
used to show the hyperinflation effect on non-rmonetary reserves.

Financlal instruments hedging reserve

The hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulotive net change in the fair value of cash fiow
hedging instruments related to hedged transactions for which risk of ownership has not yet passed.

Recognised actuarial gains/(losses)

Actuarial gains and losses comprise:

(o) experience adjustents (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has
actualty occurred); and

(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.
The group policy is to recognise all actuarial gains/(losses) in the period in which they occur in equity.

Share of non-distributable reserves in associates

Non-distributable reserves in associates arise out of assoclate companies being equity accounted. These reserves
are not available for distribution by woy of dividends.
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

14.  CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
Avallable-forsale financial assets revaluation reserve
The available-forsale financial assets revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the falr value
of available-for-sale financial assets until the investment is derecogn’sed.
Minorily interest
Minority interest represents the value of the rermaining ownership in the subsidiary investrnents that are not wholly

owned by the group.

2007 2006

R million R million
15.  LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Redeemable/ Yearend
repayable interest rates

Secured loans’
- foreign 2008 -2010  4.9% to 12.7% 443.0 609.2
Unsecured loans
- local 2008 - 2012 6% to 14% 164.2 142.4
- foreign 2008 - 2010 9.6% 37 22
Capitalised finance leqses?
- local 2008 - 2012 11% 12 12% 39.8 458
- foreign 2008 - 2010 I%to21% 1.0 20
Non—ecourse debf®
- local 2008 - 2012 8.1% t0 9.4% 2731 280.1

9248 1081.7
Less: instaiments due for repayment within one year,
reflected as curent loans 398.3 599
Net non-current loans and borrowings 526.5 1021.8

1. Loans and borrowings are secured by the folfowing assets:
R1.3 milion (2006: R1.3 milon} debt is secured by the encumbrance of immovable properties. plant and equipment hoving a
book value of R1.1 million (2006: R3.5 million).
R320.9 million (2006: R462.8 million) debt is secured by a guarantee issued by Nampak Holdings (UK) plc ("NHUK®) and ifs
subsidiaries. The facility is subject to covenonts reiating fo interest cover and liquidity of the NHUK group. The NHUK group wos
well within the covenant requirements throughout the yvear under review.
RI120.8 militory (2006: R144.4 million) debt is secured by a guarantee issued by Nampak Limited.

No liabilities have been recognised for the outstanding guarantees.
2. Lease labiliies are effectively secured as the rights to the lsased asset revert to the lessor in the event of defauit. All leases are

on @ fixed repayment basis and no arrangement has been entered inte for contingent rental payments. Interest rates are fixed
at the contract date, The foir value of the group’s lease obligations approximates the carrying amount.

3. The non-recourse debt relates fo the preference share funding obtained by Red Coral Investments 23 (Proprietary Limited to
fund the purchase of prefarred ordinary shares in Nampak Limited as part of the biack economic empowerment iransaction
entered into in 2005. There is no recourse to Nampak Limited or any of its subsidiaries in respect of these borrowings. The debt
is subject to covenanis based an the Nampok share price.

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPORT 2007

A A . AR A



2007 2006
R million R million
15.  LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Current loans
Current portion of loans 380.5 43.2
Current portion of finance leases 178 16.7
Cormmercial paper - unsecured - 3750
Bank overdrafts - unsecured 1403.5 5439
Total current loans and borrowings 20008 978.8
Total borrowings 25283 20006
Summary of ormowings by year of redemption or payment: Totat Local Foreign
Total owing at 30 September 2007 924.8 4771 4477
2008 398.3 25.0 3733
Repayable during the year ending 2009 733 210 523
30 September 2010 37.6 15.5 221
2011 249.8 2498 —
2012 onwards 165.8 1658.8 —
Included above are minimum lease payments due on
caphaised finance leases by year of redermption of payment:
Total owing at 30 September 2007 408 39.8 1.0
2008 17.8 17.3 05
Minimum lease payments repayable 2009 13.2 12.9 03
during the year ending 30 September 2010 68 6.6 0.2
20Mm 22 2.2 —
2012 onwards 038 08 —
The directors esfimate the fair value of the group’s bomowings by discounting thelr future cash flows at the market rate.
2007 2006
R million R million
16.  OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Fixed escalation operating lease acerual
Operating lease liabilities 177 21.3
Less: Current portion 6.1 45
1.6 168
Non-current portion of decommissioning costs (note 19) 21 2.1
Total other non-current liabilities 13.7 189

The operating leases relate to @ number of land and buildings with remaining terms frorm 2008 to 2012,
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notes to the group financial statements
for the year ended 30 September (continued}
17, RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION
17.1 Defined confribution funds
Membership and costs for each fund are os follows:
Members Contribufion costs
2007 2006 2007 2006
Country R million R million
Nampak Group Pension Fund RSA 1768 1829 549 53.2
Nampak Conftributory Provident
Fund® RSA — J 845 — 36.5
Metal Box Provident Fund® RSA — 3380 - 358
Nampak Provident Fund RSA 7157 — 75.1 -
Nampak (KPL) Provident Fund RSA 480 531 925 1.3
Metal Box Namibia Pension Fund Narmibia 13 17 0.2 0.2
Nampak Kenya Limited Provident
Fund Kenya 156 216 02 0.2
Nampak Kenya Limited Staff Pension
and Life Assurance Scheme Kenya 34 52 0% -
Nampak Cartons Stakeholder Pension
Plan UK 231 259 48 29
Nompak Plastics Group Stakeholder
Pension Plan UK 204 223 2.8 0.9
Nampak pic Retirerment Benefit
Scherme** UK - — - 48
M.Y. Group Stakehclder Pension Plan UK 408 572 8.2 69
10 451 10 944 1566 152.7
External funds
External funds Europe 57 1506 1.2 1.1
Inctustry fundls RSA 1 864 1972 16.4 16.3
1921 3478 17.6 17.4
Totals 12 372 14 422 174.2 1701
“These two schemes were combined into the Nampak Provident Fund during the cument year.
**This scheme was closed during the previous financicl year with the members being transferred to M.Y. Group Stakeholder
Pension Plan.
17.2 Defined benefit funds

\
o

With effect from 7 December 2001 the Penston Funds Second Amendment Act was enacted in South Africe. In
terms of these amendments any surplus residing in pension funds govermned by the South Aftican Pension Funds
Act of 1956 must be dllocated on a fair basis to current and past members of the respective funds, The surplus
apportionment exercise has been completed and the apportionment submitted to the Financial Services Board

for approval. No surplus has been recognised by the group in respect of these funds in the curent year.

N
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17.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION (confinuec)
17.2 Defined benefit funds (confinued)
The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial vatuations were as follows:

Penslon plans Post-
South refirement
Africa Europe medical
2007
Assumptions
Discount rate 9.0% 5.8% 9.3%
Consumer price inflation (long-term) 52% 3% 55%
Expected return on funds’ assets 9.6% 56.9% 9.8%
Rate of compensation increase 67% 1.9% —
Pension increase 49% 29% —
Rate of medical infiation - - 6.0%
Healthcare ¢ost trend — - 6.0%
Membership data
Total membership 54 3033 5416
Agreed employer contribution rate 201% 11.9%* -
2006
Assumptions
Discount rate 2.5% 5.1% 9.5%
Consumer price inflation {long-term) 5.5% 2.8% 6.0%
Expected return on funds’ assets 10.0% 6.5% 10.0%
Rate of compensation increose 7.0% 3.6% —
Pension increase 5.4% 2.5% —
Rate of medical inflation — - 6.5%
Healthcare cost trend — — 6.5%
Membership data
Total membership 54 2038 5560
Agreed employer contribution rate 16.7% 11.9%" —

*The employer contribution rata relates o the Nampak Pension Plan and the Nampak Staff Pension Plan. The M.Y. Group Pension
Fund has a fixed contribution rate of £0.6 mifion per year.
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notes to the group financial stfatements

for the year ended 30 September (Continued)

17, RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
17.2 Defined benefit funds (continued)
The major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assefs are as follows:

Pension plans Post-
South refirement
Africo Europe medical
2007
Equity instruments 74.5% 32.8% -
Debt instruments 11.8% 31.2% -
Diversified growth fung - 18.8% -
Property 11.0% 4.6% -
Cash 0.6% 1.1% 100.0%
Qther 2.1% 9.5% -
2006
Equity Instruments 76.4% 53.6% 8.0%
Debt instruments 2.0% 20.9% 1.5%
Property 11.4% 5.9% 0.3%
Cash 0.6% 3.9% 89.8%
Cther 2.6% 6.7% 0.4%
The amounts recognised In the balance sheet are as follows:
Pension funds Post-
South retirement
Africa Furope medical Tetal
R million R million R million R million
2007
Valuation results
Fair value of ptan assets 337 14408 366.5 18410
Prasent value of benefit obligations (36.5) (1618.5) (75LD) (2 406.1)
Net liability in the balance sheet (2.8) (777 (384.6) (565.1)
2006
Valuation results
Fair value of plan assets 28.5 | 404.1 396.8 1829.4
Present value of benefit obligations {30.9 (1783.00 (737.4) (2 5561.3)
Net liability in the balance sheet 24 (378.9) (340.6) {(721.9)
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17.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
17.2 Defined benefit tunds (confinued)
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
Pension funds Post-
South refirement
Africa Europe medical Total

R million R million R million R million
2007
Current service cost 1.0 78 14.7 235
interest cost 29 87.5 701 160.5
Expected return on plan assets (2.8) (88.8) (39.6) (131.2)
Total 1.1 45 452 52.8
Actual return on plan assets 37 949 50 103.6
Net actuarial loss/(gain) taken to equity 0.3 {154.0) 5.6 (148.1)
2006
Current service cost 09 72 15.7 238
Interest cost 20 649 559 122.8
Expected retun on plan assets 2.0 (60.0) (29.8) (CARY)]
Total 0.8 12.1 418 54.7
Actual return on plan assets 43 121.6 60.7 186.6
Net actuarial loss taken to equity 26 86.9 40.8 130.3
Changes in the fair value of plan assets
are as follows:
At 1 October 2005 29 9749 3393 13371
Expected return 2.1 &0.0 228 e
Actuarlal gains 22 61.6 0.9 94.7
Contributions by employers 1.0 3746 — 38.6
Contributions by memters 0.4 1.5 — 1.9
Translation difference on foreign plans - 3068 — 305.8
Benefits paid ©.n 37.3) (3.2) (40.6)
At 30 September 2006 285 14041 396.8 16294
Expected refum 28 88.8 39.6 131.2
Actuarial gains/(losses} 0% 6.1 (34.8) (27.6)
Contributions by employers 1.0 43.6 — 4.6
Contributions by members 05 1.3 — 1.8
Translation difference on foreign plans - (58.5) — (58.5)
Benefits paid - (44.6) (35.3) 79.9)
Al 30 Septemnber 2007 337 1440.8 366.5 1841.0
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

7.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
17.2 Defined benefit funds (coniinued)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Pension funds Post-
South refirement
Africa Europe medical Total
R million R miliion R million R million
At 1 October 2005 229 12158 639.1 18778
Service cost 09 7.2 16.7 2318
interest cost 20 64.9 55.9 1228
Actuarial losses 48 148.5 7.7 2250
Coniributions by members 04 1.5 - 1.9
Disposal of business — — an (.7
Transiation difference on foreign plans — 3823 — 382.3
Benefits paid n 37.2) (43.3) (80.6)
At 30 Septermnber 2006 e 1783.0 737.4 25513
Service cost 1.0 78 147 235
interest cost 29 87.5 701 160.5
Actuarial losses/(gains) 1.2 (147.9) (29.0) Q757
Confributicns by members 0.5 1.3 — 1.8
Translation difference on foreign plans - (68.6) — {68.6)
Benefits paid — (44.6) (42.3) 88.7)
At 30 September 2007 365 16185 7511 2 406.1
Expected contributions to defined benefit
plans in 2008 0.5 8.5 — 0.0
The history of the plans for the current and prior years are as follows:
Defined beneft pension plans
2007 2006 2005
R million R million R million
Fair value of plan assets 1 474.5 14326 997.8
Present value of benefit obligations (1 655.0) (18139 (1238.7)
Deficlt (180.5) (381.3) (240.9)
Experience adjustments on plan fabilities - 0.1%) 1.3%
Experience adjustments on plan assets 5.6% 4.4% 11.8%

v
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17.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMARON (confinued)
17.2 Defined benefit funds (continued}

Postretirement medicat

2007 2006 2005

R milllon & milion R million

Fair value of plan assets 3665 3968 339.3
Present value of benefit abligations (751.1) (737.4) (639.1)
Deficit (384.6) (340.6) (299.8)
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities 2.7% (14.3%) 3.0%
Experience adjustments on plan assets (4.1%) 2.2% 2.7%

Post-retirement medical plans

Assumed healthcare cost trends have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the income statement.
The effect of a one percentage point change in assumed heolthcare cost trend rates would be os follows:

One % point  One % point

increase decrease
R million R million

Effact on aggregate of the service costs and inferest cost 90.2 83.1
Effect on defined benefit obligation 890.3 6750
The statutory actuarlal valuations of the Fair value Fair value
defined benefit funds are as follows: Valuation date of assets of liabilities  Valuation basis

R million R million
Nampak Group Pension Fund 2910212004 228 213 AA
Narnpak plc Pension Plan® 30/09/2004 3782 465.5 MFR
Nampak plc Staff Pension Plan® 30/09/2004 286.6 369.5 MFR
Malbak Group of Companies Penston Fund 29/02/2004 33 42 AA
M.Y. Group Stakeholder Pension Plan® 05/04/2004 357.8 503.3 MFR
Nampak Post-Retirement Medical Aid Fund  30/09/2006 380.6 692.8 PUC
Malbak Post-Retirement Medical Ald Fund 30/09/2006 46.2 4.4 PUC

AA: aftained age  MFR: minimum funding requirements  PUC: projected unit cost

*These plons have a revised revaluation date of 5 April 2007, However, irustees only need to approve the valuation by July 2008.
therefore no revised valuation amounts are availoble.

The latest actuarial valuations in respect of the defined benefit funds found them in sound financial condition. In

ariving at their findings, the actuarles have taken into account reasonable long-term estimates of Inflation. future

increqses in wages, salaries and pensions ond sustainable investment refums. Funds denominated in foreign

currency have been franslated at the rate ruling on balance sheet date.

The valuations listed above are not necessarlly the valuations used In determining the surptus or cbligation
recognised on the balance sheet,
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
R million R million
18.  TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 1195.6 15560
Accruals 13316 13202
Derivative financial instrurments {note 1) 18.5 1.4
Other 1942 3.4
Total 2739.9 29710
Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
The directors consider that the carrying amount of frade payabiles ard other current liabilities approximates their
fair value.
Decom-
Restruc- Customer  missioning
Unbundling turing claims costs Other Total
R million R million R million R million R million R million
19.  PROVISIONS
At 1 October 2005 437 532 71 31 1.6 1087
Additions — 35 25 Q.1 — 6.1
Usage — (36.5) (4.4) — — (409
Reversals — (13.6) 2.2 — 1.9 Q7.7
Disposal of business — — — a.n — a.7n
Translation differences — 04 0.2 27 0.3 KX)
At 30 September 2006 437 7.0 32 42 — 58.1
Additions — 206 52 0.1 — 259
Usage - 7.4 0.5 — — 7.9
Reversals - (3.8) 2.6) - — (6.4)
Translation differences — 0.3 01 o.n — (0.3)
At 30 September 2007 437 16.1 5.4 42 - 69.4
2007 2006
R million R mifion
Analysed as:
Current 67.3 56.0
Non-current (note 16) 2.1 2.1
69.4 58.1

R
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19.  PROVISIONS {confinued)
Unbundling
These provisions relate to potential liabilities identified when the Malbak group unbundled its non-packaging
business to shareholders.
Restructuring
Provisions for restructuring are recognised when the group has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement
that plan or announcing its main features fo those affected by It. Restructuring provisions only include those direct
expenditures which are necessarlly entailed by the restructuring and cre not associated with the ongoing
activities of the group.
Customner claims
Amounts expected to be payable under customer claims in respect of packaging already supplied. The provisicn
is based on historical customer claims data and a weighting of all possible outcomes agalnst thelr associated
probabilities.
Decommissioning costs
Decommissioning costs are provided when there is a legal or environmental obligation for the group to restore
the site.
Other
These provisions relate to guarantees or warranties on the sales of businesses or divisions.
2007 2006
R million R million
20. REVENUE
Sale of goods 16 934.7 152217
Rendering of services 339 34.4
Other 45.8 58
170144 152619
21.  PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
Profit from operations is stated after taking into account the following items:
21.1 Included in employee benefit expense
Retrenchment costs 27.9 3.1
Defined benefit plan expense 52.8 547
Share-bosed payment expense on BEE transaction 20.0 210
Other share-based payment expenses 83 15
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nofes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September {continued)

2007 2006
R miilion R million
21.  PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS (continued)
21.2 Depreclation and amerlisation consists of
Investment properties 0.6 1.4
Freehold and leasehold buidings 216 258
Plant, equipment and vehicles 610.1 562.7
Infongible assets 69.4 68.5
701.7 658.4
21.3 Included in other operating expenses and income
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees 19.3 200
Audit fees in respect of IFRS audit — [¢N]
Expenses 1.0 09
Tax services 5.3 é.1
Cther services 14 28
27.0 299
The following amounts paid to auditors were capitalised during the yaar:
ERP support 9.6 10.3
Selling expenses 39.0 37.8
Distribution expenses 796.4 &98.7
Impairments
Plant and equipment 17.0 3.4
Assets clossified as held for sale - 32
Goodwil — 18.2
Intangible assets 1.6 87.6
18.6 124
Reversal of impairment losses on plant and equipment ne 20
Administration ond technicat fees 16.3 21.0
Rentals in respect of operating leases
Property 97.2 88.7
Plant, equipment and vehicles 82 11.0
105.4 xR7
E f; // e
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2007 2006
R million R million
21.  PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS (continued)
21.3 Included in other operating expenses and income (confinued)
Research and development expenditure 28.2 269
Net profit on disposal of businesses and other investments 16.8 0.7
Hyperinfiation monetary adjustment 49 (3.0)
Restructuring costs 3.4 —
Government grants received 20 33
Net (profit)/loss on fereign exchange (3.1} 13.9
Financial instruments fair value (loss)/gain (83.4) 88.6
Transfer from eguity on cash flow hedges (2.4) —
Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness (0.5) -
Net profit on disposal of property 202 7.7
Net (loss)y/profit on disposal of plant and equipment (0.5) 44
Net loss on disposal of Intangible assefs - (1.1}
Europe strategic review costs 50.3 —
21.4 Directors' emoluments
Executive directors
For managerial services 17.2 232
Retirernent fund contributions for managerial services 0.6 07
Total (a) 17.8 239
Non-executive directors
For services as directors 23 2.4
Total (b} 23 24
Paid by:
Company 15.8 140
Subsidicry companies 43 12.3
Total (@) + (b) 20 263
Gains made under the share schemes - 54
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

22.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
All share schemes are classified as equity-setiled schemes.
Black Management Trust ("BMT™)

During 2008, the group issued 27 369 195 ordinary shares to the BMT s part of ifs black economic empowerment
transoaction at a market value of R15.13 per share. The remuneration and nominations committee is responsible
for allocating rights $o the BMT shares to participants. Participation in the BMT is open to all the group’s current
and future black managers in South Africa.

Beneficiaries who cease to be employed by the Nampak group, othar than through refrenchment, within the first
three yeais after the allocation of such rights, forfeit all their rights in the BMT. Between the third and the fifth year
of the grant, such rights will be proportionately forfeited so that affer five years, the beneficiary will be entitled fo
receive full rights under the BMT, Beneficiaries may not dispose of their rights until the end of a ten-year lock-in
period on 31 Decermber 2015.

The fair value of rights allocated were calculated using the Binomial pricing model, and this expense is being
amortised over the vesting pericd of the shares.

Detuails of the share grants outstanding during the year are os follows:

2007 2006
Walghted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
allocations issue price dlocations issue price
R R
Outstanding at beginning of year 17 780 000 15.13 17 860 000 15.13
Granted during the year 6520 000 1513 1600000 15.13
Forfeited during the year (3 055 000) 1513 {1 680 000) 1513
Outstanding at end of year 21 245 000 13.13 17 780 000 16,13
Exercisable ot end of year - — — —

Performance Share Plan (“*PSP™)

During July 2006, the group adopted a performance share plan. Participation is restricted to senior executives and
executive directors, and is subject to approval by the remuneration and nominations committee.

Performance shares were allocated on condition that certain performance criteria will be satisfied commencing
on 1 April 2006 and ending on 31 March 2009, which is the performance period. On 15 June 2009, the extent to
which the performance criteria have been met will be measured. Tha number of shares reteased will depend on
Nampak's ranking for the performance period. To the extent that the performance criteria are not met, the
number of performance shares capable of being exercised will be less than the number allocated. The
performance criteria are based on Nompok's total shareholder retur ("TSR™) compared to the TSR of constituent
cormpanies of the ALS! 40, excluding mining and rescurces cornpanies. The vesting period of the share
appreciation rights is 15 June 2009 to 15 June 2012,

Between the third and fifth year of the grant, such rights will be propertionately released so thot after five years
the participant will be entitled to receive full rights under the PSP

The vesting schedule betow highlighis the allocation of the PSP rights:

Vesting percentage
of performance

TSR ranking of Nampak shares under aword

26 or lower out of 32 companies 0%

15 out of 32 companies 33.5%

S out of 32 companies 0%

1 out of 32 companies 100%
YD
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22,

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (coniinued}
Details of the share grants outstanding during the year are as follows:

2007 2006

Number Number

of awards of awards

Outstanding at beginning of year 1 295 000 —

Granted during the year — 1295000

Outstanding at end of year 1295000 1265000

Exerciscble at end of year - —
Share grants outstanding at end of year have the following expiry dates:

Expiry date - year ending on 30 Septernber 2007 2006

Shares Shares

‘000 ‘000

2009 417 a7

2010 431.7 431.7

201 431.6 431.6

Share Appreciation Plan (“SAP™)

During July 2006, the group adopted a share appreciation plan. Participation Is restricted to senlor management
and executive directoss, and is subject to approval by the remuneration and nominations committee.

Share appreciation rights were dllocated on condltion that certain performance criteria wil be satisfied
commencing on 1 Aprll 2006 and ending on 31 March 2009, which is the performance petiod. On 15 June 2009,
the extent to which the performance criteria have been met wil be measured. The performance criterla are
based on improvements in Nampak's annual headline earnings per share ("AHEPS™) relative to the curnulative
CPI within the performance period. The vesting period of the share appreciation rights is 15 June 2009 to
15 June 2012. Nampak has the option af exercise date to discharge its obligation to deliver shares by paying a
cash bonus equivalent to the market value of the shares entitled.

Betwean the third and fifth year of the grant, such rights will be proportionately released so that after five years
the participant will be entitied to receive full rights under the SAR

The vesting schedule below hightights the allocation of the SAP rights:

Vesting percentage
of share appreciation

AHEPS relative to CPI rights under allocation
CPl + 2% 0%
CPl+ 3% 0%
CPi + 6% &0%
CPl+ 9% 100%
4 LN
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

22.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Detalls of the share rights outstanding during the year are as follows:

2007 2006

Weighted Weighted

Number of average Numbser of average

allocations  exercise piice dliocations  exercise price

R R

Outstanding at beginning of year 2 896 500 17.07 — —

Granted during the year 8000 18.82 3000 500 17.07

Forfelted during the year {179 000) 17.07 (104 000) 17.07

Qutstanding at end of year 2725500 17.08 2896 500 17.07

Exerclsable at end of year - - - —_
Share iights outstanding at end of year have the following expiry daies:

Expiry date - year ending on 30 September 2007 2006

Shares Shares

‘000 ‘000

2009 908.5 965.5

2010 908.5 965.5

2011 908.5 965.5

Nampak 1985 Share Optlon Scheme (“The Option Scheme™)

The Option Scheme has been discontinued.

Participants who cease to be employed by the Nampak group. ofher than through retirement, within the first
three years after the aliocation of such rights, will forfeit all their rights in the Option Scheme. Between the third
and the fifth year of the grant, such rights will be proportionately forfelted so that after five years the beneficiary

will be entitled to receive full ights under the Opfion Scheme.
Detalls of the share options issued after 7 November 2002, and outstanding during the year are as follows:

2007 2006
Welighted Weighted
Number average Number avergge
of opfions  exercise price of options  exercise price
R R
Cutstanding at beginning of year 4 380 700 13.27 4585700 13.23
Forfeited during the year (72 500) 1234 (190 000) 1237
Exercised during the year (182 100) 12.34 {15 000} 12.34
Qutstanding at end of year 4126100 13.33 4380 700 13.27
Exercisable ot end of year 896 433 12.38 36 067 12.80
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22, SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Share options outstanding at end of year have the following expiry dates:

Expiry date - year ending on 30 September 2007 2006
Shares Shares
‘000 ‘000
2013 108.2 108.2
2014 24729 27215
2015 1545.0 15450
The calculated fair values and significant The Option
inpuls into the model were as follows: BMT PSP SAP Scherme
Weighted average exercise price 15.1 — 17.1 133
Expected volatility 37.7% 37.1% 372.0% 23.4%
Expected life 10 years Syears 5 years 10 years
Risk-free rate 8.0% 7.1% 71% 8.3%
Expected dividend yield 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 32%
R million R million R million R million
2007

Fair value of options/rights granted
in the year 3.4 - 01 —
Amortised expense 200 26 54 0.3

2006

Fair value of options/rights granted
in the year 7.7 9.0 200 —
Amortised expense 210 0.5 1.0 6.0

Expected volatility was determined with reference to historical volatilty. The expected useful life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on management's best estimate, for the effects of forfaitures, exercise restrictions and
behavicural considerations.

2007 2006
R million R million

23.  FINANCE COSTS
Interest paid - short-ferm facilitles 1949 125.0
Interest paid - long-term facilities 85.4 58.6
Interest paid - other 43 1.8
Less: Interest capitalised (M.6 -
2730 185.4

Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets is calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 10% fo
expenditure on those assets.
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
R million R million
24. FINANCE INCOME
Interest received - short-term facllities 46.2 30.2
Interest received - joint ventures 19.2 1.9
Interest received - other 16.8 204
822 62.7
25.  INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS
Nermal dividends - South African 10 a8
26. INCOME TAX
Cunent tax
- Current year 3416 352.2
~ Pricr year 1.1 126.3
- Capital gains tax 0.3 5.7
- Hyperinfigtion adjustment 67 26
Deferred tax
- Cumrent year 55.8 365
- Prior year (2.7 (24.2)
- Change in tax rate (16.4) -
- Capital gains tax (1.8) -
- Secondary tax on companies {0.3) —
- Hyperinflatlon adjustment 44 4.1
Secondary tax on companies 24 459
Withholding and foreign tax 47 4.4
Total 3858 5537

The company tax rate in South Africa is 29% (2006: 29%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation
for other jurisdictions Is calculated al the rofes prevaiing in those relevant jurisdictions,
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2007 2006
% %
26, INCOME TAX (confinued)

Reconciliation of rate of tax
Effective group ate of tax 268 390
Reduction in tax charge due to:
- dividend income 0.1 0.1
- exempt income (including capital profits) 1.1 35
- government incentives 2.5 1.1
- adjustment for prior year 0.8 -
- tax rate reduction 1.1 —
- capltal gains tax 0.1 —
- tax rote differential 0.8 —
Increase in tax rate due fo:
- adjustment for prior year — 7.2
- deferred faxation not recognised (0.2) —
- capital gains fax — (0.4)
- disallowable expenses 24) (18
- hyper-inflation adjustment 0.7 (0.5
- impairment of goodwill - 0.4
- Imputed income - section 90 - 0.1}
- secondary tax on companies 0.1 3.2)
- share-based payment expense (0.6) 0.6y
- tax rate differential - 0.2
- withholding taxes (0.3) 0.3)
Norrmal tax rate 29.0 200

In addition to the income tax expense charge fo profit or loss. o deferred fax charge of R47.5 million
(2006: R38.2 million credit) has been racognised in equily during the year.
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notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 20046
R million R rillion
27. DIVIDENDS AND CASH DISTRIBUTIONS
Dividends paid on ordinary shares
2006: Final dividend No 74 - 56.6 cents per share - 368.8
Dividend atftributable to freasury shares — 4.0
Other dividends 1.2 1.3
Net dividends paid 1.2 329.1
Cash distributions from share premium
Final cash distribution No 2 paid on 15 January 2007: 66.1 cents per share 432.8 -
Interim cash distribution No 3 paid on 16 July 2007: 33.0 cents per share
(2006: No 1 - 30.0 cents per share) 216.4 196.1
Cash distribution attributable to freasury shares (71.8) 1.7
Net cash distribution 577.4 174.4
Total dividends and cash dishibutions 578.6 5035
Secondary tax on companies (“STC™) on dividends 12.5% 12.5%
The cash distributions paid out of share premium did not attract 51C.
On 21 November 2007, the directors declared cash distribution No 4 of
82.3 cents per share, payaite on 14 January 2008 to shareholders registered
on 11 January 2008. This cash distribution is subject to approval by
shareholders at the annual general meeting and has not been included
s q liability in these financial statements,
Cents Cents
Analysis of cash distributions declared in respect of current year’s ecrnings:
Cash distributions per ordinary share
Interim 33.0 0.0
Final 823 &1
115.3 26.1

6.5% and &% cumulative preference dividends

Preference dividends tetalling RO.1 million (2006: R0.1 milion} were declared on 22 Novernber 2006 and 21 June

2007, and paid on 5 February 2007 and 23 July 2007 respectively.
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2007 2006
R million R miflion
28.  BASIC, FULLY DILUTED AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share is based on eamings
of R1 054.1 million (2006: RB61.7 milllon} and the weighted average of
587 504 836 (2006: 579 968 449) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
The calculation of fully dituted earmings per ordinary share is based on
eamings of R1 078.4 millon (2006: R§86.5 million) and the weighted average
of 626 903 310 (2006: 415 117 547) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Determination of basle earnings
Nat profit atfributable to equity holders of the company 1054.2 B41.8
Less: Preference dividend (0.1) [(VR)]
Basic earnings 1054.1 861.7
Determination of diluted earnings
Basic earnings 1054.1 861.7
Dividend paid to preference share funders 24.3 248
Earnings 1078.4 886.5
Headline earnings per share
Basic (cents per share) 184.6 1512
Diluted (cents per share) 175.4 146.6
The calculation of headline earnings per ordinary share is based on
earnings of R1 075.2 milion (2006; R877.0 million) and the weighted overage
of 582 504 836 (2006: 579 968 449) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
The calculation of fully diluted headline eamings per ordinary share is based
on eamings of R1 099.5 miion (200¢: RY01.8 milion) and the weighted average
of 626 903 310 (2006: 615 117 547) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Determination of headline earnings Gross Net
2007
Basic eamings 1054.1
Adjusted for:
Net impalrment losses on goodwill, plant, equipment and intangible assets 6.7 4.7
Net profit an disposal of businesses and other investrments (16.8) (14.9)
Net profit an disposal of property, plant, equipment and infangible assets {19.7) (19.0}
Europe strategic review costs 50.3 50.3
Headline eamings 1075.2
2006
Basic eamings B61.7
Adjusted for:
Net Impairment losses on goodwil, plant, equipment and Intangible assets 1104 83.8
Net profit on disposal of businesses and other investments 0.7 .75
Net profit on disposal of property, plant. equipment and intangible assets (750 (67.8)
Headline earnings 8770

>
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notes to the group financial statements

for the yaar ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
28. BASIC, FULLY DILUTED AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
(continued)
Determination of diluted average shares
Welghted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
eqarnings per share 582 504 836 577 9468 449
Eifect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Ordinary shares issued to the Nampak Black Managerment Share Trust 18 037 893 14 065 435
Pretemed ordinary shares issued to Red Coral Investments 23
(Proprietary) Umited 19 025 580 14 945 261
Other share incentive plans 7 335001 & 138 402
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share 626903 310 615 117 547
R million R millior
29.  OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The group has certain lease commitments in respect of land and buildings,
plant, equipment and vehicles, which are payable as follows:
Yeaor ending 30 September
2007 - B6A4
2008 91.9 711
2009 80.9 56.2
2010 67.4 459
201 55.7 154.8
2012 and beyond 136.0 -
Total 4319 4144
Comprising:
Land and buildings 3809 374
Vehicles 4.7 8.7
Other 46,3 38.3
4319 4144
30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Guarantees in respect of housing loans - 0.2
Guarantees in respect of property leases 23 20
Customer claims and other 14.2 84
Toxation 670.2 746.3
Totol 5867 7569
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30.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

The South Affican Revenue Service ("SARS”) has raised assessments against o number of companies in the group,
covering two broad areas.

The fitst area of assessment relates to Malbak Umited and a number of its subsidiary companies which were
acquired by the group in August 2002, In respect of fransactions which took place between 1991 and 2001. SARS
is chaiming tax on deemed interest and alleged foreign exchange gains on loans made to an indirect, offshore
subsidiary of Malbak, donations tax on the sale by Malbak of ifs rigid plostic business in 2001 and donations tax
on the write-off of loans made to o number of employee share trusts which were sat up in the Malbak group. In
respect of the Malbak assessments, the group has investigated each transaction and has taken legal opinion.
including two senior counsels. As a result, the group is confident that it con successfully defend agoinst these
assessments. Objections were lodged against oll the assassments with SARS. SARS has largely disallowed the
objections and all the assessments have been appealed. An amount of RS0 million has been paid to SARS on @
without-prejudice basis and a suspension of further payment obligations has been granted by SARS.

In the second area of assessment SARS ks seeking to tax the portion of the insurance proceeds arising from the
fire at the glass furnace in 2004 that is considered capital in nature. In addition, SARS Is seeking 1o tax some of the
proceeds earller than the date on which these amounts were inctuded in the tax return. The group is confident
that it can successfully defend against this assessment.

The tax contingent fiabilities include R189.1 million (2006: R243.8 million) for tax, R127.6 milion (2006: R128.7 mifion)
for penalties and R353.5 million (2006: R373.8 million) for interest.

Last year the group reported that SARS was seeking to tax the profits made by Metal Box Botswana (Proprietary)
Limited in the years 1996 to 2001 on the grounds that Metal Box Botswana was effectively managed in South
Africa and did not hove a permanent establishment In Botswana. After lodging an appeal against the assessment
SARS withdrew the assessment In full.

Previously the group reported on a compiaint lodged with the Comnpetition Commission for alleged collusion with
respect to the acquisifion of cutlet for glass container manufacturing and that this complaint had been referred
to the Competition Triounal for hearing. There is nothing further to repart on this issue and the date of the hearing
has not yet been set.

2007 2004
R million R million

3L

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments for the acquisition of property. plant and equipment
- contracted 82461 3370
- approved 861.5 625.1

Total 16876 962.1

The expenditture, which will become payable In the following yeor, will be
financed from group resources and, if required, additlonal borrowings.
Included in the total capital commitments is an amount of RSB0 million for
the beverage can facllity in Angola,

The group's share of capital commitments for property, plant and
equipment of its jointly controlled entities are 164.4 86.0

32.

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
No materlal post-balance sheet events occurred that Impacted the group’s financial statemenis.
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| notes to the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
R million R million
33, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Group companies, in the ordinary course of business, entered into various
purchase and sale fransactions with associates and joint ventures. The
effect of these transactions is included in the financial performance and
resutts of the group. Terms and conditions for these transactions are
defermined on an arm’s length basis.
Disclosures in respect of associates and joint ventures are provided in
notes 6 and 7. Details of joint ventures and associotes are detailed in
Annexure A,
Material related party fransactions were as follows:
Sales and services rendered 1o related parties:
Associates 127 19.9
Joint ventures 1.7 39
Sale of property to joint venture — 7.2
14.4 3.0
Purchases and services received from related parties:
Contributions to the Nampak Medical Aid Society in respect of cument
amployees 74.1 726
Interest received from related parties:
Joind ventures 19.2 ne
Interest poid to related parties:
Joint ventures 2.1 —
Joint venture partner 164 10.7
185 10,7
Amounts owing {(after eliminating intercompany balances) by related
parties are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements for
those balance sheet items.
Amounts receivable from related parties:
Loans fo joint venture (note 8) 170.0 191.0
Loans to minority shareholders (note 8) 321 149
2021 205.9
Amounis payable o related partles;
Loans from joint venture partner (note 15) 149.2 104.6
Key management
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
confroling the activities of the group, directly or indirectly. Key monagement personne! have been
defined as the board of directors of the holding company. the executive committee of Africa, the executive
committee of Europe ond the group executive committee.
<A
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33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

A number of key management personnel hold positions in related entities where they may have significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of those entitles. These retationships have been listed betow:

Key management member Entity Position in entity

PL Campbelt* Pongbourne Properties Limited Chairmon

MM Kaiz Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs Inc Executive chairman

RJ Khoza Aka Capital (Proprietary) Limited
{"Aka Capital™) Executive chairman

KM Mokoape Red Coral investments 23 (Proprietary)
Limited (*Red Coral™) Shareholder

ML Nedlovu Red Coral Shareholder

MH Visser Remgro Limited Chief executive officer

TN Jacobs Nampak Group Pensicn Fund Employer trustee
Nompak Medical Ald Scheme Chairman audit committes

FV Tshiqi Nompak Group Pension Fund Employer trustee

LD Kidd Nampak Group Pension Fund Employer tiustee
Nampak plc Staff Pension Plon Employer trustee
Nampak plc Pension Plan Employer trustee

NP O'Brien Nampak Group Pension Fund Employer trustee

L Taviansky M.Y. Group Holdings Penslon Plan Employer trustee

N Cumming Packaging Council of South Africa President

M Collet Europeon Carton Makers Assoc. President

DA Hawton Standard Bank Group Non-executive director

RA Willlams First Rand Limited Non-executive director

*Retired on 31 Moy 2007

Transactions between the group and these entities have occurred under terms and conditions that ore no more
favourable than those enfered into with third parties in arms” length transactions,

Related party transactions include:

Q) Nampak rents two properties, in Sandton and Industria, from Pangbourne Properties Limited, The rentals poid
on these properties up to 31 May 2007 were R46.8 million (2006; R14.7 million).

b) Except for the dividends paid to prefened ordinary shareholders in Red Coral, which have been sliminated at
group level, there were no other transactions with Red Coral.

c) Remgro Limited owns 11.9% of the issued shares in Nampak Limited through Industrial Partnership Investrments
Limited. The group transacts with several entlies in the Remgro group of companies on an arm’s length bosis.

Certain non-executive directors of the group are also non-executive directors of other public companies which

may transact with the group. Except as disclosed above, the relevant individuals do not believe that they have

significant influence over the financial and operating policies of those companies.
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notes 1o the group financial statements

for the year ended 30 September {continued)

2007 2006
R million R million
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS {confinued)
Compensation relating to key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management
during the year was as follows:
Short-term employee benefits 761 66.4
Post-ernployment benefits 0.4 04
Termination bensfits - 3.9
Share-based payments 5.3 27
818 734
The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the perfarmance of individuals
and market trends.
Shareholders
An analysls of major shareholders is provided on page 58,
34. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
34,1 Reconclilation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations
Profit before taxation 14417 1 4200
Adjustrment for:
Depreciation and amortisation 7017 658.4
Net profit on disposal of businesses, property, plant, equipment
and intangible assets (36.5) (75D
Financlal instruments fair value adjustment 834 (88.%)
Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness (0.5) —
Transfer from equity on cash flow hedges (2.4) —
Hyper-inflation monetary adjustment 49 (3.0
Income from Investments 7.0 (4.8}
Net defined benefit plan expense 52.8 54.8
Impairment losses 18.6 126
Reversal of Impairment losses (1.9 (2.0
Share of profits in assoclates (4.3) —
Share-based payments expense 283 28.5
Net finance costs 190.8 122.7
Cperating profit before working capital changes 2459.6 22229
Increase In inventories (233.1) (144,2)
Decreose/(increase) in trade receivables and other current assets 65.0 (326.8)
Decrease in trade payables and other cument liabilities (246.2) (7.0
Cash generated from operations 20453 17349
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2007 2006
R million R million
34.  NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
342 Acquisition of business
With effect from 26 March 2007, the group acquired the remaining 50%
shareholding in Burcap Plastics {Proprietary) Limited.
The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at that date
is as follows:
Nen-current assets 217 —
Non-current liabilities (4.6) —
Net working capital 1.6 —
18.7 —
Goodwill arising on acquisition 6.1 —
Total purchase consideration 24.8 —
Cverdraft acquired 0.4 —
252 —
34.3 Disposal of businesses
On 4 December 2006, the group disposed of the Flexpak Bellville business.
With effect from 1 April 2007, 25.1% shareholding in Interpak Books
(Proprietary) Limited wos disposed 1o a BEE consortium.
In Zimbabwe, the effective shareholding in Nampak Polyfcil Zimbabwe
(Pvt) Limited reduced on 31 May 2007 from 70% to 0.7% by way of a rights
issue that the group did not participate in.
The foir value of assets and liabilities disposed of is as follows:
Non-current assets 5.2 720
Non-current liabilities (0.6) .7
Net working capital (21.8) 87.6
Minority Interest 99 —
363 157.9
Goodwill realised on disposal (1.7} —
Costs associated with disposal 11.9 —
Releqse of foreign currency translation resesve 6.6 —
Profit on disposal of businesses 155 0.7
Total disposal consideration 68.6 158.6
Less: Cash disposed - 05
Loan to mincrity shareholder 163 —
Deferred consideration - 456.0
52.3 121
34.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement
comprise the following balance sheet amounts:
Bank balances, cash and deposits 603.5 414.6
Bank overdrafts and commercial paper (note 15) (1 603.5) (918.9}
Net cash and cash equivalents included in assets
held for sale (note 13) - (0.8}
{1 000.0) {505.1)
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company balance sheet

as at 30 September

2007 2006
Notes R miilion R milion
ASSETS
Non-current Qssets
Investment in associate 1 10.3 82
Investrnent In subsidiaries 2 27124 27174
Other non-current financial assets 3 19154 1801.8
Deferred tax asset 4 04 —
46385 45274
Current assels
Tax assets - 6.3
Bank balonces. deposits and cash 5 45.7 200
457 26.3
Total assets 46842 45537
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital o} 35.4 353
Capital reserves 6 18121 24079
Other reserves 1.8 —
Retained earnings 23118 1588.8
Total equity 4 161.1 40320
Current liabilities
Other payables 7 64 47
Subsidiary companies 14 5156.8 517.0
Tax abilities 09 -
523.1 521.7
Total equity and liabilities 4 684.2 455837
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company income statement

for the year ended 30 September

2007 2006

Notes R miltion R million

Employee benefit expense 22 26
Other operating expenses 35.6 —
Other operating Income — 53.1
{Loss)/profit from operations 8 (37.8) 50.5
Finance costs % - 0.2
Finance income 0 39 1.1
Income from Investrments H 8149 656.3
Share of profit of associate 1 0.3 44
Profit before tax 781.3 2.1
Income tax expense 12 264 183
Profit for the year 7549 6338
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company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 September

Aftributable to equity holders of the company

Share
of non-
distriby-
Share table
Share Share option reservesin  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve  associale  earnings equity
R million R million R rniltion R million R million R million
At 1 October 2005 36.0 25967 2290 — 12957 41574
Ernployee share option scheme:
-value of employee services — — 285 — — 285
- proceeds from shares issued 02 29.7 - — — 20.9
Shares repurchased in terms of
scheme of amangement - shares
cancelled 0.9 2799 - — — (280.8)
Profit for the year — — -— — 693.8 693.8
Dividends paid — - — — (400.7) (400.7)
Cash distribution from share premium — (196.1) — — — (196.1)
At 30 September 2006 353 21504 2675 — 1588.8 40320
Employee share option scheme:
- vaiue of employee services — — 283 - — 28.3
- proceeds from shares issued 0.1 25.1 — - — 25.2
Profit for the year — — — —_— 754.9 7549
Dividends paid - — — - (31.9) 31.9)
Cash distribution from share premium — (649.2) - - — (649.2)
Share of non-distributable reserves
in associcte — — - 1.8 — 1.8
Al 30 September 2007 354 15263 2858 1.8 23118 4161.1
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company cash flow statement

for the year ended 30 September

2007 2006

Notes R million R million
Cash flows from operafing activities
Cash utilised in operations 15.1 (117.6) (44.3)
Income from investments B14.9 6563
Interest recelved 39 1.1
Interest paid - 02
Income tax paid {19.6) (25.8)
Cash flows from operations 681.6 587.1
Dividends poid 3% (400.7)
Cash distribution from share premium (649.2) (196.1)
Cash refained from/(ulilised in) operating activities 0.5 .7
Cash flows from investing activities
Increqse in non-cument financial assets and Investments - (1.6}
Cash utilised in Investing activitles - (1.6
Cash flows from financing activifies
Capital proceeds from Issue of shares 25.2 299
Cancellation of shares - (280.8)
Cash retained from/{utllised in) financing activities 25.2 (2509
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 257 (262.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yeaor 200 2822
Cash and ¢ash equivalents at end of year 152 45.7 200
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notes to the company financial statements

for the year ended 30 September

2007 2006
R million R million
1. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
(Refer to Annexure A for detalls)
Cost of investment in associate 38 38
Share of other post-acquisition reserves 18 —_
Share of post-acquisition profit, net of dividend received 47 4.4
Opening balance 44 -
Share of current year profit 0.3 44
10.3 8.2
The group has obligations to losses from its associate to the extent of the
value of the investrment.
summerised financial information in respect of the company’s associate
is set out below:
Revenue 85.4 193.4
Profit for the year 1.3 17.9
Cormpany’s share of assoclate’s profit for the year 0.3 4.4
Total assets 337.2 269.7
Total liabilities 309.2 2485
Net assefs 28.0 21.2
Company’s share of assoclate’s net assets 10.3 8.2
2. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(Refer to Annexure A for details)
Interest in subsidiaries 38790 38790
Share-based payments contribution 56.8 285
Less: Impairment losses (1237.5) (1204.2)
Net amount due by subsidiarles 14.1 14.1
Shares at cost less impairments 2724 27174
Directors’ valuation 27124 27174
3. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Grant to Nampak Black Management Trust 414.1 414.1
Metal Box South Africa Limited - 681.5
Narmpak Products Umited 1501.3 7062
Totat 19154 1801.8

The founding grant to tha Nampak Black Manogement Trust does not beor interest and has no fixed repayment terms.
The loan from Nampak Products Limited bears interest at 8.8% and is not repayabls before October 2008,
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2007 2006

R million R millior
DEFERRED TAX ASSET
Charge to profit for the year - secondary tax on compaonies 04 —
Balance at 30 September 04 —
BANK BALANCES, DEPOSITS AND CASH
Cash at bank and on hand 0.2 42
Short-term bank deposits 455 15.8
Total 45.7 200
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital and premiurn
Authorised:
745 000 000 ordinary shares of 5§ cents each 373 373
100 000 6.5% cumulative preference shares of R2 sach 0.2 0.2
400 000 6% cumulative preference shares of R2 each 08 08
31 857 200 preferred ordinary shares of 5 cents each 1.6 1.6
100 redeemable preference shares of 5 centfs each - —
Authorised share copital 399 KA
Issued:
655 972 061 (2004: 653 726 161) ordinary shares of 5 cents each 328 327
100 000 6.5% cumulative preference shares of R2 scch 0.2 02
400 000 6% cumuicative preference shares of R2 each 0.8 0.8
31 B57 195 preferred ordinary shares of 5 cents each 1.6 1.6
Issued share capltal 354 353
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notes to the company financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
R million R million

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (confinued)

30 395 534 (2006: 30 147 034) ordinary shares have been set aside for
employees’ shars schemes.

The preferred ordinary shares will convert to ordinary shares on the

earlier of 31 January 2011, or the date on which Red Coral Irvestments 23
(Proprietary) Limited is obliged to redeem dll the preference shares issued
to its financiers, upon an event of default, in accordance with the terms of
the agreements between Red Coral and Its financiers.

The preferred ordinary shares will confer on the holders the right to
receive a cumulative fixed annual dividend of 100 cents payable in
equal instaiments of 50 cents each on 31 January and 31 July each
year up to 31 January 2011, with each distribution ranking ahaad of
the ordinary shares,

Share premium
Share option reserve

15263 2150.4
2858 2575

Capital reserves

1812.1 24079

Reconciliation of number of shares Issued

QOrdinary shares

Number of ordinary shares Issued at beginning of year

Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares in terms of the scheme
of arangement

Ordinary shares allotted to employees other than directors in terms

of the Nampak 1985 Share Option Scheme

Shares allotted to directors in terms of the Nompak 1985 Share

Qption Scheme

653 726 161 669 313 827

- (18 563 000}

2245900 2479634

- 495 700

Number of ordinary shares issued at end of year

655 972 061 683726 161

Preferred ordinary shares

There were no changes fo the 31 857 195 shares allotted to Red Coral
Investrnents 23 (Proprietary) Limited.

Preference shares

There were no changes to the issued 6.5% and 6% preference shares.

QOTHER PAYABLES

Accruals 6.4 45
Cther - 02
Total 64 4.7

Accrugls princlpally comprlse amounts outstanding for ongoing costs,

The directors consider that the carrying amount of other payalles approximates their fair value.
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2007 2006
R million R million
8. (LOSS)/PRCFIT FROM OPERATIONS
(Loss)/profit from operations Is stated after taking into account the
following items:
8.1 Included in other operating expenses/(income)
Impairment loss/(reversal) 33 (56.1)
Disclosures relating to share-based payments are provided in note 22 of the
group financial statements. Where applicable. the current year expenses
relating to share-based payments were charged fo the appropriate
subsidiary companies.
¢.  FINANCE COSTS
Interest paid - current factities - 0.1
Interest paid - other — 0.1
- 0.2
10. FINANCE INCOME
Interest received - current facliities 29 1.0
Interest received - other 1.0 0.1
39 11
11.  INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS
Normal dividends - South African 28 605.7
Interest received from subsidiaries 97.2 451
Fees 49 9.5
8149 6563
12.  INCOME TAX
Current tax
— Current year 3 16.5
- Prior year 4.2) 0.2)
Deferred tax
- Secondary tax on companies 0.4) —
Secondary tox on companies 0.9 20
Total 26.4 18.3

The company tax rate in South Africa is 29% (2006: 29%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year,
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notes to the company financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
% %
12,  INCOME TAX (continued)
Reconciliation of tate of tax
Effective company rate of tax 34 26
Reduction in tax charge due to:
- dividend Incorme 265 247
- adjustment for prior year 0.5 —
- secondary tox on companies 0.1 —
- reversal of Impairment — 23
- associate income - 0.2
Increase in tax charge due to:
- disallowable expenses (.4 {0.5)
-imputed Income - section 9D 0. -
- secondary fax on companies - 0.3)
Normal tax rate 29.0 290
R million R million
13. DIVIDENDS AND CASH DISTRIBUTIONS
Dividends paid on ordinary shares
2006: Finat dividend No 74 - 56.6 cents per share - 368.8
Preferred ordinary dividend e e
Total dividends paid 3.9 400.7
Cash distributions from share premium
Final cash distribution No 2 paid on 15 January 2007: 6.1 cents per share 432.8 —
Interim cash distribution No 3 paid on 16 July 2007: 33,0 cents per share
(2006: No 1 - 30.0 cents per share} 2164 196.1
Total dividends and cash distributions 681.1 596.8
Secondary tax on companies (“STC™) on dividends 12.5% 12.5%
The cash distributions pald out of share premium did not attract STC.
On 21 November 2007 the directors declared cash distribution No 4 of
82.3 cents per share, payable on 14 January 2008 to sharehciders registered
on 11 January 2008. This cash distribution Is subject to approval by
shareholders at the annual general mesting and has not bean included as
a liobility in these financial statements.
Cenis Cents
Analysls of cash distribulions declared in respect of current year's earnings:
Cash distributions per ordinary share
Interim 330 300
Final 823 66.1
1153 6.1

6.5% and 6% cumulative preference dividends

Preference dividends totalling RO.1 million (2006: R3.1 milicn) were declared on 22 November 2006 and 21 June

2007. and poid on 5 February 2007 and 23 July 2007 respectively.
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2006
R milllon

14, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The company entered into various transactions with subsidiaries and special
purpose entities which are deemed to be controlled by the group during
the year, Interest, dividends ond fees received from these entities are listed
in note 11,

Non-current amounts cutstanding from such entities are included In note 3.
Cumrent amounts payable to subsidiary companies are os follows:
Metal Box South Africa Limited 1.7 1.7
Nampak Share Purchose Trust 0.1 1.1
Narmpak Products Limited 504.0 504.0
Kohler Packaging Limited - 02

515.8 517.0

Treasury shares are shares of the company, held by subsidiaries and special
purpose entifies of the group. Dividends/cash distributions pald on tfreasury
shares are detailed in nate 27 of the group financlal statements,

Guarantees

Guaranteas on behalf of Nampak International Limited in favour of
1.5, Steel relating to purchoses by Aflcon operations, 8.3 8.5

Nampak Limited has Issued guarantees in favour of Citibank N.A. - South
Africa Branch for an amount of up to U5832 million in respect of the loan
facilities entered into between Nampak Cartons Nigeria Limited and

Nampak Properties Nigeria Limited with Nigerla International Bank Limited. 120.8 144.4

Nampak Limited has issued a guarantee in favour of a consortium of banks
of up to £140 milllon in respect of bomowings owed by Nampaok Holdings
(UK) ple. 3209 462.8

Nampak Limited has issued a guarantee In favour of Concor Holdings
(Proprietary) Limited in respect of the civil and building works of the new
Paper Mill No 3 at the Nampak Cornrugated Factory in Rosstyn up to the
maximum amount of R20 million. 20,0 —

Key management persennel

Detalls of significant positions held by key management personnel and
fransactions with these entitles are provided in note 33 of the group
financial staterments.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management
paid by the company during the year was as follows:

Fees for services s directors 2.6 2.6

? The remuneration of directors and key exacutives Is determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market frends.
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notes to the company financial statements

for the year ended 30 September (continued)

2007 2006
R million R million

15.  NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
15.1 Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash utilised in operations

Profit before taxation 7813 712,

Adjustment for:

Income from investments (814.9) 656.3)

Impairment losses 333 —

Reversal of impairment losses - (56.1)

Share of profit in associate (0.3) (4.4)

Net finance income 3.9 0N

Operating loss before working copital changes (4.5) G5

Decrease in other receivables - 0.9

Increase/{decrease) in other payables 1.7 B0

Movement In subsidiary company loans (114.8) (36.6)

Cash utilised in operations (117.8) (44.3)
15.2 Cash and cash equivolents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise

the following balance sheet amounts;

Bank balonces, deposits and cash 457 200
16, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

The group has changed its accounting policy in respect of share-based

payments In occordance with IFRIC 11 - IFRS 2 Group and tre asury

share fransactions,

The company now carries the share-based payment capital conitibution

as an investment in subsidiaries. Previously this was shown undzr

other receivables.

Comparative figures have been restated. The effect of the change in

accounting policy is os follows;

Balance shest:

Increase in investrnent in subsidiaries 28.5

Decrease in other receivables (28.5)

Net effect on reserves
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interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

ANNEXURE A
Interest of holding company
Type Effective
(see nole Country of Issued share peicentage Shares at
below) incorporation capital heolding cost Indebtedness
2007 2006 | 2007 2006 | 2007 2006
% % Rm Rm Rrn RmM
1. SUBSIDIARIES (CONSOLIDATED}
Amalgomated Packaging Industries
(Pty) Limited | RSA R2 834 224 100 100
BlowMocan Holdings Limited I UK £1000 100 100
Burcap Plastics (Pty) Limited Q RSA R100 160 50
Burcap Plostics Gauteng (Pty) Uimited O RSA R100 100 50
Burcap Plastics IML (Pty) Uimited Q RSA R100 100 50
CarmnaudMetalbox Zimbabwe Limited O Zimbabwe  ZWDI19 79¢ 000 100 100
Cartonagens de Mogambique LDA O Mogombigue  MZM20 000 000 55 55
Consolidoted Conugated Containers
(Pty) bimited o] RSA R&00 000 100 100 6.4 6.4 - —
Crown Cork Co Zimbabwe (1958}
(Pvt) Limited O Zimbabwe ZWD1 421 000 100 100
Crown Cork Co (East Africa) Limited O Kenyo KES12 000 000 100 100
Crown Cork Co Zambia Umited 8] Zambia ZMK194 285 714 100 100
Disaki Cores and Tubes (Pty) Limited @] RSA R1 000 70 70
Gallagher Printers Limited O Ireland €20216 100 100
Imperama NV QO Netherlands €793 000 100 100
International Cartons & Packaging
Limited o Zambio  ZMK77 526 000 100 100
Interpak Books (Pty) Limited C RSA R1 000 75 100
Kohler Limited | RSA, RA93 718 514 100 100
Kohler Packaging Limited O RSA R3 198 495 100 100
M.Y. Property Limited o UK £75 100 100
M.Y. Cartons Limited O UK £35 509 000 100 100
M.Y. Healthcare Darmstadt GmbH 0 Germany €26 000 100 100
M.Y. Healthcare France SARL 0 France €266 786 100 100
M.Y. Healthcare [taly SRL O Italy €3 000 000 100 100
M.Y. Healthcare Luxembourg SA O Luxembourg €31 000 100 100
M.Y. Heatthcare Packoging Limited o UK 2 100 100
M.Y. Healthcare SCI C France €7 622 100 100
M.Y. Healthcaore Wolfen GmbH o] Germany €25 600 100 100
Malbak Lirmited ] RSA R353 864 160 100 100 | 18368 18368 1.0 1.0
Megaplastics Limited | Zimbabwe wWD2 100 100
Matal Box (Namibia) (Pty) Limited O Nomibla N$1 100 100
Metal Box SA Limited I RSA R68 153 240 100 100
Narmpak Cartons & Healthcare Limited O UK £142 100 100
Nampck Cartons BY O  Netherlands €22 700 100 100
Nampak Cartons Europe BV | Netherlands €90 800 100 100
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inferests in subsidiaries, joint vertures and associates

(continued)
ANNEXURE A (continued)
Interest of holding company
Type Effeclive
(see note Country of Issued share percentage Shares at
below) incorporation capital helding cost Indebtedness
2007 2006 | 2007 2006 | 2007 2006
% % Rm Rm Rm Rm
1. SUBSIDIARIES (CONSOLIDATED)
(continued}
Nampak Cornrugated (Swazlland)
Umited C Swazikand SZ1.250 000 90 0
Nampak Corrugoted PMB (Pty) Limited O RSA R100 100 100
Nampak Holdings (UK) plc I UK £1 964 605 100 100
Nampak Holdings Limited I Moauritius US$100 000 100 100
Nampak Insurance Company
Limited Instrance Iste of Man £100 000 100 100
Nampak Internatlonal Umited | lsle of Man £72 682 100 100 (18893 18693 - -
Nompak Kenya Limited e} Kenyg KES40 280 000 100 100
Nompak Leasing (Pty) Limited F RSA R100 100 100
Nampak Liquid Botswana (Pty) Limited O Botswana BWP100 100 —
Nompaok Metal Packaging Umited 0 RSA R9 134 100 100
Narmpak Cartons Nigeria Limited O Nigeria  NGN14 000 000 100 100
Nompak Nigeria ple (o]0 Nigeria NiN107 044 183 57 57
Nampaok Properties Nigeria Limited P Nigeria  NGN14 000 000 100 100
Nampak Paper Holdings Limited I UK §26 868 196 100 100
Nampak Petpak (Namibia)
{Pty) Limited Q Namibia N$100 100 100
Nampak Plostics Europe Limited O UK 24 858 095 100 100
Nampak Polycyclers (Pty) Limited O RSA R20 000 100 100
Nampak Polyfoil Zimbabwe (Pvi) Limited O Zimbabwe IWD 200 - 70
Narmpak Products Limited @] RSA R3 758 641 i00 100 93.7 937 — —
Nompok Properties (ste of Man)
Limited P Isle of Man £100 100 100
Nampak Southern Africa
Holdings Limited i Mauritius US54 726 922 100 100 52.5 525 - -
Nampok Tanzania Umited Q Tanzania 725304 638 620 100 100
Nampak Technical Services Limited O Isle of Man €1 100 100
Nompak Tissue (Pty} Limited o] RSA RI100 100 100
Nampok Zambia Limited lo; Zambia ZMKS 000 000 100 100
Natlonal Containers (Pty) Limited | RSA R245 000 100 100 0.3 03 13.1 131
Packaging Indusiries Malowl Umited  O/L Malawi  MWEK13 450 000 &0 &0
Printech BY O Netherands €18 000 100 100
Teknol BV 1 Nethearlands €18 151 100 100
Teknol NV | Netherlands
Antilles US$6 000 100 100
Transmar (isle of Man) Limited i tsle of Man USS600 000 100 100
Total 38790 38790 141 14.1

“

WA
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ANNEXURE A (continued)

Type Effeclive
(see nole Country of Issued share percentage
below) incorporalion capital holding
2007 2006
% %
2. JOINTVENTURES
(PROPORTIONATELY CONSOLIDATED)
Bullpak Limited o] Kenya KES4 760 000 49 49
Burcap Plastics (Pty) Limited O RSA R100 100 ]
Burcap Plastics Gauteng (Pty) Limited 0 RSA R100 100 50
Burcap Plastics IML (Pty) Limited 0 RSA R100 100 50
Crown Cork Company (Mogambigue) LDA O Mogambique MIM3 800 million 50 50
Elepak South Africa (Pry) Umited O RSA R280 50 50
Nampak Wiegand Glass (Pty) Limited o RSA R&00 50 50
Sancella South Afrlca (Pty) Limited @] RSA RS 000 50 50
ASSQCIATES
Collect-a-Can (Pty) Limited @] RSA R4 000 000 40 40
Hunyani Holdings Umited O/l Zimbabwe  ZWD31 391 103 3¢ 39
Megapak Zimbabwe (Pty} Umited o] Zimbabwe IWD20 49 49
Group Risk Holdings (Pty) Limited Insurance RSA R3 700 37 37
3. SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

(NOT CONSOQLIDATED)
CarnaudMetalbox Zimbabwe Limited 0 Zimbabwe  ZWD19 799 000 100 100
Crown Cork Co Zimbabwe (1958) (Pvt) Limited Q Zimbabwe WD 421000 100 100
Megaplastics Limited I Zimbabwe w02 100 100
Hunyani Holdings Limited OfL Zimbabwe  ZWD31 391 103 39 K3
Megapak Zimbabwe (Pty) Limited &) Imbobwe IWD20 49 4¢
Sun Cltrus Holdings (Pty) Limited QO  South Africa R16 000 000 26 26
Type
O-Operating  F-Finance | -Investment holding P - Property owning L - Listed

General information In respect of subsidiaries, as required in terms of paragraph 62 of the 4th Schedule of the
Companles Act, 1973, Is set out only In respect of those subsidiaries, the financial position or the results of which is
material for a proper appreciation of the affairs of the group. The directors are of the opinion that the disclosures in
these statements of such information In respect of the remaining dormant subsidiaries would entail expenses out of
proportion to the value to shareholders. A register containing the relevant information in respect of all subsidiaries.
Joint ventures and associates is availoble for inspection at the registered offices of Numpaok Limited.

Note

The subsidiary, joint venture and associate companies’ aggregate income after taxation attributakle fo the holding
company. for the year ended 30 September 2007, Is R1 087.6 million (2006: R207.1 milion). The aggregate amount of
losses oftributable to the holding company is R9.0 million (2006: R25.2 million).
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investments
ANNEXURE B
Type
(see note Number of shares Effective percentage
below) held by group holding
2007 2006 2007 2006

UNLISTED INVESTMENTS
Business Partners Limited F - 212 160 - <1
Ethicpian Crown Cork & Can ndustry 0 - — 25% 25%
Houers Ko-operatief Beperk @] 1714901 171490 14.9% 14.9%
Lesedl Clinic (Soweto) (Pty) Limited I 250 250 100% 100%
New Farmers Development Corporation Limited Q 150 586 150 586 <1 <]
Type
O-0Operating F-Finance |- Investment holding
IR
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notice of annual general meeting

NAMPAK LIMITED

Notice is hereby given that the 40th annual general meeting of shareholders of Nampak Limited will be held at
Nampak Centre, 114 Dennls Road, Atholl Gardens. Sandton, South Africa on Wednesday. § February, 2008 at 12:00 for
the following purposes:

1.

To recelve and consider the annuat financial statements of the company and of the group for the year ended
30 September 2007.

2. To confirm the appointment of Mis CWN Molope as a director of the company.

3. o elect directors in place of Messrs T Evans, DA Hawton and RA Wiliams who retire by rotation but, baing eligible,

offer themmselves for re-slection.
Please refer to pages 10 and 11 of the annual report for a biography of each director.

To consider and, if approved. fo pass with or without modification, the following ordinary resclutiens, subject to the
approval of the JSE Limited ("the JSE™):

Ordinary resolution number 1

RESOLVED THAT the revised annual fees payable by the company o non-executive directors be approved with
effect rom 1 October 2007 as follows:

Board/Committee Current lee Proposed fee
Non-executive chairman® Ra50 000 RGO 000
Non-executive directors*” R105 000 R120 000
Chdirrnan of the qudit committee** R105 000 R120 000
Member of the qudit committee®** R52 500 R&0 000
Chairman of the remuneration and nominations commiitee*** R84 000 R0 000
Member of the remuneration and nomingations commiitee™* R42 000 R48 000
Member of the corporate social investment committee ™ 23 100 R26 400
Notes:

*Feas are paid monthly in arrears.
**Fees are paid quarterly In arrears.
"**Feas are paid annuatly in orrears.

The Increase in fees Is recommended to retain the approoriate calibre of non-executive director and is in line with
market practice,

Ordinary resolution number 2

*RESOLVED THAT the directors of the company be hereby authorised, by way of a general authority. to distribute to

shareholders of the company any share capital and reserves of the company in terms of section 90 of the

Companies Act No 61 of 1973, as amended, and in terms of the company’s articles of association and in terms of

the JSE Listings Requiraments of the JSE Limited, provided that:

- the distribution is made pro 1ata to all ordinory shareholders:

- the general autherity shall be valid until the next anrwol general mesting of the company or for 15 months from
the passing of this ordinary resclution {whichever peried is the shorter); and

- any general distribution of share premium by the company shall not exceed 20% of the company’s issued share
copital and reserves, excluding minorlty interests.”

it is the board's intention to utllise the general authority to make payments to ordinary shareholders in the future out
of the company’s shore capital and reserves should the company’s capital exceed its requirements.
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notice of annual general meeting

{continued)

The directors of the company are of the opinion that, were the company to enter into a transaction to distibute

share caplial and/for reserves totalling 20% of the cument issued share capital and reserves of Narmpak:

(i the company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debits in the ordinary course of business for a period
of 12 months after the date of this notice;

(D recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used In the latest audited annual
group financial statements, the assets of the company and its subsidiaries will exceed the liabilities of the
cormpany and its subsidicries for a perod of 12 months afier the date of this notice;

Gy the ordinary capital and reserves of the company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of the
busingss of the company and Its subsidiaries for the period of 12 months ofter the date of this notice; and

(v) the working capital of the company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of the business of
the company and its subsidiaries for a period of 12 months after the date of this notice.

5. To consider and. if approved, fo pass with or without modification the following special resolution, subject to the
approval of the JSE:

Special resolution number 1

“RESQOLVED THAT subject to compliance with the requirements of the JSE, the directors of the company be and are
hereby authorised in thelr discretion o procure that the company or subsidiaries of the company acquire by
| purchase on the JSE ordinary shares issued by the company pravided that:

| {i) the number of ordinary shares acquired in any one financ'al year shall not exceed 20% of the ordinary shares
in issue at the date on which this resciution is passed:

(D this quthorliy shall lapse on the earller of the date of the next annual generdl meeting of the company or the
date 15 months after the date on which this resolution Is passed:;

(i} the price paid pes ordinary share may not be greater than 10% above the weighted averoge of the market
value of the ordinary shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which a purchase
is made; and

(iv) the number of shares purchased by subsidiaries of the corr pany shall not exceed 10% in the aggregate of the
number of Issued shares In the company at the relevant tirmes.”

The recason for this special resolution Is to quthorise the directors. if they deem it appropriate in the interests of the
cormpany. to procure that the company or subsidiares of the company acquire or pwchase ordinary shares issued
by the company subject to the restrictions contained in the above resolution,

The effect of this special resolution will be to authorise the directors of the company to procure that the company

or subsicliaries of the company acqulre or purchase shares issued by the company on the JSE. Such purchases:

() may not in any financial year exceed 20% of the company''s ordinary shares in issue at the date of passing the
above resolution;

(i must be effected through the order bock opetated by the JSE trading system and done without any prior
understanding or arrongement between the compaony and the counterparty;

(i) may not be made at prices in excess of 10% above the weighted average of the market value of the ordinary
shares for the five days preceding the date of puichase:

(W) must comply with the requirements of the JSE; and

(vy if made by a subsidiary or subsidiaries may not exceed 10% in the aggregate of the issued shares in the
company.

The general authority granted by this resolution will lapse on the earlier of the date of the next annual general

meeting of the company or the date 15 months after the date on which this resolution was passed.

This authority will only be used if the circumstances are appropriate and ordinary shares will be purchased on

the JSE.

The directors, ofter considering the effect of a repurchase of up 12 20% of the company’s issued ordinary shares, ore

of the oplinion that if such repurchase is implemented:

() the company and its subsidiarles will be able to pay their dabts in the ordinary course of business for a period
of 12 months after the date of this notice;

(i recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited annual
group financial statements. the assets of the company and ifs subsidiaries will exceed the Tiabilities ot the
company and its subsidiaries for @ perled of 12 menths after the date of this notice;
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(li) the ordinary capital and reserves of the company and Its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of the
business of the company and Its subsidiaries for the pericd of 12 months after the dote of this notice; and

(iv) the working capital of the company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of the business of
the company and ifs subsidiaries for the period of 12 months ofter the date of this nofice.

The company will ensure that its sponsor will provide the necessary letter on the adequacy of the working capital
in terms of the JSE Listing Requirements, prior to the commencement of any purchase of the company’s shares on
the open market.

VOTING AND PROXIES

On a show of hands every member present in person or ieprasented in terms of section 188 of the Companies Act, 1973,
shall have one vote and on a poll every member present in parson or by proxy or 50 represented shall have one vote
for every share held by such member.

A member entitied fo aftend, speak and vote at the annual general meeting Is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies
to aftend. speak and vote In place of that member. A proxy need not be a member of the company.

Registered holders of certificated Nampak shares and holders of dematerialised Nempak shares in their own nams and
who are unable to attend the annual general meeting and who wish to be represented at the meeting, must complete
and return the attached form of proxy in accordance with the instructions contained in the form of proxy so as to be
received by the share registrar, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg,
2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshatttown, 2107) by no later than 12:00 on Monday, 4 February 2008,

Holders of Nampak shares (whether certificated or dernaterialised) thriough a nominee should Himeously make the
necessary arangements with that nominee or, If applicable. Central Securities Depository Participant ("CSDP7) or
broker to enable them to attend and vote at the annual general meeting or to enable their votes in respect of their
Nampak shares to be cast at the annual general meeting by that nominee or a proxy or a representative.

In terms of the JSE Listing Requirements for special resolution nurmber 1,the following general information is included in

the annuat report:

{) Directors (pages 10and 11)

(i Major shareholders (page 58)

(iiy There have been no material changes since 21 November 2007

(v Directors’ interests in securities (page 106}

(v) Share copital of the company {pages 146 to 150)

(vi) The company is not porty to any material litigation nor is it aware of any pending material litigation to which it may
become a party, save for a fax dispute with SARS as disclosed in note 30 te the annual financial statements.

The directors whose names appear on pages 10 and 11 of the annual report collectively and individually accept full
responsibility for the acouracy of the information given and certify that to the best of their knowledge and besllef there
are no facts that have been omitted which woutd make any statement false or misleading. and that all reasonable
enquiiies to ascertain such facts have been made and that the circular (the notice of the annuol general meeting)
contains all information required by low and the JSE Listing Requirements.

By order of the board
t

P

I
NP O'Brien
Company secrefary
14 December 2007

NAMPAK LIMITED

Nampak Centre

114 Dennis Road

Atholl Gardens, Sandion, 2194
Republic of South Africa
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shareholders’ diary

Annudl general meeting 6 February 2008
Interim statement and ordinary dividend/cash distribution

announcement for the half-year ending 31 March 2008 May 2008
Group results and ordinary dividend/cash distribution

announcement for the year ending 30 September 2008 Novernber 2008

DIVIDENDS/CASH DISTRIBUTIONS
Ordinary
Final for the year ended 30 September 2007

To be paid on 14 January 2008

Interim for the haif-year ending 31 March 2008 To be paid July 2008

Preference

6.5% and 6% cumulative Payable twice per annum during
February and August

1" /‘7 :\\
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NAMPAK LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1968/008070/06) N 0 m pc k

(Share code: NPK  ISIN: ZAEODOO71676) vaqi )
ackaging excellence
{"Nampak” or the "company™) P ging

form of proxy

40th annual general meeting

For use by the registered holders of certificated Nampak shares ond the holders of dematerialised Nampak shares In
their own name at the annual general meeting of the companyy to be held at Nampak Centre, 114 Dennis Road. Atholl
Gardens, Sandton on Wednesday. 6 February 2008 at 12:00 {*the annual general meeting™).

Holders of Narmpak shares (whether certificated or dematericlised) through a nominee must not complete this farm of proxy.
but should timeously make the necessary arangements with that nominee or, If applicable. Central Securities Depasitory
Participant or broker, o enable them to attend ond vote at the annual general meeting or to enable their votes in respect
of their Nampak shares to be cast at the annual general meeting by that nominee of a proxy o a representative.

I/We)

(BLOCK LETTERS PLEASE)

of

telephone (work) ( ) (home) ( )

being the holder(s) of ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint (see nate 1)

or falling him/her

or failing him/her

the chalrman of the annual general meeting. as my/our proxy fo vote an my/our behalf at the annual general meeting
which will be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing. with or without modification the special
and ordinary resolutions to be proposed at the annual general mesting and at each adjournment of the annual
general meeting ond to vote for or against the special and ordinary resolutions or to abstain from voting in respect of
the shares in the issued share capital of the company registered in my/our name/s, in occordance with the following
instructions (see note 2):

INSERT AN "X~ OR THE NUMBER OF QRDINARY SHARES HELD IN THE COMPANY (see note 2)

Proposed resolutions For Against Abstain

To confirm the appointment of CWN Molope

To re-elect T Evans
To re-elect DA Hawton
To re-elect RA Willioms

To increase the fees payabie to the non-executive directors

To grant a general authorlty to distribute out of share capital and reserves

Special resolution to autherise the directors of the company to acquire

or purchase shares issued by the company on the JSE Limited

Insert an “X”in the relevant spaces above according to how you wish your votes to be cast. However. if you wish to cast
your votes in respect of a lesser number of shares than you own in the company. insert the number of shares held in
respect of which you wish fo voie (see note 2),

Signed at on 2007/8

Signature

Asslsted by me (where applicable)

Each member Is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be o member of the company) to aftend,
speck and vote in place of that member ot the annual generat mesting.

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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NOTES:

1.

A member may insert the name of @ proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the member’s cheice in the
space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chalrman of the annual general mesting” but any such deletion
must be initlalled by the member. The person whose name appadars first on the form of proxy and who Is present at
the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

A member’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the
above wil be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as
he/fshe deems fit, A member may instruct the proxy to vote fewar than the fotal number of shares held by inserting
the refevant number of shares in the appropriate box provided, A member who fails to do so will be deemed to
have authorised the proxy 1o vote or abstaln from voling, as the case may be. in respect of all the member's votes
exercisable at the annual general mesting.

Forms of proxy must be lodged with or posted to the company’s share registrar, Computershare Invastor Services
2004 (Pty) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg. 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalitown, 2107) to be received by no
later than 12:00 on Monday., 4 February 2008.

The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preciude the member from attending the annual general
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms thereot, should
such member wish to do so.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person sicning this form of proxy in a representative capacity
(e.9. for a company, close corporation, trust, pension fund, deceased estate, ete) must be attached to this form of
proxy unless previcusly recorded by the company’s share registrer or waived by the chairman of the annual general
meeting.

Any alteration or conmection made 1o this form of proxy must be nitialled by the signatory/ies.

A minor must be assisted by the minor’s parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing the minor's
legal capacity are produced or have been registered by the share registrar of the company.

Where there are joint holders of shares in the company, any one of such persons may, alone, sign this form of proxy
in respect of such shares as if such person was the sole holder, but if more than one of such joint holders submits o
form of proxy, the form of proxy, if accepted by the chairman of the annual general meeting, submitted by the
holder whose name appears first in the company’s share registar will be accepted to the exclusion of any other
form of proxy submitted by any other joint holder(s).

The chairman of the annual general meeting may accept any form of proxy which ¢ compieted other than in
accordance with these notes if the chairman of the annual general meeting is satisfied as to the manner in which
the member wishes to vote.

NAMPAK ANNUAL REPORT 2007




corporate information

COMPANY SECRETARY
NP OBrien 8Proc

AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche

Deloifte Place. The Woodlands, 20 Woodignds Drive
Woodmead, Sandton, South Africa

Private Bag X6, Gallo Manor, Johannesburg, 2052
Telephone +27 11 806 5000

Telefax +27 11 806 5003

BUSINESS ADDRESS AND REGISTERED OFFICE

Nompok Cenire, 114 Dennis Road, Atholl Gardens
Sandton, 2196, South Africa

(PO Box 784324, Sandton, 2146)

Telephone +27 11 719 6300

Telefax +27 11 444 4794

Website www.nampak.com
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SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited

70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001, South Africa

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)
Telephone +27 11 370 5000
Telefax; 427 11 370 5487

SPONSOR

UBS Seuth Africa {Pty) Limited

464 Wierda Road Eqst
Sandton, 2196, South Africa

(PO Box 652863, Benmore, 2010)
Telephone +27 11 322 7000
Telefax +27 11 784 8280

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Grahom Haoyward

PO Box 784324, Sandton, 2146
Telephone +27 11 719 6320

grahom.hoyward@zo.nampak. com

BASTION GRAPHICS







